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INTRODUCTION 
 
 
 

Anatoly Vishevsky 
 

Grinnell College 
 
 
 
 
 

The Turgenev-Khilkova (Nelidova)1 correspondence consists of seventeen 

unknown and previously unpublished writer's letters. The letters are of various 

length, ranging from brief notes of several lines to detailed accounts. In the 

complete edition of Turgenev there are two letters to Khilkova (Nelidova): of 

January 19 (31 ), 1861 and of April 27 (May 9), 1861.2  Consequently, the 

correspondence now totals nineteen letters of Turgenev. The correspondence 

covers the period from January of 1860 to March of 1868, with a considerable gap 

between May of 1861 and April of 1864. 

The discovery of the previously unknown correspondence between 
 

Turgenev and Nelidova is important on several accounts. First, the letters shed 
 

new light on biographical data from the life of Turgenev; they pinpoint some of the 

vague dates and places. Second, in the letters we find answers to some textual 

questions from Turgenev's works. Third, the correspondence is interesting in 

connection with Turgenev's correspondence with other women in the 1860s 

(such as O. A. Novikova, E. F. Raden, M. A. Markovich, V. Ia. Kartashevskaia, E. E. 

Lambert). Up until now, since there were only two known letters of Turgenev to 

Nelidova, this correspondent did not hold much interest for Turgenev scholars. The 

situation must change now: with the discovery of the new letters, Nelidova acquires 

a place of importance in the writer's biography. Rather than the mere recipient of a 
 

 
 

1 In 1862  O. D. Khilkova married A. I. Nelidov. From here on I will refer to her as 
Khilkova before 1862, and as Nelidova after 1862 and also in a general context. 
2 From here on the dates of the letters, where they are known or have been 
established, are given both in old and new styles. All references to the Turgenev 
letters are given according to: S. Turgenev. Polnoe sobranie sochinenii i pisem. M.-L.: 
Akademiia Nauk SSSR, 1960-68. 
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chance letter, the woman moves in the sphere of Turgenev's circle. The previously 

little-known fact that Nelidova was also a writer and a translator in her own right 

adds additional significance to the figure of the correspondent. 

In December of 1865 Nelidova finished her novel Mermaid, which Turgenev 

read and recommended for publication in Russian Herald and Notes of the Homeland. 

The novel, nevertheless, has never been published and is most likely lost. In a 

number of letters Turgenev discusses the novel, while sharing with the young 

writer his ideas on literature and creative work in general, as well as his thoughts 

about contemporary writers and literary trends. One also finds in the letters a 

number of pointers and practical advice on literary craft. 

For the sake of convenience I will enumerate each of the nineteen known 
 

letters of Turgenev to Nelidova (including the two previously-known letters from 

Turgenev's collected works) and provide the gist of their content. Many of the 

letters are not dated, or dated only according to the old or new calendar style. 

The text of the letters clearly reveals that several letters were lost and never 

reached their addressee, or were later lost. For example, in his letter of October 19 

(31), 1862, to Bodenstedt, Turgenev asked the German poet to inquire why he had 

not received a response to his latest letter to Khilkova. This letter to Khilkova did 

not survive. At least two pages are missing among the letters found in the 

Nelidova archives. Nevertheless, analysis of the letters' content makes it safe to 
 

assume that Turgenev's half of the correspondence with Nelidova is presented 

here almost in its entirety. 

 

A chronological listing of the known letters of Turgenev to Nelidova: 
 
 

1. January 28 (February 9), 1860. Moscow. 
 

Turgenev writes to Khilkova in Dresden. The letter obviously opens the correspondence 
of the writer with the young admirer of his work. In the letter Turgenev talks about 
Dresden, his friends there (the Reichel family), and also about his plans for the spring 
and fall of 1860. The letter also mentions preparations for publishing the "papers" 
(memoirs?) of Olga Khilkova's father• Dmitri Aleksandrovich Khilkov, a hero of the war 
of 1812. Turgenev also informs Khilkova that he is sending her a copy of his novel "On 
the Eve." 
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2. January 19 (31), 1861. Paris. 
 

Turgenev writes to Khilkova in Munich. The writer apologizes for his long 

silence and describes his life in Paris. He also apologizes for not recommending a book 

that she could translate. He inquires about Khilkova's life in Munich and mentions his 

trip there in 1838. Turgenev talks about his friends in Paris, and also his plans to 

return to Spasskoe in the spring of 1861. He thanks Khilkova for her photo. 

 
 

3. March 5 (17), 1861. Paris. 
 

Turgenev writes to Khilkova in Munich. The first half of the letter is devoted to 

describing the Manifesto of the abolition of serfdom. Turgenev has not seen the 

Manifesto himself and relates its content based on other people's accounts. In her 

letter, Khilkova had probably invited the writer to stop in Munich on his way back to 

Russia. The writer thanks her for this invitation and accepts it. He also sends his 

regards to Heyse and Bodenstedt. 

 
 

4. April 19 (May 1), 1861. Paris. 
 

Turgenev writes to Khilkova in Munich. It is a short note informing her that 

his departure from Paris is being delayed, and that he is departing on Friday for 

Munich, where he is planning to spend two days. He also asks Khilkova to inquire 

about a hunting dog. 

 
 

5. April 23 (May 5), 1861. Munich. 
 

Turgenev writes to Khilkova in Munich. The note is written from the hotel Goldener 

Hirsch, where Turgenev stayed, and is addressed to the hotel Marienbad, where the 

Khilkovs were staying . The writer inquires when he can visit Olga and her family. 

 
 

6. April 27 (May 9), 1861. Berlin. 
 

Turgenev writes to Khilkova in Munich. This is a short note in which the writer, 

on his way to Russia, sends his regards to the Khilkovs and his new German friends. 

He asks them to tell Bodenstedt that the latter will receive French translations 
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of Turgenev's works from Paris, and that, when in Russia, Turgenev will send him the 

works in the original. 

 
 

7. April 6 (18), 1864. Paris. 
 

Turgenev writes to Nelidova in Munich. The letter is written after a long 

interval, as a response to Nelidova's letter which had renewed the correspondence. 

Turgenev talks about the matter of his arranging his daughter's marriage. (Nelidova 

knew Turgenev's daughter Pauline). The writer promises to send Nelidova his story 

"Phantoms," and encloses a photo of himself. He shares with Nelidova his impressions 

of Russia and remarks concerning their mutual acquaintances. 

 
 

8. July 14, 1864. Baden-Baden. 
 

Turgenev writes to Nelidova in Heidelberg. This short note is a response to 

Nelidova's apparent invitation to a reading of her novel Mermaid, which she had been 

writing for some time. Turgenev promises to arrive in Heidelberg on the following 

day. 

 
 

9. December 27 (January 8), 1865-1866. Baden-Baden. 
 

Turgenev writes to Nelidova in Munich. The writer congratulates Nelidova 

upon completing her novel and asks her to send it to him, since in the near future he 

will be unable to visit Munich. He also writes about his health, his daughter, his villa 

being built in Baden-Baden, and about affairs in Russia. Turgenev recommends E. 

Quinet's book La Revolution. 
 

 
 

10. February 28, 1866. Baden-Baden. 
 

Turgenev writes to Nelidova in Munich. The writer discusses different 

possibilities for the publication of Nelidova's novel Mermaid. He offers to write a letter 

of recommendation to Katkov, and also gives practical advice as to the rewriting of the 

novel. 
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11. March-May, 1866. Baden-Baden. 
 

Turgenev writes to Nelidova in Baden-Baden. A short note in which the writer 

informs his correspondent that he could not be present at the reading of the final part 

of her novel, yet knows it well enough to recommend it to M. N. Katkov for 

publication in Russian Herald. 
 
 
 

11a. March-May, 1866. 
 

A letter of recommendation to Katkov for the publication of Nelidova's novel. The 

letter lacks an ending. 

 
 

12. July 7 (19), 1866. Baden-Baden. 
 

Turgenev writes to Nelidova in Munich. The writer expresses his condolences 

concerning the illness of Nelidova's son, which had delayed her departure for Russia. 

He then discusses the possibility of publishing her novel in the Notes of the Homeland. 

He mentions his appending letter of recommendation to S. S. Dudyshkin (this letter is 

lost). Turgenev then discusses the plots that Nelidova had communicated to him in 

her letter, talks about literary trends and writers, and also gives the young writer 

some practical advice on writing. 

 
 

13. November 22 (December 4), 1866. Baden-Baden. 
 

Turgenev writes to Nelidova in Mikhailovskoe, her village in Orel province. The 

writer regrets Nelidova's lack of activity in the village and advises her to be patient. He 

informs her of his letter to P. V. Annenkov, in which he asked the latter to inquire about 

the decision to publish Nelidova's novel in Notes of the Homeland. Turgenev talks 

about his life in Baden-Baden and about his plans to travel to Russia (St. Petersburg 

and Spasskoe) in the winter-spring of 1867. He suggests that they meet. 

 
 

14. February 8 (20), 1867. Baden-Baden. 
 

Turgenev writes to Nelidova in Starnberg (near Munich). The writer tells about 

a fit of gout that occurred just before his intended departure for Russia. He talks about 



 

 6 

the forthcoming change of the manager of his estate, a matter that would demand his 

presence in Russia, but he fears that his illness will make it impossible for him to 

reach his village and meet with Nelidova. 

 
 

15. December 2, 1867. Baden-Baden. 
 

Turgenev writes to Nelidova in Heidelberg. The beginning of the letter is lost. 

Turgenev mentions a hunting accident — he injured his knee and cannot walk. He 

intends to visit Nelidova later in Heidelberg, and sends her his novel Smoke and his 

story "Enough." 

 
 

16. December 5 (17), 1867. Baden-Baden. 
 

Turgenev writes to Nelidova in Heidelberg. This is a short note expressing his 

condolences concerning Nelidova's illness and informing her about his upcoming visit. 

 
 

17. February 5 (17), 1868. Baden-Baden. 
 

Turgenev writes to Nelidova, possibly in Munich. The writer discusses 

Nelidova's possible visit to Baden-Baden. He answers her questions about mutual 

acquaintances, and also talks about literary craft, advising the young author on 

practical matters. 

 
 

18. February 27 (March 11), 1868. Baden- Baden. 
 

Turgenev writes to Nelidova , possibly still in Munich. This is a short note in 

which the writer answers questions about church services during Lent, and prices at 

the local inn. He looks forward to hearing about Nelidova's new work. 
 

 
 

19. March 4 (16), 1868. Baden-Baden. 
 

Turgenev writes to Nelidova, again possibly still in Munich. This, too, is a 

short note in which the writer assures Nelidova that he will meet her at the railway 

station in Baden-Baden. 
 

------------------------- 
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Three main topics become evident in the letters: the personal friendship 

between the writer and his correspondent; the part that Nelidova played in 

Turgenev's introduction to the members of the Munich circle of writers and poets, 

especially Friedrich Bodenstedt; and the role of Turgenev as literary mentor, 

helping the young writer with the reworking and publication of her novel. 

A particular sort of relationship between Turgenev and Nelidova emerges 

from the letters. At the beginning of their correspondence, these are letters of a 

mature man, a mentor, to a young woman (Khilkova then was twenty-one years 

old). This is not an isolated case of the writer corresponding with young people, 

sometimes even with children. We can cite his correspondence with the son of his 

friend and neighbor I. P Borisov-Petia. The case is similar here: the Khilkovs, too, 

were Turgenev's neighbors, living close to his estate of Spasskoe. By 1860, Olga had 

turned into a very good looking young woman, the evidence of which can be found 

in letters and diaries of Bodenstedt, Heyse and Turgenev himself. For the young 

Olga Khilkova, Turgenev was an idol with whose works she was fascinated. That is 

why in the first part of the correspondence (January of 1860 to April of 

1861) one notices a certain assumed set of roles between the correspondents. 
 

Turgenev accepts the role of mentor assigned to him whereas Khilkova acts 

in the letters as an impressionable and romantically attuned young woman. At the 

same time Turgenev's letters (as well as, we assume, the letters of his 

correspondent) bear a quite formal character: for example, in the letter of January 

28 (February 10) of 1860, the writer sends Olga his novella On the Eve, yet asks her 
 

to give it first to her mother to read — to let her decide whether Olga may read it. 
 

Turgenev's letters support the image of a singer of Russian nature and a 

connoisseur of the Russian soul, present in the mind of his young correspondent. 

Evidence of the first can be found in his words about his intended return to the 

native Mtsensk district that spring, when he says: "How very pleasant it will be for 

me to see once more this sweet old nonsense, than which there is, nevertheless, 

nothing better for our kind from the steppes. St. George's Day, nightingales, the 
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smell of straw and of birch buds, the sun and puddles along the road — that is what 

my soul thirsts for!" (Letter of January 19 (31) 1861). Evidence for the second can 

be seen in Turgenev's words from his letter of March 5 (17) 1861, where he relates 

to Khilkova the text of the upcoming declaration on the liberation of the serfs. The 

description of the text is almost word for word taken from the letter to Herzen of 

March 1 (13) 1861, yet in the letter to his young correspondent Turgenev adds: "God 

knows what I would have given to be present at the reading of the manifesto, not in 

Petersburg or in Moscow, but somewhere in a country church, to watch the faces of 

the moujiks and to listen to their thoughts . . ." 

Letters of the second period are marked by a less formal style, an ease of 

expression, and a discussion of questions of a wider aspect. The writer speaks to his 

correspondent as an equal — in these four years Nelidova had become a married 

woman and a mother. Turgenev is not playing games with his correspondent 

anymore; he is more matter of fact in his descriptions and statements. For example, 

answering the question of what their compatriots want and what they are striving 

for, Turgenev who had just come from Russia, writes to Nelidova that "above all, 

they probably want money." And while describing the people, he points out "the red 

cheeks and big bellies of the drivers, the moujiks, and even the workmen" (Letter of 

April 6 (18) 1864). 

Already in the first period of the correspondence a theme emerges that 

becomes significant in the letters of Nelidova to Turgenev of the second period, 

1864-1868. In the letter of January 19 (31), 1861 Turgenev writes to Khilkova: "You 

reproached me justly in your letters for my useless waste of time." In response to 

the writer's complaints of "the dissipated conduct of my life" and inability to work, 

young Olga Khilkova reproaches him for his idleness. This theme continues in the 

letters of the second period, although at that time Turgenev does not take the 

rebukes as passively as before: "I deserve your kind reproaches less than in the 

past, since I have gotten down to work again, even though fairly sluggishly, and am 

writing a novel”3 (Letter of July 7 (19) 1866). Nelidova at times assumes a stern 
 

 
 

3 At the time, Turgenev was writing Smoke. 
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motherly tone of voice with Turgenev, criticizing not only his way of life but also his 

works. Thus, in the letter of November 22 (December 4) 1866, the writer has to 

apologize for the story "Enough" that led his correspondent "into some confusion." 

He then talks about the story as written under the influence of a misanthropic 

mood, adding to this that he is now finishing an important novel (Smoke). 

In the letters of the second period, Turgenev quite often finds himself in the 

situation of having to answer the rebukes of his correspondent for his lack of 

attention to her and absence of sincere, friendly feelings. In his letter of February 18 

1866, the author writes that "regardless of my 'indifference to everything on earth,' I 

am sincerely attached to those 'friends of old' to whom you refer and in whose 

number you occupy one of the first places." In the letter of November 22 

(December 4) 1866, he again tries to convince Nelidova: "my feelings toward you 

are most friendly, almost as if we were blood relations: you, it seems, are not quite 

confident in this, but that is a mistake." Concerning "feelings . . . too friendly, exactly 
 

those of a blood relative," the writer makes reference also in his letter of February 8 

(20) 1867.4 

In Friedrich Bodenstedt's diary5 we find an entry of December 25, 1862, 

which reads: "Today I received a letter from Turgenev from Paris. It seems that his 

love for Princess Olga is not as great as hers is for him." Nelidova, most likely, 

revealed to the German poet her vision of her relationship with Turgenev as one- 

sided, where her contribution to the relationship was much greater than his. It is 

possible that it was exactly this attitude of Nelidova (whether justified or not) that 

led to the cooling of their relationship. By early 1868 we find only several short 

notes discussing matter-of-fact issues of Nelidova's trip to Baden-Baden; and 

following her arrival in Baden-Baden (presumably in March of 1868), the 
 

 
 

4 Turgenev seemed to have a similar problem with his other female correspondents 
at that time: in a number of letters he tries to convince them of his sincerity and 
amicability. (See letters to E. E. Lambert of February 14 (26), 1860, May 19 (31), 
1861, March 26 (April 7), 1864; letters to V. Ia. Kartashevskaia of April 
18 (30), 1860, July 12 (24), 1862; letter to N. N. Rashet of January 6 (18), 1865.) 
5 The Munich diary of Friedrich Bodenstedt (unpublished at present) is in the 
possession of Dr. Fritz Engelmann of Bonn. 
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correspondence ceases. Turgenev mentions Nelidova only once in a letter to Pauline 

Viardot, and the writer talks about her with irritation: "Mrs. Nelidova told you the 

same thing that she had told me, thus she is repeating herself? at her age? I am 

especially unclear as to her words regarding her touch on the organ, why on 

the third accord the sound comes out false? (she told me that)" (Letter of March 12, 
 

13 (24, 25) 1868). 
 

It would be unfair to put the entire blame for a cooling of the relationship 

between the correspondents on Nelidova alone. It seems Turgenev here is also a 

guilty party. In this case a parallel with another of the writer's correspondents may 

be pertinent— V. Ia. Kartashevskaia, with whom Turgenev had an extensive 

correspondence in 1859-1860. While constantly trying to convince Kartashevskaia 

that he valued her friendship dearly, Turgenev writes to his friend E. Ia. Kolbasin as 

early as 1861: "Where did you find an 'emancipe' in Kartashevskaia? She is simply 

a piece of female flesh that I found at some time appealing" (Letter of August 8 
 

(20) 1861). 
 

The question about Nelidova's role in arranging the meeting in Munich 

where Turgenev met Paul Heyse and Friedrich Bodenstedt deserves more detailed 

attention. Partly this was dealt with in Horst Rappich's article "Turgenev i 

Bodenshtedt",6 yet the newly discovered letters of Turgenev to Nelidova, as well 

as two previously unknown letters — a letter of Bodenstedt to Khilkova of April 
 

1861 (see p. xx) and a letter of Bodenstedt to Turgenev of December 31, 18617 — 
 

shed new light on the issue. 
 

At the beginning of the 1860s, Nelidova lived in Munich, first with her 

mother and sister, and then, after her marriage in 1862, with her husband, A. I. 

Nelidov, second secretary of the Russian embassy in Bavaria. Olga Nelidova was a 

member of the circle of writers and poets that gathered around Bavarian king 

Maximilian II. She was well acquainted with the famous German poet Paul Heyse 

— the organizer and the leader of the circle — and also with Friedrich Bodenstedt 
 
 

6 Rappich, Horst, "Turgenev Bodenshtedt" in lz parizhskikh arkhivov I. S. Turgeneva, 
kniga 2,series Literaturnoe nasledstvo, Moscow, 1964. 
7 The letter is in the Bavarian State library in Munich. 
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— a poet, translator, and Professor of Slavic Philology at Munich University. It 

becomes evident from the letters that Turgenev's visit to Munich was Khilkova's 

idea: in the letter of March 5 (17) 1861, the author says that he likes his 

correspondent's proposal about his trip to Munich. Further analysis of the letters 

shows that Turgenev does not start making plans for his trip to Munich (on his way 

to Russia) until he gets a firm answer from Khilkova as to whether she is going to be 

there at the time. Up until March of 1861 the writer intended to return to Russia by 

way of Turin and Geneve.8 

From the Bodenstedt diary (entry for April 13, 1861) we learn that Olga 

Khilkova acquainted the German poet with Turgenev's novel Nest of Gentlefolk; 

Bodenstedt's letter to Olga details his impressions of the novel and his desire to 

translate it.9 The meeting between Turgenev and Bodenstedt took place on April 23 

(May 5), on a Sunday. Turgenev arrived in Munich on Saturday evening, and on 

Sunday morning he wrote a note to the Khilkovs. On Saturday afternoon, Olga 

Khilkova and her brother10 took Turgenev to Bodenstedt's house. They all spent 

Sunday night at the Khilkovs (based on the Bodenstedt diary), and the next evening 

Bodenstedt invited Turgenev to his house, where the Munich cultural elite had 

gathered. Bodenstedt writes about the visit to Munich: "Turgenev really arrived on 

Saturday and visited me on Sunday with Prince Khilkov and his sister. There is not 

much to say about the Prince, but Turgenev is one of the most impressive and 

congenial people that I have ever met. We spent Sunday night together at the 

Khilkovs and last night at my house. I had also invited Sybel,11 Kobell,12 Melchior 

Meyr,13 and Carriere14— and also Liebig,15 who could not come." 
 

 
 

8 For this see: the letter to K. K. Sluchevsky of April 19 (May 1), 1861, and the letter to A. 
S. de Sirkur of April 21 (May 3), 1861. 
9 Bodenstedt never did translate the novel; Paul Fuch's translation of Nest of Gentlefolk 
(Das adelige Nest) came out in 1862 in Leipzig. 
10 Most likely Grigorii. 
11 Heinrich Sybel (1817-1895), German historian and political leader. 
12 Frantz Kobell (1803-1882), poet and professor of mineralogy. 
13 Melchior Meyr (1810-1871), poet, novelist and playwright, author of works of 
religious philosophy. 
14 Maurice Carriere (1817-1895), poet and philosopher, professor of aesthetics. 
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Melchior Meyr left a more detailed account of the evening: "Evening at 

Bodenstedt's: were Turgenev (Russian landlord and writer), Sybel, Kobel!, and 

Carriere. Bakunin lives now in Siberia! -free! - Turgenev tells us about Russia and the 

state of peasants - serfs - who a long time ago owned the land. He remarks: "The 

Crimean war helped us a great deal - it liberated us from tsar Nicholas (that poor 

excuse for a great man) and allowed us to discover ourselves! - Retells his short 

stories. - Public life (fertile soil belongs to the commune. - Sybel: legal consciousness 

develops better under a system of private property!). Turgenev was in Paris- 

lecherous life of Prince Napoleon."16 

It is understandable that the question of the liberation of the serfs dominated 

the discussion, since the liberation had taken place only two months prior. 

Turgenev's enthusiasm regarding this event is well-known (for example, see the 

letter to Khilkova of March 5 (17), 1861). The sentiment, obviously, was shared by 
 

the others present at the gathering.17 The conversation also dealt with Turgenev's 

works, though it is not clear which ones; and touched upon criticism of Prince 

Napoleon, the cousin of Napoleon Ill. 

Turgenev spent the next evening at the Khilkovs'; in Bodenstedt's diary 

entry for May 8 we read: "This morning Turgenev unfortunately left, but he 

promised to come back in the fall for a longer stay. We spent last night after the 

theater at Princess Khilkov's. I especially enjoyed his remarking on Emperor 

Nicholas as 'Ia facade d'un grand homme' (the facade of a great man)”.18 

The meeting of May 1861 was the beginning of the fruitful collaboration 

between Turgenev and Bodenstedt, who in the course of several years would be 

translating Turgenev's novels and short stories. Turgenev himself checked every 
 
 

 
15 Justus Liebig ( 1803-1873), professor of chemistry and President of the Bavarian 
Academy of Sciences. 
16 Melchior Meyr's diary is in the Bavarian State library in Munich. 
17 Rappichmentions Bodenstedt's poem "To Alexander II" ("Turgenev i Bodenstedt," 
p. 334). 
18 In his diary, Meyr recalls it as "Die Farce eines grossen Mannes! (The farce of a great 
man) ." Since the two informants are talking about different evenings, it is possible 
that Turgenev used both of these phrases, or that one of them is recalled incorrectly. 
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translation; he considered the German poet to be an outstanding translator of his 

works. Heyse did not attend the soirée at Bodenstedt's house due to illness, but 

Turgenev saw him the next day (see Heyse's diary entry for April 25 (May 7) 

1861).19 
 

The correspondence between Nelidova and Turgenev may have resumed 

because at that time Nelidova was finishing her novel. The letters of 1864-1868 

provide a good example of the cultivation of a young talent by a mature author. It 

has to be noted that Turgenev 's attitude to Nelidova's creative work was not 

entirely serious: in response to the letter in which she informed Turgenev that she 

had started writing a novel, the writer states that he is not surprised, since "every 

woman either creates or writes her own love story " (Letter of July 14, 1864). The 

novel was finished in a year and a half: at the beginning of 1866, Turgenev 

congratulates his correspondent upon its completion. 

Turgenev calls the undertaking (the writing of the novel) a heroic feat, 

demanding "much literary truth and feminine resoluteness" (Letter of December 27 

(January 8) 1866). By this time he was already acquainted with the beginning of the 

novel (most likely in July of 1864 in Heidelberg), which he found interesting. By 

February of 1866, Turgenev knew the novel in its entirety, and he gave Nelidova 

practical advice as to its publication. He considers the novel worthy of publication and 

proposes, as possible publications, Russian Herald and Notes of the Homeland (Letter 

of February 28, 1866). It is significant that Turgenev is struck by Nelidova's "feminine 

resoluteness" to publish her novel "in present-day circumstances," clearly pointing out 

here the additional difficulties that arise for a woman who tries to assert herself in the 

predominantly male society of the literati. And even though Turgenev introduces 

Nelidova in his letter of recommendation to Katkov using her real name, in his letter 

to Dudyshkin he hides her gender. He also encourages the young woman to take a 

pseudonym. 

It was on Turgenev's own initiative that he wrote letters of recommendation 
 

to two editors of Russia's leading literary journals. In his letter to M. N. Katkov (the 
 

 
 

19 Paul Heyse's diary is in the Bavarian State Library in Munich. 
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editor of Russian Herald) he talks about "indubitable signs of genuine talent," "the 

warmth and liveliness of feeling" and also "the graceful simplicity of exposition." At 

the same time he writes about some shortcomings only natural for a beginning 

author that in his view do not diminish the value of the literary work. 

It is hard to say how sincere Turgenev was in his critique of Nelidova's 

novel, even though he promises to be "extremely honest" (Letter of July 14, 1864). 

Most likely, Turgenev was deliberately downplaying Mermaid's considerable 

drawbacks. And, while acknowledging the author's peculiar position of establishing 

herself in the male-dominated society, Turgenev follows the same fallacy and 

approaches a woman's novel with less rigid critical criteria. There exist 

a number of detailed and highly critical responses of Turgenev to the works of such 

well-known Russian writers as Dostoevsky, Tolstoy, Fet, and Sluchevsky. In this 

context it seems unlikely that the evaluation of Nelidova's novel is objective, even 

taking into consideration the fact that this was the first work of a beginning author 

and that the author is a woman. After all, notwithstanding the positive letters of 

recommendation, the novel had never been published.20 

In his first remarks about the novel, Turgenev advises Nelidova to make only 

some insignificant changes: "to eliminate both tirades about fires" and "to remove 

the place where the hero, like Orlando Furioso, starts to break trees: it could bring a 

smile to the lips of the reader" (Letter of February 28, 1866). Yet in his future letters, 

when Turgenev gives his correspondent literary advice, he sounds increasingly 

critical. In his letter of July 7 (19), 1866, for example, Turgenev, evaluating some 

plots that Nelidova communicated to him (most likely, the plots of her future works), 

admits that they are not devoid of originality, yet points out that plot is not of the 

utmost importance in a literary work: "The question of literary 

style is not so much with the hare as with the sauce." 
 

In this letter the writer speaks more frankly with his correspondent about 
 

20 The situation seems not unlike the one with Mrs. Patkul's novel, which was to be 
sent to Turgenev by E. E. Lambert; in his letter to her of August 6 (18), 1861 Turgenev 
says: “ I anticipate receiving Mrs. Patkul's novel and will try to say something truthful 
about it, although this will likely be very difficult. Why would such a fine woman get 
involved in this business, which seems so unnatural for her!" 
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her literary work in general: "Gallicisms drop really quite often into your language, 

or else expressions that in general are irregular and lifeless in our colloquial speech. 

But here grammar will not help you: it is necessary to listen carefully, to take 

notice, and the main thing is to write, to write a lot; supply yourself with an 

unvarying rule: to express a clearly formed thought as precisely and simply as 

possible. Thank goodness, you do have the desire; and talent, if it is present, which 

there is no reason to doubt at this time, will manifest itself in its own time. To tell 

the truth, I am a little afraid of your "Zukunftsmusik"; here very easily and without 

your own awareness, one can lapse into a strained falsity of tune, or a madness à 

froid, of which can serve as an example one of your favourite authors, Mr. Ch. 

Nodier, a writer extremely (excuse me!) lifeless and prosaic, like almost all the 

French. In any case, Zukunftsmusik, while vague in content, demands perfection of 

form and skill (see Wagner)." In the letter of November 22 (December 4) 1866, 

Turgenev voices some doubt about the presence of talent in Nelidova's work: "I 

would wish it [the novel— A. V.] to be published: this would clarify matters for you 

yourself, if you could continue to go along this route; it is not completely clear to 

me myself, although all the probabilities exist. There is no doubt that you are very 

intelligent and that your mind possesses both gracefulness and originality: it remains 

to be ascertained of the presence of that which it is impossible to name: das 

formende Element." 

It was more than a year after this letter before any mention of Nelidova's 

literary aspirations were mentioned in Turgenev's letters (as well as in Nelidova's, 

we can safely assume). And it is only once in the remaining letters that Turgenev 

raises the question of writing — in the letter of February 5 (17) 1868, as a 

response to Nelidova's confession that she is writing again. Here Turgenev gives 

her some practical advice, yet at the same time encourages his correspondent's 

literary activity primarily as a means of distraction that would help her overcome 

her physical and psychological problems: "I am very happy that you are working; 

perhaps this work will cure you, in any case it will provide you with a diversion — 

and at last it will determine your literary future. As to "details," which you wished 

to avoid, I can give you one piece of advice: cross out everything in descriptions 
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that seems very beautiful to you — and in psychological investigations, very 

subtle. When you are writing, it should seem to you that you are not running 

somewhere in a hurry — and that you are not marking time in one place — but 

rather, that you are taking a nice walk. However, all these pieces of advice 

essentially mean nothing. "Jeder Vogel zu seiner Frist singt wie ihm der Schnabel 

gewachsen ist." 

Increasingly frank critical remarks about Nelidova's literary style, as well as 

growing doubts about the signs of literary talent in the young writer's works, 

were most likely both a cause and a consequence of the general cooling off of the 

relationship between the correspondents. Then again, in 1869 

Nelidova had her third boy — Vladimir. It is not unlikely that her increased 
 

family duties prevented her from pursuing her literary career. So the end of the 

correspondence between Nelidova and Turgenev could have been due to a 

combination of the apparent cooling off of their relationship and the fact that the 

lives of Turgenev and Nelidova simply took different turns. 
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1. January 28 (February 9), 1860. Moscow. 
 
 
 

Moscow. 

January 28 (February 9), 1860. 

 
 
 
 

I am sending you, my dear princess, a copy of my new story, which has just been 

printed. (The issue of the Russian Herald in which it will appear has not yet come out.) I 

wanted to keep the promise I made to you, but I do not know if my package will please 

you, and if you should not first give it to your mother to read. You do this, and then, if 

you should find the time, let me know through your brother (I do not dare request a 

letter directly from you to me), what were your impressions? 

I heard that you liked Dresden and that you are enjoying life there. This makes 
 

me happy. Dresden is a wonderful city, and very nice people live there. I know likewise 

that you got acquainted with Reichel. In any case, I am certain that you spent the winter 

better that I did: since as far back as the month of October, I have been unwell all the 

time: some kind of lingering nervous cough is tormenting me — and here I do not even 

leave the room. I arrived here two weeks ago in order to publish a story, and I came 

down with a cold. 

Now I can only think about how to return to Petersburg, where several different 

projects demand my attention. In the spring I am going to the country, and in the 

autumn to Paris. By the way, your brother told me that you will probably not be in the 

country at all, so must our plans for the publication of your father's papers collapse? 

My best regards, please, to your mother and sister, and accept for yourself my 

sincere wishes for all the best on earth. 

 
 

Your devoted, 

Iv. Turgenev 



 
 

[2. January 19 (31) 1861. Paris*] 
 

 
 

Paris. 
 

19/31 Jan. 1861. 
 

 
 

My dear princess, 
 
 
 

Just how guilty I am with respect to you — this, I think is impossible either to say 

in words or to describe with a pen.** It remains for me to place my hopes in your 

generosity and ask for your forgiveness. 

My silence is all the more unforgivable in that it does not justify itself either in 
 

strongly developed activity or in the dissipated conduct of my life. For the most part, I 

was sitting at home and not doing anything: even my new story progressed very little. 

These three months went by like smoke from a chimney: some kind of gray puffs run 

around and about, all as if different and yet the same. Such periods have already come 

upon me previously: I finally feel the need to pull myself together and emerge from this 

dozing, lethargic state. You reproached me justly in your letters with a useless waste of 

time. 
 

Well — and you — how did you spend this time? Did you use it in a helpful way? 

(I blush at the thought that I was of no help to you in this case, did not designate to you 

a book that it would have been good for you to translate. Now it is already late — and 

probably you have already chosen an occupation for yourself.) How did you spend the 

first half of the winter in Munich? I was in this city long ago — so long ago that it is 

terrifying to say — in the year 1838: I was then extremely foolish (I say this very 

seriously), and even if I had genuine impressions that remained then, they managed to 

wipe themselves out long ago. With whom did you become acquainted — and, more 

important — what timbre did your life acquire? Artistic, musical-intimate — or simply 

touristic? I would want to learn about all this. How did your mother get on, and your 

sister, and what news came from your brothers? 

I live here as if at home — surrounded by feminine elements; a few Russians and 
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I see each other, among whom is a most sympathetic being — Marya Alexandrovna 

Markovich (known under the name Marko Vovchok). I am beginning to get acquainted 

with new French people — but I find little taste for them — and I only think about my 

spring return to my beloved district of Mtsensk. How very pleasant it will be for me to 

see once more this sweet old nonsense, than which there is nevertheless nothing better 

for our kind from the steppes. St. George's Day, nightingales, the smell of straw and of 

birch buds, the sun and puddles along the road — that is what my soul thirsts for! 

I do not have any kind of right to demand an immediate answer from you — but I 

would be very happy with one, and I can guarantee that I, in tum, would answer at 

once. 
 

I send my greetings to all your family and I press your hand firmly. Thank you 

many times over for the photograph. 

Until we meet again. 
 
 
 

Yours faithfully, 

Iv. Turgenev 

Rue de Rivoli, 210 
 
 
 

* Letter first published as #1028 To O.D. Khilkova in Literaturni Arkhiv vol.3, pages 
 

214-217. Leningrad: 1951. 
 

**A standard phrase used when telling fairy tales. 
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3. March 5 (17), 1981. Paris. 
 

 
 

Paris. 
 

5/17th March 1861. 
 

 
 

My dear Princess, 
 
 
 

I hasten to reply to your second letter, or else my conscience will truly torment 

me. The matter of emancipation is decided, and it seems, as much as possible, sensibly 

and liberally: the statutes of the drafting committee have almost all been accepted. The 

land allotment remains whole, with rights of redemption and guarantees of 

government; the transition period of time will continue for two years in all, after which 

the traditional free labor will already have been forbidden; debentures will be given 

only to those who have property on the quit-rent. A printed copy of a future edict is 

being circulated here, but there is absolutely no way to get hold of one: however, 

everything that I have now told you is completely true. The announcement will follow 

in a week. May God keep the Tsar in good health, who throughout all this has behaved 

in a masterly fashion and had to wrestle with enormous difficulties. God knows what I 

would have given to be present at the reading of the manifesto, not in Petersburg or in 

Moscow, but somewhere in a country church, to watch the faces of the moujiks and to 

listen to their thoughts . . . 

Your suggestion to go through Munich pleases me very much; but for that I would also 

want to know how long you will remain there. Please pass along my greetings to 

Messrs. Bodenstedt and Heyse, and tell them that I did not in any way expect such a 

personal testimonial and this makes me all the happier with them. It goes without 

saying that I would have considered it an honor to be translated by such a writer as 

Bodenstedt. I haven't been in Munich for a very long time; would you believe that at 

that time I was very foolish and didn't understand anything; now they say that really, in 
 

many ways, it is the heart of Germany. Don't forget to write me how long you will 

remain there. 
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Here I live monotonously, and I work not too painstakingly; these days, however, are 

no time for literature. I strongly hope to see you in a few weeks, and until then, allow 

me to press your hand and ask you to give your mother and sister assurances of my 

sincere and friendly devotion. 
 

Iv. Turgenev 
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4. April 19 (May 1), 1861. Paris.  
 

Paris. 
 

1st May 1861. 
 

 
 

My dear Princess, 
 
 
 

My departure from here was delayed a little, but now I hasten to inform you that, 

if God is willing, on Friday I leave for Munich, where I will stay no longer than two days. 

Incidentally, I have a favor to ask of you: could you tell Bodenstedt or someone else that 

I would wish very much to buy a superb setter, and would it be possible, before the 

time of my stay, to inquire about such a dog? I would be extremely grateful both to you 
 

and to whoever makes an effort toward this. 
 

Good-bye; I press your hand and send my greetings to your family. 
 
 
 

Iv. Turgenev 
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5. April 23 (May 5), 1861. Munich. 

For Princess Olga Khilkoff Hotel Marienbad 

I came here yesterday evening, dear princess, and since today is Easter Sunday — 

So when will it be possible to visit you? Shouldn't I join you in going to church? What 

time is Mass? 
 

Your faithful Turgenev 
 
 
 

I am staying at Goldene Hirsch. 
 
 
 

[Translator's note: the letter is written on a sheet of paper with the handwritten return 

address: Neues Hotel Havard Miinchen] 
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[6. April 27 (May 9), 1861. Berlin]*  
 

Berlin. 
 

9th May 1861. 
 

 
 

My dear princess, 
 
 
 

Today I arrived in Berlin, and today I also leave for Russia . I send my greetings to 

you, to all your family, and to new friends in Munich. Tell Bodenstedt not to be too 

surprised if they send him from Paris the translation of a few of my things (there, 

incidentally, "Mumu" and "The Inn") — 1 took care of this myself — since as of now I 

still have not sent him the original from Petersburg. 

Be healthy and happy. 
 

I press your hand in friendship. 
 
 
 

Yours faithfully, 

Iv. Turgenev 

 
 
 
 

* Letter first published as #1073 To O.D. Khilkova in Literaturni Arkhiv vol.3, pages 
 

214-217. Leningrad: 1951. 
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7. April 6 (18), 1864. Paris 
 
 
 

Paris rue de Rivoli, 210. 

Wednesday, 6th Apr. 1864. 

 
 

Your letter, my dear Olga . . . imagine that, to my shame, I have forgotten your 

patronymic, and I am compelled, with embarrassment, to ask for your forgiveness. 

Your letter found me no longer in Baden and was sent on to me in Paris, where I came 

for a month for meetings with my daughter, who thanks you very much for thinking 

about her, and who has still not gotten married, despite an abundance of suitors. It is 

evident that the real one has not yet appeared. I will return to Baden at the end of this 

month and remain there for a long time. Indeed, we live so near each other that it 

would be nice for us to see each other. I would want this very much. Everything you tell 
 

me in your letter has touched me very much; it brings great happiness to deserve, in 

general, any affection (the word "to deserve" doesn't even quite belong here), and your 

affection all the more. I repeat: this moves me deeply and gladdens me, and I can assure 

you that this affection is mutual. 

To my deep regret, I do not have one single copy of my "Phantoms," but I am 

writing to Baden in today's mail so that they will send you one from there. I don't think 

that this trifle will appeal to you very much: it is a row of descriptions, bound together 

in haste. 

For almost a year and a half, I have done nothing — somehow the desire wasn't 

there. Now it seems that it is returning, and I will probably write something. I am also 

sending you a photograph en profil, which you asked for. I don't know if you will like it, 

but it seems to me that in it I represent myself as some kind of bellicose general. 

My behavior in Russia does not at all deserve the epithet that you attach to it: my 
 

part was very easy, because, after all, there was nothing to hide. Your question about 

what our compatriots want and toward what they are striving is very hard to answer. 

Above all, they probably want money, of which there is absolutely none in Russia; 

throughout the whole time of my stay, I did not see either an imperial or a silver ruble, 



 

 27 

and since they themselves truly do not know what they are striving for, it is all the 

more difficult for me to learn it from the outside. Even with all this, the general 

impression is not bad; incidentally, I was struck by the red cheeks and big bellies of the 

drivers, the moujiks, and even the workmen: and this was a good sign. Things are 

clearly moving toward the establishment of a constitutional monarchy: at any rate, the 

wind blows everywhere in that direction. 

The definition of the character of T. made me laugh: it is so very true. I did not 

live until my 46th year in order to be so rudely at fault with people, and it is extremely 

easy to understand T. But he is polite and obliging. 

What if you and your husband came to Baden, if only for a short week? You would 
 

not regret it, truly. 
 

I press your hand in friendship and remain forever 
 

Your devoted 
 

Iv. Turgenev 
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8. July 14, 1864. Baden-Baden 
 
 
 

Baden-Baden. Schillerstrasse, 277. 
 

Thursday, 14th July 1864. 
 

 
 

My dear Olga Dmitrievna, 
 
 
 

Tomorrow at 12 or at 3 o'clock I will arrive in Heidelberg, and with the greatest 

pleasure will comply with your request, which surprised me much less than you 

suppose, since every woman either creates or writes her own love story. Yours 

interests me very much, and I promise you to be extremely honest. For the time being, I 
 

press your hand in friendship and remain 
 

Faithfully your 
 

Iv. Turgenev 
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9. December 27 (January 8), 1865-1866. Baden-Baden. 
 
 
 

Baden-Baden. Schillerstrasse, 277. 
 

Wednesday, 27th Dec. 1865. 

My dear Olga Dmitrievna, 

And so you have finished your novel! I rejoice and congratulate you, and at the 
 

same time I cannot help but notice that in present-day circumstances much literary 

truth and feminine resoluteness are needed in order to undertake and complete such a 

heroic feat. I would listen to your work with great pleasure. The beginning, I remember, 

interested me very much, but for me to go from Baden to Munich earlier than next 

February or March is absolutely out of the question. And that is why it will be necessary 

either to postpone this reading until that time period or for you to send me here your 

manuscript, which I will read attentively and send back carefully, and I promise you to 

express my completely conscientious opinion. Your handwriting is very legible and 

presents no difficulties of any kind. 

There is nothing at all surprising in the fact that at this very minute you cannot 

have any other opinion concerning your work: that happens with every author. 

I am replying in a few words to each of your kind requests: I am in good health and am 

not writing anything; my villa will be ready in the summer and I will move there in 

September; my daughter is now well, but she had a slight misfortune: she miscarried. 

She is very happy with her husband; he is a fine man. I get news about Russia from the 

literary journals, which are probably also available to you; wailing from the village 

comes to me constantly, sincere or insincere it is hard to understand: most likely both. 

In Baden I am totally occupied with hunting and reading: incidentally, I recommend to 

you La Revolution de E. Quinet: it is a very long work. 

For now, good-bye until March, and send me your novel if you can. I ask you to 
 

give my best regards to your husband, with whom to my regret I am not yet acquainted, 

and to accept the assurance of my sincere affection. 
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Iv. Turgenev 
 

 
 

P.S. Give my regards to Bodenstedt. 
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10. February 28, 1866. Baden-Baden 
 
 
 

Baden-Baden. Schillerstrasse, 277. 
 

28th Feb. 1866. 

My dear Olga Dmitrievna, 

I am answering your questions: In my considered opinion, your work should be 
 

published, because it belongs exactly in the first category that you mention in your 

letter. Now comes the question, where and how to publish it? (Incidentally, speaking of 

publishers, I had in mind the publishers of literary journals.) It would be very good and 

appropriate in the Russian Herald, but Katkov is capricious. If you wish this, I will send 

you something in the nature of a letter of recommendation to him, which you will 

forward together with your manuscript. (His name is Mikhail Nikiforovich.) Do not set 

a price, but leave it to him: the first works of beginning authors are usually printed free. 
 

It is also possible to try to place "The Mermaid" in Notes of the Homeland; in that case, I 

can deliver your manuscript to my friend P.V. Annenkov, who has permanent relations 

with the editors of N. H. It seems to me necessary to rewrite your manuscript; I advise 

you to eliminate both tirades about fires. The bathing scene can remain, but I think it is 

necessary to remove the place where your hero, like Orlando Furioso, starts to break 

trees: it could bring a smile to the lips of the reader. 

There, it seems to me that's all. I will await your decision. I don't know if I will be 

going to Munich this spring; but if I do not manage to see you before your long journey, 

I ask you to be sure that, regardless of my "indifference to everything on earth," I am 

sincerely attached to those "friends of old" to whom you refer and in whose number 

you occupy one of the first places. 
 

Your truly faithful 
 

Iv. Turgenev 
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11. March-May, 1866. Baden-Baden 
 
 
 

Friday at 7 in the evening. 
 
 
 

My dear Olga Dmitrievna — there is simply no way I can come to you this evening, and I 

will therefore miss the pleasure of hearing the end of your story. But I know it so well 

that I can recommend it to Katkov in good conscience — I will try to deliver to you in 

person my letter to him tomorrow before your departure at half past nine. In any case, I 

press your hand firmly and wish you all the best. 
 

Your faithful 
 

Iv. Turgenev 
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11a. March-May, 1866. (to Katkov) 
 
 
 

Most honorable Mikhail Nikiforovich, the story that you receive along with this letter 

comes from the pen of a young lady, my good friend. This is her first attempt, and to 

start her life in the world of letters in your respected journal would be a genuine honor 

for her. I have no doubt that, once you have read this story, you will find in it, together 

with several imperfections characteristic of inexperience, indubitable signs of genuine 

talent, and you will appreciate the warmth and liveliness of feeling with which it is 

imbued, and likewise the graceful simplicity of exposition. By placing this work in the 

Russian Herald, you will encourage a budding talent and, I dare think, give pleasure to 

your readers. Personally, I will be truly grateful to you. 

It remains for me to add that the author would be pleased to receive at least a 

small remuneration, since to some extent she is in want of money. 

Knowing all the love that you have for our literature. . . . 

(second page missing) 
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12. July 7 (19), 1866. Baden-Baden. 
 
 
 

Baden-Baden. Schillerstrasse, 277. 
 

7/19th July 1866. 
 

 
 

My dear Olga Dmitrievna, 
 
 
 

I saw your handwriting with genuine pleasure: your continuing silence made me 

assume that you had returned to Russia a long time ago. I deeply regret the reason for 

your delayed departure, but now, as you write, the health of your baby has improved, 

and I sympathize genuinely with you. I hope that, regardless of these times of war, you 

will reach home safely, and I ask you to give me news about yourself, even if only now 

and then. 

I would have given you a letter to my friend P. V. Annenkov with the greatest 

willingness but he left Petersburg as long ago as the month of May, and has s ettled in 

Kiev until the autumn. I regret this even more, since my letter to S. S. Duduishkin, one 

of the editors of Notes of the Homeland, must, against my will, carry some kind of 

official imprint, as I do not have with him the kind of relationship I have with Annenkov 
 

However, he is a good and obliging man. You can get his address at the editorial 

offices of Notes of the Homeland, and it is absolutely necessary to have the manuscript 

copied, because, in the shape it was in when I had it, it was difficult to read. I enclose a 

letter to Duduishkin. 

As to the pseudonym, it seems to me that it should be something very simple, and 
 

one should not be afraid to use letters of the alphabet. 0. D. N., or perhaps Nestor, seem 

better to me than Qak or Li.Qn. 

The plots you have communicated to me are not lacking in originality, to the 
 

extent that one can judge them: but the question of literary style is not so much with 
 

the hare as with the sauce. Gallicisms drop really quite often into your language, or else 

expressions that in general are irregular and lifeless in our colloquial speech. But here 

grammar will not help you: it is necessary to listen carefully, to take notice, and the 
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main thing is to write, to write a lot; supply yourself with an unvarying rule, to express 

a clearly formed thought as precisely and simply as possible. Thank goodness, you do 

have the desire; and talent, if it is present, which there is no reason to doubt at this 

time, will manifest itself in its own time. To tell the truth, I am a little afraid of your 

"Zukunftsmusik;" here very easily and without your own awareness, one can lapse into 

a strained falsity of tune, or a madness à froid, of which can serve as an example one of 

your favorite authors, Mr. Ch. Nodier, a writer in essence extremely (excuse me!) 

lifeless and prosaic, like almost all the French. In any case, Zukunftsmusik, while vague 

in content, demands perfection of form and skill (see Wagner). 

Your whole letter is so full of such good and touching candor that I hasten to 
 

answer you in the same way. I deserve your kind reproaches less than in the past, since 
 

I have gotten down to work again, even though fairly sluggishly, and am writing a 

novel. But my literary activity has nothing in common with happiness, which you wish 

for me in such a friendly way, and which I certainly enjoy to some degree: I look on 

talent as on the voice of a singer: life would not be lost along with it. 

And now permit me to press your hand firmly and to wish you all the best in the 

world. I would be very happy if I knew for sure that you would never doubt my sincere 

respect and friendship. 
 

Your Iv. Turgenev 
 
 
 
 
 

P.S. Tell Duduishkin how and where to answer you, since, as you see, I did not reveal 

your gender. Money, I think, is hard to expect on a first occasion. 
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13. November 22 (December 4), 1866. Baden-Baden. 
 
 
 

Baden-Baden. Schillerstrasse, 277. 
 

22nd November/ 4th December 1866. 

Dear Olga Dmitrievna, 

I am answering your letter immediately, and I only regret that your address is not 
 

put down fully enough ("Mikhailovskoe village"), and I am forced to take a chance at 

sending my reply to Novosil — this is especially distressing to me, because perhaps you 

will not receive these words and will rebuke me for my forgetfulness. It can't be helped 

— I place my hope on the off chance. 
 

Indeed, it is as you say; life is a very difficult thing, especially in the young years, 

when you feel the need, and even the duty, to take action, while here one must sit with 

one's hands in one's lap and wait for something that does not depend on us — an 

excruciating situation! Nowhere does one encounter this as often as in Russia, and I 

imagine vividly how at times it must be dreadful for you! You do not write me if you 

will remain in the country for long, but I assume you will be there for a fairly long time. 

What to say to you by way of consolation? To advise patience, to point out family and 

home occupations and joys, all this is perfectly clear to you yourself; so I limit myself to 

pressing your hand firmly and in friendship, and I reassure you in sincere sympathy — 

a human being can often do nothing more for another human being. I can further add 

that "Enough" has led you in vain into some confusion: it was written several years ago, 

under the influence of a misanthropic mood: it may be that such a fragmentary thing 

should not have been published, a thing in which personal depression was reflected too 

strongly; besides, this mood has passed, and the best proof of that lies in the fact that I 

am finishing a fairly important novel, and that this novel will probably appear in the 

March edition of the Russian Herald . Some will laugh at me, but I believe that one 

cannot make firm and unalterable promises, and qui a bu, boira. 

Incidentally, yesterday I wrote at once to Annenkov about your story and asked 
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him to inquire about it and also to see to it that it appears in Notes of the Homeland. I 

would wish it to be published: this would clarify matters for you yourself, if you could 

continue to go along this route; it is not completely clear to me myself, although all the 

probabilities exist. There is no doubt that you are very intelligent and that your mind 

possesses both gracefulness and originality: it remains to be ascertained of the 

presence of that which it is impossible to name: das formende Element. 

I live peacefully and quietly in Baden, I often go hunting, I work, I read. I chose 

this small town, and I will probably pile up my bones here. My house is ready, but I will 

not go over there earlier than in the spring. But first I will go to Russia. At the end of 

January I will be in Petersburg, and in March at home in the country. Won't we see each 

other? If it will not be too troublesome, I promise to come to you. And I ask you to let 

me know whether this letter has reached you. 

I am a prompt correspondent, and I will answer you in turn. Besides, my feelings 

toward you are most friendly, almost as if we were blood relatives: you , it seems, are 

not quite convinced of this, but that is a mistake. And so, until we meet again; these 

words are better than farewell. Do not worry and do not be disturbed, and may all the 

best surround you! 

I press your hand firmly and remain 
 
 
 

Your sincerely faithful 
 

Iv. Turgenev 
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14. February 8 (20), 1867. Baden-Baden 
 
 
 

Baden-Baden Schillerstrasse, 277. 
 

8/20th Feb. 1867. Wednesday. 
 
 
 
 
 

I am answering your letter immediately, my dear "niece." It found me still here, 

due to fairly unpleasant, for me, circumstances: to be precise, I happened to have an 

attack of gout in my feet, yes, gout, and also some kind of pernicious and chronic case of 

it: it will soon be 8 weeks that I haven't been able to walk, even with the help of a thick 

cane, and I sit motionless on the sofa. And meanwhile, never, perhaps, have I 

experienced such an urgent need to be in Russia. I am not speaking only of the fact that 

this stupid illness delays the appearance of my thing in the Russian Herald — although 

from a financial point of view even this is sensitive for me — but I need, absolutely 

need, to be on my own estate, where I have undertaken a change of estate manager. 

Matters demand my departure, but the gout says "Don't try that with me, my friend! Sit 

quietly!" And I, against my will, sit quietly and wait for something to turn up. A man 

suffers against his will when it is impossible to do anything else. 

This same illness, which I don't even dare to scold (God forbid! It would hear — it 
 

would become angry), will possibly prevent me from visiting you, since the time 

earmarked by me for my stay in the country will turn out to be too short. In any case, I 

assure you, I will most certainly make an effort to visit you, even if only for a day or 

two, so as to have a little talk with you about why "geht schlecht, sehr schlecht" with 

you. My feelings toward you are too friendly, exactly those of a blood relative, not to 

offer you all the help one can get from sincere and well-meaning advice, but I am about 

as capable of that as I am of growing 20 years younger. On the contrary, I have a 

premonition that the fruits of my Muse will become more bitter and sharp each year, so 

that toward the end even the devil would not put them in his mouth. Even now, loving 

souls can end their reading relationships with me. I promise them a little pleasure, and 

the same goes for me; but I will write, so long as they will pay money. And when the 
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demand for my goods ceases, so also my scribbling will cease. 
 

I am very pleased to hear that you are healthy and cheerful; I cannot say the same 

about myself; I exported from Russia the gout that up to now torments me and 

prevents me from going hunting. 
 

Allow me to reproach you for one habit — although a common one among all 

Russians — specifically, about the unsatisfactory display of your address. Where is this 

Starnberg? To be on the safe side, I will write: near Munich, but perhaps it is in 

Pomerania, and willy-nilly I will appear in your eyes as a careless correspondent. 

I greet you in friendship and press your hand. 
 
 
 

Your faithful 
 

Iv. Turgenev 
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15. December 2, 1867. Baden-Baden 
 
 
 

(first page missing) 
 
 
 

. . . one should not think about it. Last winter gout attacked me, and this winter another 

disgusting thing has happened. To be specific: three weeks ago I stumbled while 

hunting and at first did not notice anything; but later my knee swelled up and it became 
 

impossible for me to walk. So that since then I lie with my leg stretched out and do not 

move. Now I am feeling better-but it will not be possible for me to move anywhere in 

less than three weeks or a month. You do not write me, — for how long did you move 

to Heidelberg? In any case, I hope that we will see each other before your departure 

from there. 

I am sending you at your request an individual edition of "Smoke"-and "Enough." 
 

In "Smoke" I added and restored something rejected by Katkov censorship — 

incidentally, a biographical sketch of General Ratmirov (on page 47). Let our patriots 

be even more angry at me. 

And so, dear 0. D., until we meet again, perhaps in Heidelberg, perhaps here. Good 
 

luck; I press your hand firmly. 
 

Your faithful 
 

Iv. Turgenev 
 
 
 
 
 

P.S. I am living in the same place where I have lived up to now; but the number has 

changed, and from 277th it went to 7th. 
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16. December 5 (17), 1867. Baden-Baden 
 
 
 

Baden-Baden. Schillerstrasse, 7. 
 

Tuesday, 17th Dec. 67. 
 
 
 
 
 

My dear Olga Dmitrievna, in answer to your letter, I hasten to inform you that in all 

probability I will leave for Heidelberg the day after tomorrow and I will have the 

pleasure of seeing you. I am very sorry about the illness that has overtaken you, and I 

advise you to be more careful, although I hope that all this will soon pass. 

In friendship I press your hand and say good-bye. 
 
 
 

Your faithful 
 

Iv. Turgenev 
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17. February 5 (17), 1868. Baden-Baden 
 
 
 

Baden-Baden. Schillerstrasse, 7. 
 

Monday, 17th Feb. 1868. 
 
 
 
 
 

My dear Olga Dmitrievna, 
 
 
 

Your letter found me here right before my departure for Paris, where I will have 

to stay for about a week. To my regret, I cannot give you any kind of answer to the 

question you raise concerning Prince Gorchakov: the Menshikovs are not living in 

Baden this winter, and those few Russians with whom I am acquainted have no idea 

about the prince. 

I am very sorry that you are in poor health (incidentally, your illness is not as rare 

as you think) — and I am very happy that you are working; perhaps this work will cure 

you, in any case it will provide you with a diversion — and at last it will determine your 

literary future. As to "details," which you would have liked to avoid, I can give you one 

piece of advice: cross out everything in descriptions that seems very beautiful to you 

and in psychological investigations, very subtle. When you are writing, it should seem 

to you that you are not running somewhere in a hurry — and that you are not ground 

down in one place — but rather, that you are taking a nice walk. However, all these 

pieces of advice essentially mean nothing. "Jeder Vogel zu seiner Frist singt wie ihm der 

Schnabel gewachsen ist." 

I will be very pleased to see you here. Just as I basically have no idea about when 

we fast, so I cannot determine myself the time of your arrival; but in any case, with the 

exception of my short stay in Paris, I will certainly not leave here before May. 

Be assured of my sincere friendship and affection, 
 
 
 

Iv. Turgenev 
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18. February 27 (March 11), 1868. Baden-Baden 
 
 
 

Baden-Baden Schillerstrasse, 7. 

Wednesday, 11th March 1868. 

 
 

My dear Olga Dmitrievna, 
 
 
 

In fulfilling your wish I must inform you that: 
 

1.) On the fourth (that is, on the next) week of the Great Fast, the service will be held 

every day, starting with Wednesday . 

2.) From the enclosed leaflet, you will find that Zahringerhof requests 6 francs a d ay per 
 

person (small and large) and 3 per servant. They do have a flat, warm and dry, from 

which an American family just moved out; they ask for two days' advance notice without 

fail. 

I hope that this information will be satisfactory to you — and that I will have the 
 

pleasure of seeing you in Baden and listening to your new work. 

I press your hand in friendship. 

Your sincerely faithful 
 

Iv. Turgenev 
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19. March 4 (16), 1868. Baden-Baden 
 
 
 

Baden-Baden.Schillerstrasse, 7. 
 

Monday, 16th Mar. 1868 
 
 
 
 
 

Dear Olga Dmitrievna, your commission will be executed, and I will try to meet you 

myself on Thursday at the railroad station. 

 
 

Until a pleasant meeting. 
 
 
 

Your faithful 
 

Iv. Turgenev 
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APPENDIX 
 
 
 

Letter from Friedrich Bodenstedt 
 

to Princess Olga Dmitrievna Khilkova 

translated by Irene Nelidow 
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Meine gnädige Prinzessin! 
 
 
 

Am Montag früh wollte ich Sie abholen zu Piloty, wurde aber, als ich an die L uft trat 

dermassen von einem kalten Fieber geschüttelt, dass ich mich kaum aufrecht halten 

konnte, umkehren und mich ins Bett legen musste. Zwei Tage lag ich so fast ohne alles 

Bewusstsein, nur durch entsetzliche Schmerzen daran erinnert dass ich noch lebte. 

Diese Schmerzen rührten hauptsächlich von einer heftigen Halsentzündung her, welche 

auf die Gehörgänge affizirte und mich fast taub machte. Gestern konnte ich zum 

Erstenmal wieder durch Lesen mir ein wenig die Zeit vertreiben und las Turgenieffs 

Дворянское Гнездо zu Ende, wovon über die Hälfte (durch ein Versehen der Magd 
 

beim Aufräumen des Zimmers) unter einem Haufen Bogen der Сборник gerathen war, 

woher es geschah dass ich Sie neulich um die Fortsetzung bat. Jetzt, nachdem ich das 

Ganze kenne, bin ich so entzückt davon, dass ich manche Partieen, welche von ganz 

besonderer Schönheit sind, zum zweitenmale lese, wie z.B. alles was den alten Lemm 

und die herrliche Lisa und ihr Verhältnis zu федор Иваныч betrifft. Bei der nächtlichen 

Unterhaltung des schmutzigen aber braven Михалевич und Лаврецкий habe ich 

gelacht wie Kind. 

 
 

«Мы спим а время уходит; мы спим – позволь мне тебе заметить что мы вовсе не 
 

спим теперь,» - н. 
 
 
 

Wenn sich ein guter Verleger dafür gewinnen lässt, werde ich die schöne Erzählung 

selbst übersetzen. 

Ich möchte gar zu gern ein bisschen mit Ihnen plaudern; heute ist der erste Tag den ich 
 

ausser dem Bette zubringe; ausgehen darf ich diese Woche nicht: wären Sie nicht 

vielleicht so christlich und menschenfreundlich, heute nachmittag ein Stü ndchen zu 

mir zu kommen? Um gütige Antwort bittet. 
 

Ihr ergebenster 

F. Bodenstedt 

Freitag 11 Uhr 
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My gracious Princess! 
 
 
 

Early on Monday I wanted to pick you up in Piloty, but when I stepped outside, I 

was so shaken by a cold fever that I could hardly hold myself up, and had to turn 

around and take to my bed . Two days I lay thus almost without consciousness, (and) 

was only reminded by terrible pains that I was still living. These pains stemmed 

principally from a severe inflammation of the throat, which affected my auditory canals 

and made me almost deaf. 

Yesterday for the first time I was again able to pass a little time by reading, and 

read Turgenev's "A Nobleman's Nest" to the end, half of which (through an oversight of 

the maid while cleaning the room) had gotten under a pile of sheets of the 

"Collections," whence it happened that I recently asked you for the continuation. Now 
 

that I know it in its entirety, I am so charmed by it that I am reading some parts which 

are of exceptional beauty for the second time, e.g., everything which concerns old 

Lemm and the delightful Lisa and her relationship to Fedor Ivanovich.21 I laughed like a 

child at the nocturnal conversation of the dirty but upright Mikhalevich and Lavretskii. 

 
 

"We are sleeping and the time flies; we are sleeping — Please allow me to make an 

observation that we are not sleeping at all now" -etc.22 

 
 

If a good publisher can be found for it, I shall translate the beautiful story myself. 
 
 
 

I should like very much to converse with you a little; today is the first day I am 

spending out of bed; would you perhaps be so Christian and kind as to come to me for a 

little hour this afternoon? Requesting a kind answer, 

 
 

Yours most respectfully 
 

F. Bodenstedt 
 

Friday 11:30 o'clock 
 

21 The central protagonist of A Nobleman’s Nest is Fedor Ivanych Lavretskii 
22 A line from A Nobleman’s Nest. 
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1. Commentary on letter of January 29 (February 9) 1860 
 

Princess Olga Dmitrievna Khilkova was twenty-one years old at the time she 

received Turgenev's first letter in this series. She and her family, like quite a few members 

of the Russian nobility, spent part of the year in western Europe. The young woman had 

clearly shown her interest in Turgenev's work and must have looked forward eagerly to 

reading his latest novel. 

 
 

This work, On the Eve, was published in 1860 in the January and February issues of 

the Russian Herald.23 The title refers to the eve of the emancipation of the serfs by Tsar 

Alexander II, an event that occurred the following year. To Turgenev, this "eve" was the 

precursor of much to come in the future. He anticipated a new and different political and 

economic life in Russia. Loyal political opposition to the government would prove 

acceptable and appropriate. 

 
 

On the Eve appalled and angered many members of the aristocracy. Even in fairly 

liberal circles, reaction to the novel was cool, and at first only young radicals heaped praise 

on the work. More than the feelings of the reading public was involved. Turgenev had often 

published material in the Contemporary, but a vicious and disdainful review in that 

periodical by N.A. Dobroliubov, one of its literary critics, caused him much anguish. The 

Contemporary, whose editor was N.A. Nekrasov, had initially held liberal views. But by the 

late 1850s, revolutionary critics on the staff, especially Dobroliubov and N.G. Chemyshevky, 

were attacking both liberal writers and writers who owned land or belonged to the 

aristocracy. Soon after the appearance of Dobroliubov's review, Turgenev broke off all 

business relations with the Contemporary. Since On the Eve had been published in the 

Russian Herald, Turgenev arranged for his future work to appear there also. 24 Although 

Mikhail Katkov, its editor, was reactionary in the extreme, at least he did not inject his own 

views into material written by others. 
 
 

23 David Magarshack, Turgenev: A Life (London: Faber and Faber, Ltd., 1954), p. 199. 
24 Leonard Schapiro, Turgenev: His Life and Times (New York: Random House, 1978), pp. 
158-159. 
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Given the strong reactions to this novel, Turgenev must have thought that it might 

distress the youthful Olga. His advice that she first have her mother read the story 

expresses understandable caution on his part. Yet his tone is low-key, and he soon moves 

on to other matters. Turgenev apparently had not revealed to Olga anything of the other 

stresses in his life at that time. His frustration over the cough that prevents his return to St. 

Petersburg "where several different projects demand my attention" gives no clue to the 

particular problem facing him. This problem was the jealous and paranoid attacks upon 

him by the writer Ivan Goncharov. 

 
 

In 1859 Goncharov had written Turgenev to accuse him of stealing material for his 

novel, A Nest of Gentlefolk, from Goncharov's The Precipice. The success of On the Eve made 

Goncharov, already emotionally unbalanced, claim that Turgenev's entire new novel was 

only a bad copy of his own. Turgenev wrote Goncharov a letter demanding arbitration. The 

arbitration took place late in March 1860 (O.S.). The participants, including Turgenev's 

close friend P.V. Annenkov and several literary critics, concluded that both writers drew 

their themes and characters from similar backgrounds. Accordingly, both parties were 

excused of any wrongdoing. 

 
 

Turgenev recognized that the arbitrators had not actually vindicated him. According 

to Annenkov,25 he turned deathly pale, fell back in his armchair, and in a voice shaking with 

emotion, declared to Goncharov that their former friendship and business relations were 

over for good. He then left the room in a state of agitation. 

 
 

Although Turgenev could not have predicted this unhappy outcome more than a 

month in advance, he certainly knew that matters with Goncharov were rapidly coming to a 

head. Yet, in writing Olga he mentions instead the pleasures of Dresden. There he probably 

knew the German musician Adolph Reichel through their mutual friend Alexandr Herzen, 

the Russian writer and revolutionary thinker. 
 
 
 
 
 

25 Magarshack, p. 205 
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The Khilkovs had no permanent commitment to living in Dresden, so they probably 

found it enjoyable for a winter vacation. We do not know the date of the death of Olga's 

father, Prince Dmitri Alexandrovich Khilkov, but Turgenev's interest in working on the 

publication of his papers is understandable. Prince Khilkov, born in 1789, was almost thirty 

years older that Turgenev. A hero at the Battle of Borodino against Napoleon's army in 

1812, he had been awarded the Cross of St. Vladimir by a grateful sovereign. After retiring 
 

from active duty in 1816 with the rank of colonel, he became a lieutenant general in 1826, 

in charge of a division at Tula. In 1827 he held the position of governor of Tula. 26 In 

addition to local government records, his papers may have included interesting material on 

the war against Napoleon. 

 
 

Because Princess Praskovia Dmitrievna Khilkova was ten years older than her sister 

Olga, she might have seemed the obvious person to work on her father's papers. But 

Praskovia is only mentioned in letters by others when she, her mother, and Olga are 

attending the same event or taking a walk together. She played no significant role in 

Turgenev's life. 

 
 

Prince Grigorii Dmitrievich Khilkov, nearly four years older than Olga and on 

friendly terms with Turgenev, had his own responsibilities at this time. As the new head of 

the Khilkov family, he was assuming his deceased father's role in running the estate and 

handling family business. 

 
 

Olga seems to have been the family member with the intelligence and initiative to 

share with Turgenev a rather demanding task. In working on the publication of her father's 

papers, she may have been motivated by a combination of her love for him and her desire 

to face a new challenge. The latter trait becomes more obvious in subsequent letters from 
 

Turgenev. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

26 Nikolai Ikonnikov, La Noblesse de Russie (Paris: 1958), p. 310. 
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2. Commentary on letter of January 19 (31) 1861 
 
 
 

Turgenev wrote at least four letters to Olga Dmitrievna during the period January 31 
 

— May 9, 1861 (N.S.). This is the first of the two that have already been published. 
 
 
 

Turgenev spent the winter of 1860-1861 in Paris, less for pleasure than to help his 

eighteen-year-old daughter Paulinette start a new and more adult life. 

 
 

In 1842 Turgenev had had an illegitimate daughter, christened Pelageia, whose 

mother was a seamstress on the Turgenev estate at Spasskoye. Turgenev's mother, Varvara 

Petrovna Turgeneva, a domineering, intolerant, and almost chronically angry woman, had 

fired the seamstress on learning of her pregnancy.27 Accordingly, Turgenev moved the 

woman to a small apartment in Moscow for the birth of her child. Although his mother later 

allowed the little girl to live at Spasskoye, she treated her harshly and with contempt. 

 
 

During the year following Pelageia's birth, Turgenev met the woman who was to 

become both the one true love of his life and the most important person in it. This was the 

opera singer Pauline Garcia Viardot. Viardot's husband Louis was also to become his good 

friend. 

 
 

So much has been written about this unusual "ménage à trois" that I shall not 
 

discuss it here. But by 1850, Turgenev felt he had to remove his daughter from his mother's 

vicious influence and he appealed to Pauline Viardot for help. She volunteered at once to 

raise Pelageia with her own children on the Viardot estate at Courtavenel, about 35 miles 

from Paris. Living with the Viardots, Pelageia came to be called Paulinette. At first, the child 

may have been happy in her new home. But as the years passed, she came to resent Pauline 

Viardot deeply, in part because she disliked the nature of her father's relationship with this 

woman. 
 

27 "Varvara Petrovna spent her life in a state of furious jealousy and was constantly flying 
into rages." Henri Troyat, Turgenev (New York: E.P. Dutton, 1988), p. 3. 
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During a visit to England in the summer of 1860, Turgenev engaged a Mrs. Mary 

Innis to be Paulinette's governess, and he arranged for them to live in an apartment in 

Paris. At eighteen, his daughter was of marriageable age. Although longing to return to 

Russia, Turgenev considered it his duty to provide for Paulinette honorably and carefully. 

 
 

Turgenev's letter from Paris to Olga Dmitrievna indicates a kind of lethargy born 

probably of boredom and frustration. His guilt feelings seem to stem from not having 

replied to a previous letter from her. Yet he is now addressing Olga more as an adult than 

he did in his first letter, nearly a year before. We learn that she had abilities as a translator, 

although no details are given. Turgenev, however, continues with questions about her 

current occupation. He shows a genuine interest in learning specifically how her life is 

developing and wishes to know if she has spent the first months of winter in a helpful way. 

At the time, the Khilkovs were living in Munich when not at home on their estate at 

Mikhailovskoe. 

 
 

In this letter, Turgenev expresses no active complaints about life in Paris. The 

mention of his "new story" refers to Fathers and Children. His true emotions erupt, 

however, when he writes of his longing to see once more his "beloved district of Mtsensk," 

the district containing his estate at Spasskoye. Spasskoye was about 25 miles from 

Mikhailovskoe (in the district of Novosil), so Turgenev includes Olga when he mentions 

"our kind from the steppes." He knows she will understand. Indeed, his evocation of his 

love for his true home reads almost like poetry. 

 
 

Finally, Turgenev thanks Olga for a photograph, but we do not know what it 

represents. A single posed portrait of her? A group portrait of the Khilkov family? A special 

scene in Munich? We can only guess. 
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3. Commentary on letter of March 5 (17) 1861 
 
 
 

Although Turgenev was in Paris, rather than on his estate at Spasskoye, when Tsar 

Alexander II's manifesto liberating the serfs was announced on 19 February 1861 (O.S.), 

March 3 (N.S.), he experienced enormous joy on learning the news. He had received the 

information in a telegram sent by his close friend Pavel V. Annenkov. 28 A special service 

held in the Russian Orthodox church on the rue Daro to celebrate the event caused him to 

break into tears. 

 
 

Turgenev held high hopes for the future of the serfs. These hopes had already led 

him to draw up an elaborate scheme for a system introducing elementary public education 

in Russia. But his scheme represented only an ideal. The terms of the manifesto freed the 

serfs from the personal power of the landowners. The serfs were to be given individual 

plots of land for which they would have a "temporary obligation." In return for the land, 

they would either repay the estate owners on an annual basis (somewhat like paying dues) 

or they would work for their former owners as possessors of their own plots. These terms, 

however, covered only a two-year period. 

 
 

The details of the manifesto were actually far more complex than Turgenev outlines 

in this letter to Olga Dmitrievna. The emancipation statutes contained twenty-two specific 

and different laws, covering different categories of bondsmen. Of these, the two largest 

groups consisted of the serfs and the state peasants. The latter lived and worked on state - 

owned land. They belonged to village communes responsible for paying taxes and 

performing other duties for the state. 

 
 

After the manifesto, disappointment set in fairly quickly among the serfs. The land 

allotments they received as free men were smaller than the land they had farmed as serfs 

working for estate owners. Following the two-year "temporary obligation," an elaborate 
 

 
 

28 Schapiro, p. 176. 
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system of payments and repayments among the government, the estate owners, and the 

former serfs proved unworkable. For one thing, the payments required from the former 

serfs were far too high, and the payment period was to last forty-nine years.29 But 

Turgenev could not have anticipated these developments, and the joy he expresses is 

undiluted. 

 
 

Although Turgenev sends his greetings to Bodenstedt and Heyse, he has not yet met 

either of them. Friedrich Bodenstedt (1819-1892) was a German poet, critic and translator 

whose work was already known and respected in European literary circles. Fluent in a 

number of languages, Bodenstedt had been professor of Slavic languages at the University 

of Munich between 1854 and 1858. In 1858 he resigned this position in order to become a 

professor of early English literature at the same university. From then on, he focused his 

academic life mainly on translating the works of Shakespeare. Bodenstedt had read 

relatively little of Turgenev's work: two German translations of A Huntsman's Sketches and 

a Russian edition of A Nest of Gentlefolk. In fact, he had read the latter in a special edition 

published by Glazunov in 1859 and belonging to Olga Dmitrievna. She had lent the book to 

her German friend, 30 and it may be that the "personal testimonial" Turgenev mentions in 

this letter represents praise for this novel from the two writers. 

 
 

Paul Heyse (1830-1914) was the author of a large number of novellas and plays. 

Also a translator, he specialized in the works of Italian poets. In 1910 he became the first 

German to receive the Nobel Prize in Literature. 

 
 

According to Rappich, Bodenstedt "undoubtedly knew the Russian author well from 

the accounts of O.D. Khilkova, who harbored a deep respect for Turgenev. Bodenstedt knew 

in advance that Turgenev intended to visit Munich, and he awaited his arrival." 31 The two 

authors were indeed about to meet, later that spring and through the Khilkov family. 
 

29 Michael T. Florinsky, Russia: A Short History (London: The Macmillan Company, Collier- 
Macmillan Ltd., 1969), pp. 302-303. 
30Horst Rappich, "Turgenev and Bodenstedt," in Lituraturnoe Nasledstvo (Moscow: 1964), 
p. 350. 
31 Rappich, p. 333. 
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It is amusing that in two letters to Olga Dmitrievna, written only six weeks apart, 

Turgenev makes the same point about what he calls his foolishness in Munich as a young 

man. In October 1838, the year he mentions in his letter of 19/31 January 1861 to Olga, he 

had enrolled as a student at the University of Berlin. But in May of that year he had left 

Russia to go to Germany. He had completed his undergraduate studies in 1837 at the 

University of St. Petersburg. With no academic commitments in Germany between May and 

October, he may well have traveled in that country as a self-confident young bon vivant. At 

the age of nineteen, he was probably looking for fine restaurants, cafés, and theaters. 

Thoughts of the intellectual life of Munich may never have entered his mind. 

 
 

As in his previous letter to Olga Dmtrievna, Turgenev mentions the monotony of 

Parisian life. But in pointing out to her that “these days are no time for literature,” he 

reveals how much his thoughts and emotions are focusing instead of the emancipation of 

the serfs. 
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4. Commentary on Letter of April 19 (May 1), 1861 
 
 
 

This letter is the first one in the series to reveal Turgenev's lifelong passion for 

hunting. His love of nature and wild animals never prevented him from delighting in long 

walks through the countryside to shoot partridge or rabbits. Having a good hunting dog 

was, of course, vital to this pursuit. Turgenev kept detailed records of his achievements in 

the field, from which one can recognize his excellent marksmanship.32 His short visit to 

Munich represents a stopover on his return to Russia, where he clearly wished to resume 

hunting as soon as possible. 

 
 

As Bodenstedt was to write later to M.I. Semevsky, "It was a great joy for Ivan 

Sergeyevich to encounter in Munich a family from Russia with whom he soon made friends. 

This was Princess Khilkova, with her two daughters, Pelageia33 and Olga, with whom I often 

got together, and who, thanks to an excellent education and a happy outward appearance, 

generally enjoyed great popularity and respect from their acquaintances in Munich, where 

they spent several years following their return from a trip to Italy.”34 

 
 

Bodenstedt's diary entry for May 7, 1861, states: "Turgenev indeed arrived on 

Saturday and was at my place on Sunday, together with Prince Khilkov and his sisters. 

There is nothing in particular to say about the prince, but on the other hand, Turgenev is 

one of the most imposing and pleasant people I have ever met. Sunday evening we called 

on the Khilkovs together and yesterday evening we went to my place; I also invited Sybel, 

Kobell, Melchior Meyer and Carrière, and also Liebich, who, however, could not come.” 35 

Bodenstedt’s own diary entry clearly covers several days. Saturday must have been May 4 
 

32 Troyat, p. 45. 
33 [Translator’s Note.) The name Pelageia does not correspond to the name of the same 
person found in other sources. lkonnikov, in La Noblesse de Russie, lists another daughter, 
Praskovia Dmitrievna, born in 1828. A finely-drawn portrait in my possession is identified 
on the back as being that of Praskovia Khilkova. In a careless moment, Bodenstedt may 
have confused two similar•sounding names. 
34 Russkaya Starina (vol. 5, 1887), p.471. 
35 Rappich, p. 333. 
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and Sunday May 5, the date of the Russian Orthodox Easter in 1861. “Yesterday evening,” 

then refers to Monday, May 6. Sunday may also have been the date of Bodenstedt’s first 

meeting with Prince Grigorii Dmitrievich Khilkov. The latter was living mainly in Russia, 

where he acted as arbitrator at the emancipation of the serfs at Novosil, the district 

containing the Khilkov estate, Michailovskoe. 
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5. Commentary on note of April 23 (May 5), 1961 
 
 
 

Although Turgenev's brief note to Olga Dmitrievna, sent by hand, is undated, it must refer 

to Easter Sunday of 1861, given the dates in Bodenstedt' s diary. Turgenev, basically an 

agnostic, attended church services only rarely. His note does not imply that he himself 

plans to go to church, but rather that he wishes her to know he has arrived in Munich. In 

the Eastern Orthodox Church, the date for Easter is calculated by a different method than 

that used in the western churches. At times the dates coincide, but the Orthodox Easter 

usually follows the western Easter by a few weeks. Since, in the Russian Orthodox Church, 

Easter is celebrated on Saturday evening and the service lasts past midnight, Turgenev 

must have known he had already missed the principal service. 

 
 

The Khilkovs would probably have attended the Easter service at the old 

Salvatorkirche in Salvatorplatz. Built in 1494 as a cemetery chapel attached to the Roman 

Catholic cathedral, in 1829 it became a place of worship in Munich for Eastern Orthodox 

Christians.36 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

36 Blue Guide, Germany (New York: W.W Norton & Company, Inc., 1987), p.93. 
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6. Commentary on letter of April 27 (May 9), 1861 
 
 
 

Although Turgenev's letter of May 1 to Olga Dmitrievna stated that he would be in 

Munich for no longer than two days, in fact he remained there for several days more. 

Arriving on Saturday, May 4, he must have left for Berlin on May 8. Perhaps meeting 

Bodenstedt for the first time and making the acquaintance of several of his friends 

stimulated Turgenev to arrange to get to know some of them a little better. 

 
 

A footnote to this letter in Literaturni Arkhiv remarks that Turgenev asked his daughter 

Paulinette to send Bodenstedt the French translations of his work. The first of two 

collections that he requested from her contained the story Mumu, while the second 

contained The Inn. But among the works of Turgenev translated into German by 

Bodenstedt and published in two volumes (Turgenew's Erzahlungen), one finds neither of 

the above stories.37 

 
 

Following Turgenev's letter of May 9, 1861, almost three years' worth of 

correspondence is missing. Turgenev's next known letter to Olga Dmitrievna is dated 6th 

April 1864. Evidence exists, however, that both parties remained in touch with each other, 

sometimes mainly through mutual friends. Writing to Bodenstedt from Paris on 10/22 

December 1861, Turgenev inquires "Is the Khilkov family still in Munich? If they are, please 
 

be so kind as to remember me to them.”38 
 
 
 

In a long letter to Turgenev, dated Christmas 1861, Bodenstedt writes "Starting a 

detailed discussion [of your literary works] would have to occur too far in the future for me 

at present, all the more because at this minute I do not have them in my hands: two 

volumes are with Princess Olga, who has already reread them for the hundredth time. . 
 

.Princess Khilkova is again spending the winter in Munich. . .I will carefully convey your 
 
 

37 Letter #1073, Literaturni Arkhiv, vol. 3 (Leningrad: 1951), p. 217. 
38 Polnoe Sobranie Sochinenie i Pisem (Moscow-Leningrad: 1962-1963) Vols. IV-VI, I.S. 
Turgenev Pisma, vol. IV, p.311. 
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greetings, although at the Khilkovs you have no need for reminders of yourself, given the 

fact that Princess Olga speaks and thinks only of you, and also reads only you [your 

work]."39 

 
 

In response, Turgenev writes "Be so kind as to send me the address of the Khilkovs; 

I would very much like to renew my correspondence with them. Princess Olga is a person 

as charming as she is well-bred, and I truly hope that she can find a man capable of 

understanding her and making her happy. "40 The letter, written in French, is dated Paris, 

29 December 1861. 
 
 
 

Writing to Bodenstedt from Paris on 12/24 February 1862, Turgenev ends his letter 
 

"I also beg you to pay my respects to the Khilkoff [the French spelling] family.”41 
 
 
 

In the spring of 1862, Princess Olga Dmitrievna Khilkova was married in Munich to 

Alexander Ivanovich Nelidov, an attaché at the Russian legation in Bavaria. Yet marriage 

did not seem to interfere seriously with Olga Dmitrievna's interest in Turgenev and his 

work. Writing to Bodenstedt from Paris on 19/31 October 1862, Turgenev asks him t o 

transmit a message to her: 

 
 

"If you see Mrs. Nelidoff, tell her that I am awaiting an answer to the letter I wrote 

her from Baden. At the same time, I sent her a copy of my most recent novel — Fathers and 

Children. Ask her for it, if you would be interested in reading it — or else I will send you a 

copy from here.”42 

 

About a week later (25 Oct./6 Nov. 1862), Turgenev is writing Bodenstedt chiefly 

about the novels and short stories he hopes Bodenstedt will translate into German. He ends 
 
 

 
39 "Letters of Friedrich Bodenstedt" in Literaturnoe Nasledstvo (Moscow: 1964). 
40 Polnoe Sobranie, vol. IV, p. 319. 
41 Polnoe Sobranie, vol. IV, p. 339. 
42 Polnoe Sobranie, vol. V, p. 62. A footnote to this letter states that Turgenev's letter from 
Baden-Baden, mentioned above, has not yet been found. 
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with the request, "Give Mrs. Nelidoff my regards, if you see her.”43 In the same vein, a letter 

from Turgenev to Bodenstedt, dated 4/16 Nov. 1862, concludes with the message, "I beg 

you to give my best regards to Mr. and Mrs. Nelidoff.”44 By the end of 1865, however, 

Turgenev had still not met Alexander Nelidov. It is not clear just how or when they did 

meet. 

 
 

Several reasons exist for the apparent lack of active correspondence between 

Turgenev and Olga Dmitrievna in 1863. Olga's first child, Dmitri Alexandrovich, was born 

on March 19, 1863, in Munich. That same year, her husband was posted to Athens as 

second secretary of the Russian legation in Greece. As a fairly recently married woman, a 

new mother, and the wife of a member of the diplomatic corps living in another country, 

she had to deal with a new set of responsibilities. Turgenev, however, had not forgotten 

her. A letter from Bodenstedt to Turgenev, dated Munich, 10 May 63, ends with the 

promise: "I will convey your greetings to Mrs. Nelidof [sic] just as soon as my terrible 

headaches permit me to call on her. So far, we have not seen each other since she gave 

birth.”45 

 
 

A letter from Turgenev to Bodenstedt, dated 25 Jan./6 Feb. 1864 in St. Petersburg and sent 

to Munich, ends with the words "Give my very best regards to Mrs. Nelidova and to Heyse. . 

. . “46 In 1864, Alexander Nelidov was second secretary of the Russian legation in Bavaria; 
 

from 1865 through 1870, he served as first secretary of the same legation. In one sense, 

therefore, Olga Dmitrievna was almost back home. Her earlier years in Munich had enabled 

her to establish many friendships there, and she had no need to search for new 

acquaintances. 

 
 

Much had happened in Turgenev's life during the period following his letter of May 
 

9, 1861 to Olga. By then, he had already known Count Leo Tolstoy for six years, but the two 
 

 
 

43 Polnoe Sobranie, vol. V, p. 66. 
44 Polnoe Sobranie, vol. V, p. 72. 
45 "Letters of Friedrich Bodenstedt." 
46 Polnoe Sobranie, vol. V, p. 446. 
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differed totally in almost all their ways. Their relationship quickly became one of quarrels, 

apologies and reconciliations, with still more quarrels to come in a short time. When 

Turgenev returned to Spasskoye in May 1861, he had completed what was to become his 

best-known work, Fathers and Children. An invitation to Tolstoy to dine at Spasskoye and 

examine the unpublished manuscript led to the final furious quarrels that were to end the 

relationship between the two authors. On May 27, 1861, Turgenev wrote Tolstoy a polite 

but uncompromising letter that effectively terminated the friendship. From then on, the 

two men did not see each other for seventeen years. 

 
 

Turgenev completed Fathers and Children at Spasskoye on July 30, 1861 (O.S.). 

Published in the February 1862 issue of the Russian Herald, the novel immediately stirred 

up violent criticism from all sides. Turgenev had hoped to show how the usual gap of 

understanding between generations was widening more and more. On the one hand, the 

younger men, personified by Bazarov, his protagonist, were abandoning their former 

liberalism for scientific materialism and fierce opposition to authority and to the 

established order of values. Love, religion, and tender feelings were to be held in contempt. 

Turgenev used the word "nihilism" to define this new philosophy. He depicted the fathers, 

on the other hand, as remaining true to the ideal of justice and to their love of literature and 
 

the arts. But the sons see them as, at best, useless and totally uncomprehending, even 

though the fathers try to reach out to them. 

 
 

Few of Turgenev's readers understood what he was trying to say. Some 

conservatives praised him, but many attacked him for being too lenient on the young. 

Students, on the other hand, interpreted Bazarov as the representative of a personal attack 

on all of them. They burned photographs of Turgenev in public, insulted him at meetings, 

and accused him of total betrayal. They could not see that Turgenev, in fact, was deeply 

fond of this Bazarov he had created. Even his literary friends with leftist views condemned 

Father and Children as poorly written propaganda. Life in Russia was becoming intolerable 

for Turgenev, and in August 1862 he left for Baden-Baden, where his beloved Pauline 

Viardot and her family were spending the summer. A three-month stay with them helped 

revive him. 
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Meantime, Turgenev's revolutionary friend, the author Alexandr Herzen, had been 

living in London as an emigre and editing a literary journal, The Bell. Right from the start, 

the Russian authorities had condemned The Bell as seditious. Turgenev, while relaxing in 

Baden•Baden, read several articles in this journal with which he totally disagreed. He 

started to prepare a written rebuttal to Herzen's populist and Slavophil ideals, but asked 

Herzen not to reveal his name in the publication. Before Turgenev had time to complete his 

article, however, the Russian authorities suspected something and forbade him to submit 

anything at all to The Bell. Accordingly, he showed Herzen his written pages but gave him 

none of them. A subsequent political debate between Turgenev and Herzen escalated into a 

rift between them in May 1862. But the matter did not end there. 

 
 

In the summer of 1862, a messenger from Herzen carrying to Russia banned books 

and letters had been arrested by the Russian secret police at the Austro-Italian border. 

Turgenev's name had been mentioned in a considerable number of the letters. The 

government viewed him as a friend of Herzen's emigre group, and he became implicated in 

the trial known as the "Case of the Thirty-Two," the term used to define this group. In 

January 1863, during a visit to Paris, Turgenev received an official request to appear before 

a senate committee in St. Petersburg and answer charges that he was helping Herzen and 

his allies. Panicked at first, Turgenev petitioned Tsar Alexandr II to send him a 

questionnaire, on the grounds that he could not leave Paris for health reasons. His appeal 

was granted, and on March 22, 1863, he sent his replies to the questionnaire back to the 

senate. But his answers proved inconclusive and inadequate in the eyes of the committee. 

After three more postponements due to illness, Turgenev finally appeared before the 

senators in January 1864. Although he was called on to testify several times, the committee 

members were polite and cordial on every occasion, thus giving him hope. Before the end 

of January, he was fully exonerated and allowed to leave the country.47 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

47 Yarmolinsky, p. 229. 
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7. Commentary on letter of April 6 (18) 1864 
 
 
 

It is not surprising that Turgenev had forgotten Olga's patronymic. Before her 

marriage, he had had no reason to use it. She was born Princess Olga Khilkova, and 

Turgenev's early letters to her had addressed her simply as "My dear princess." Now she 

was Mrs. Nelidova, to be addressed as Olga Dmitrievna. "Princess" was not a royal title, and 

Olga had married another member of the Russian aristocracy, whose roots went back to a 

boyar family of the sixteenth century. Turgenev's forgetfulness suggests two things: that 

this may have been his first letter to her in the two years since her marriage, and also that 

he had not known her father well, if at all. His first letter in this series (dated February 9, 

1860) expressed his willingness to work with Olga on the publication of her father's 
 

papers. This may indicate that he considered the papers themselves to be of real in terest. 

Had he known Prince Dmitri Alexandrovich Khilkov even slightly, he would have 

remembered his given name, the source of Olga's patronymic. 

 
 

Turgenev had always wanted his daughter Paulinette to have a happy life, even 

though, partly because she was born out of wedlock, he had never wanted her to live with 

him. Paulinette was now twenty-two years old, and it was time for her to get married. 

Turgenev had engaged a kind and socially respectable matchmaker to find her a husband, 

but he also wanted to stay in touch with these proceedings. 

 
 

In this letter to Olga Dmitrievna, Turgenev's mention of his "behavior in Russia" 

must refer to the dignified manner in which he had testified before the senate earlier in the 

year. She had surely learned about the whole matter and, equally surely, admired him all 

the more for his courage and honesty. In recent years, Turgenev had received only scant 

support from many he had thought were his friends. Olga Dmitrievna's expressions of 

affection must indeed "have moved [him] deeply and gladdened” him. 

 
 

Turgenev's short story, Phantoms, appeared in the first issue of Epoch, a new literary 
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journal published by Dostoevsky.48 The narrative bore little resemblance to any of 

Turgenev's previous works. A combination of fantasy, deep pessimism, and even self- 

despising, it was not a "trifle," as he tells Olga. Indeed, the story seemed to reflect his 

personal disappointment in himself and his own life. Critics have generally agreed that 

Phantoms did not represent Turgenev's writing at its best. Yet on 1/13 June 1864, 

Turgenev wrote to Bodenstedt ". . .I have just received a letter from Mrs. Nelidova from 

Kissingen: she speaks to me at length about you and, among other things, about your 

intention to translate my most recent work, "Phantoms."49 

 
 

Since Turgenev had spent relatively little time in Russia in 1863 or early 1864, he 

could not have evaluated the condition of the serfs, "our compatriots," in any detail. In 

stating that "things are clearly moving toward the establishment of a constitutional 

monarchy," he expresses more hope than the political situation warranted. As mentioned 

here earlier, the emancipation of the serfs also created serious new problems for them. A 

large number of agrarian disturbances erupted not long after emancipation was declared. 

Turgenev may have been thinking about a new law, enacted in January 1864, that 

established the so-called zemstvo system. This system provided institutions of self• 

government, zemstvo assemblies and boards, at both the district and the provincial levels. 

Although the zemstvos helped to meet the needs for education and medical treatment, the 

voting system was weighted heavily in favor of the gentry.50 Russia remained an autocracy; 

it did not become a constitutional monarchy. 

 
 

Although Turgenev wrote this particular letter from Paris, he had already 

established his permanent residence in Baden-Baden. Early in 1863, the Viardot family had 

moved from Courtavenel to Baden-Baden. Turgenev visited Baden-Baden in May 1863 and 

decided to settle there also. He rented a furnished apartment with the intention of buying 

land and building a villa. In 1864, following his exoneration in his senate trial on January 
 

 
 

48 Troyat, p. 85. 
49 Rappich, p. 340. 
50Nicholas V. Riasanovsky, A History of Russia (New York: Oxford University Press, 1984) 
pp. 374-376. 
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28, he soon returned to Baden-Baden. The Viardots had moved there in part because 
 

Pauline's voice was starting to deteriorate, and she decided to leave the Paris Opera. 51 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

51 Schapiro, p. 191. 
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8. Commentary on letter of July 14, 1864 
 
 
 

This letter marks the first time that Turgenev mentions any original writing by Olga 

Dmitrievna. Olga's story is probably a work in progress, because Turgenev's next letter, 

written in December 1865, congratulates her on finishing her novel. The Nelidovs must 

have been taking a summer vacation in Heidelberg, since their residence was still in 

Munich. It is amusing to speculate on what Turgenev has in mind when he states that 

"every woman either creates or writes her own love story. " Is this an either /or situation? 

 
 

A few weeks earlier, in June 1864, Turgenev had bought a seven- or eight-acre piece 

of land in Baden-Baden. He planned to build a rather elaborate villa, complete with a small 

theater, large, airy rooms, and a terrace. Pauline Viardot had started giving music lessons to 

both children and adults; one purpose of the theater was to enable her to mount 

performances of any kind she wished. 

 
 

This building project was to prove both more time-consuming and far more 

expensive than Turgenev had anticipated. In terms of cost, he soon realized that he did not 

have the money to pay for it. Accordingly, he instructed his uncle, Nikolai Turgenev, who 

managed his estate at Spasskoye, to sell all the land he could and at any price.52 Turgenev's 

uncle actually managed the estate poorly and in an inefficient way. Turgenev himself 

visited Spasskoye so rarely that he was slow to realize that he was entitled to government 
 

compensation as a former serf owner. Such compensation had been one of the terms of the 
 

Emancipation Act, but Turgenev had probably not read all the details of these new laws. 53 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

52 Troyat, p. 86 
53 Schapiro, p. 194. 
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9. Commentary on letter of December 27 (January 8), 1985-1866 
 
 
 

In Russia, as in western Europe, a female author had to overcome many obstacles in 

order to get her work published. Here, Turgenev shows at once that he fully recognizes the 

difficulties facing Olga Dmitrievna. His active encouragement and his promise to read and 

evaluate her manuscript must have cheered her considerably. As will be evident in later 

letters, he does indeed criticize her work very directly, although never in an unkind way. 

 
 

It is unclear why Turgenev found it "out of the question" to travel the 170 miles 

from Baden-Baden to Munich for the next two or three months. Perhaps he simply could 

not afford to take the trip. At this time (and frequently in the years to come), Turgenev w as 

dealing with serious financial problems. Most of his funds were going to the construction of 

his new villa, whose costs far exceeded his expectations. 

 
 

The wedding of Turgenev's daughter Paulinette had also proved to be a major 

expense. Paulinette had finally found the man she wanted to marry. Gaston Bruere, a glass 

manufacturer, struck Turgenev as a responsible person, and he was happy for his daughter. 

The marriage took place in Paris on February 25, 1865, but Turgenev had been obliged to 

ask the Viardots to lend him the money for her dowry.54 

 
 

Although Turgenev tells Olga that he is "not writing anything," he had in fact begun 

the actual writing of Smoke just a month earlier. Smoke, another major novel, was not 

published until 1867. Turgenev had first conceived the plot and characters in 1862, but he 

worked on the novel only intermittently before November 1865.55 

 
 

Turgenev also makes no mention here of his short story Enough, which had been 

published in 1865 as a new work in his Collected Works. Enough, subtitled Fragments from 

the Notes of a Dead Artist, expressed absolute and total despair. Yet here Turgenev's writing 
 

54 Troyat, p. 86 
55 Yarmolinsky, p. 397 



 

 70 

lacked vitality; it seemed flat and incapable of describing genuine sorrow. The story was 

too personal and too subjective for the writing to carry weight. Enough received bad press 

in Russia, and even Turgenev's friends could find little good to say about it. 56 

 
 

Turgenev's reference to "wailing from the village" seems to indicate that he now had 

a more realistic view of the impact on the serfs of the Emancipation Act of 1861. He no 

longer has thoughts of the "constitutional monarchy" that he envisaged in his letter of 6 

April 1864. 
 
 
 

In recommending that Olga Dmitrievna read Quinet's La Revolution, Turgenev reveals that 

he can still appreciate radical views, even those he cannot share. Edgar Quinet (1803 -1875) 

was a French political activist and historian who made a genuine contribution to the 

developing tradition of liberalism in France. At the age of seventeen, he gave up the 

Protestant faith of his mother and was attracted to German philosophy, although Prussian 

militarism alarmed him. His growing radical opinions also alienated him from Roman 

Catholicism. As a professor at the College de France in Paris, he lectured against Roman 

Catholicism and presented his theory that religions were the determining forces in society. 

The university fired him in 1846. Two years later, Quinet manned the barricades in the 

February Revolution that brought down King Louis-Philippe and established the Second 

Republic. But in 1852, when Napoleon III came to power as Emperor, Quinet was banished 

from France. He fled to Switzerland, where he remained until 1870. In 1865, he wrote La 

Revolution in which he sympathized with the use of force against an all-powerful church. 

Turgenev had probably just finished reading this book when he recommended it to Olga 

Dmitrievna. As he said, it was indeed a very long work, and it called for an intelligent and 

interested reader. In believing that La Revolution would appeal to Olga Dmitrievna, 

Turgenev indicates that he and Olga shared some sophisticated views that he probably did 

not share with many other twenty-seven-year-old women. 

 
 
Although Turgenev sends his best regards to Olga's husband, whom he has not yet met, he 

 

 
 

56 Schapiro, p. 208 
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makes no mention of the birth of her second son. Ivan Aleksandrovich Nelidov was born in 

Munich on July 28, 1865, so he was still only five months old at the time of Turgenev's 

letter. But it seems likely that Turgenev had already sent Olga Dmitrievna a message about 

Ivan's birth through one of their mutual friends. 
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10. Commentary on letter of February 28, 1866 
 
 
 

Two months after his most recent letter, Turgenev has clearly made a serious effort 

to evaluate Olga Dmitrievna's novel, The Mermaid. The letter from Olga to which Turgenev 

refers is probably lost, so we do not know into what categories she had suggested p lacing 

her work. Most likely, she saw her novel as the product of a new and imaginative author. At 

any rate, Turgenev considers her work worthy of publication, because he recommends two 

publishers with whom he has already established business relationships. In calling Katkov 

"capricious," Turgenev does not reveal his thorough dislike of this man. As mentioned here 

earlier, Katkov was a true reactionary in his political views, but he did not impose these 

views on his authors. Annenkov, in contrast, was a dear and lifelong friend. More than a 

year before his death, Turgenev appointed Annenkov as his trustee and literary executor. 

 
 

Olga Dmitrievna has evidently written an unusually dramatic work. Turgenev shows 

his complete honestly toward her in advising her to rewrite her novel. With two tirades 

about fires and a hero who starts to break trees, this new author needs to calm down a 

little. Turgenev's reference to Ludovico Ariosto's early-sixteenth-century epic poem 
 

Orlando Furiouso (Orlando the Frenzied) indicates that Olga has indeed created a most 

forceful hero. Ariosto's Orlando is the glorious and powerful leader in a war between 

Christians and pagans, whose passionate love for Angelica spurs him on mighty deeds. 

Olga's hero, on the other hand, needs to come down to earth. 

 
 

The year 1866 was a relatively quiet one for Turgenev. He worked intermittently on 

his novel, Smoke, but could not fully rid himself of the depression to which he was so often 

prone. Very sensitive to the critical opinions of others, he felt deeply wounded by the many 

attacks on his work, especially the attacks on Fathers and Children. Constantly short of 

money, he continued to worry about the mounting cost of building his villa. He was also 

starting to believe that his creative life had ended, that he no longer had a literary future of 
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any kind.57 
 
 
 

Olga Dmitrievna had probably become aware of his mood, but had failed to 

understand it. In mentioning his "indifference to everything on earth," she seems to have 

interpreted these words as a loss of feeling and concern for her. Hence his reassurance that 

she occupies one of the first places among his "friends of old." 

 
 

Olga Dmitrievna 's "long journey" almost certainly referred to her planned visit to 

her family's home at Mikhailovskoe (in Novosil), about twelve hundred miles east of 

Munich. But Turgenev's letter of 7/19 July 1866 reveals that her younger son, Ivan, not yet 

one year old, has been ill and that his illness has delayed his mother's departure for Russia 

for about four months. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

57 Troyat, p. 87 
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11. Commentary on note dated only Friday, 7 in the evening 
 
 
 

In his letter of 27 December 1865, Turgenev had stated that his visiting Munich would be 

out of the question for the next two or three months. His letter of 28 February 1866 

mentioned that he did not know if he would be going to Munich in the spring. The same 

letter also advised Olga Dmitrievna to rewrite sections of her manuscript. 

 
 

It seems likely, therefore, that early in the spring of 1866 Olga Dmitrievna took the fairly 

short trip from Munich to Baden-Baden to spend a few days reading her revised novel to 

Turgenev. We know that her younger son, Ivan became quite seriously ill in the spring of 

1866. Accordingly, we must assume that he was still healthy when Olga Dmitrievna left 
 

home for a few days. Turgenev's Friday evening mention of Olga's departure at half past 

nine the next day also suggests that she stayed only briefly in Baden-Baden. 

 
 
Turgenev's expression of regret that he will miss hearing the end of her story implies that 

he has heard everything up to the end. Indeed, as he says, he "knows it so will that [heJ can 

recommend it to Katkov in good conscience." So Turgenev has made the Russian Herald his 

first choice fur Olga's novel, as he more or less indicated in his letter of February 28. 
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11a. Commentary on undated letter to Mikhail Katkov (second page missing) 
 
 
 

Mikhail Nikiforovich Katkov (1818-1887), editor of the Russian Herald, belonged to 

the small but influential group whose ultranationalistic policies had an effect on late- 

nineteenth-century government policies. Strongly anti-Semitic, Katkov was also among 

those who fomented militant nationalism at all levels of society. This nationalism accepted 

Russian Orthodoxy as the only religion. It led to the persecution not only of Jews but of 

Roman Catholics, Protestants, and Muslims as well. 

 
 

These ultranationalists did not represent either the nobility or the upper levels of 

the bureaucracy, and at first their influence was minor. But a Jewish woman, Jessie 

Helfman, was one of the participants in the murder of Alexander II in 1881. This fact greatly 

strengthened the influence of the anti-Semites in government affairs.58 In 1866, the year of 

this letter from Turgenev, Katkov and his allies held relatively little power. Although is has 

already been mentioned here that Turgenev heartily disliked Katkov, he obviously cou ld 

not predict the range of Katkov's activities in the years to come. 
 
 
 

The last page of Turgenev's letter to Katkov is missing here, but Turgenev has 

already expressed what he had in mind. He does not try to heap praise on Olga 

Dmitrievna's "story," and he points out its deficiencies. While appealing to Katkov's interest 

in discovering a talented new writer, Turgenev also mentions the personal gratitude he will 

feel when Olga's novel appears in the Russian Herald. 

 
 

Turgenev's suggestion that the author receive "at least a small remuneration" is 

probably made to help disguise Olga's identity. She was not in need of money, and 

Turgenev had already told her not to expect it on her first try. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

58 Florinsky, pp. 33021-317 
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12. Commentary on letter of July 7 (19), 1866 
 
 
 

Olga Dmitrievna's "continuing silence" probably reflected in part her need to care 

for her younger son, Ivan, who had been ill for several months. (See commentary on letter 

of 28 February 1866.) Here Turgenev is quick to express his concern and sympathy for 

Olga, who must also keep an eye on three-year-old Dmitri. Although she undoubtedly had a 

nurse to help with the boys, her duties as wife and mother cut down on her time for letter 

writing. 

 
 

In mentioning "these times of war," Turgenev had in mind the Austrian-Prussian 

war of 1866. It took place in June and July, concluding with a Prussian victory. The 

armistice was signed on August 2, 1866. Bavaria fought on Austria's side, and so 

Turgenev's mild anxiety about a friend leaving Munich, the capital of Bavaria, for Russia 

was understandable. Although the trip probably would not have required passing through 

Austria, the travelers might possibly have spent some time in a war zone. 

 
 

From Turgenev's advice on the procedure Olga Dmitrievna should follow in 

submitting her novel to Notes of the Homeland, we can assume that Mikhail Katkov rejected 

it for publication in the Russian Herald. Olga's decision to use a pseudonym indicated her 

desire not to be identified as a woman. Turgenev's letter of 27 December 1865 had already 

expressed his admiration for the "literary truth and feminine resoluteness" that a female 

author needs and that Olga displays. In Russia, as in western Europe, women writers 

commanded little respect from publishers. The contemporary English author Mary Ann 

Evans wrote under the name George Eliot, while in France the novelist Amandine Aurore 

Lucie Dupin used the pseudonym George Sand. 

 
 

The "enclosed letter" to Duduishkin is not contained in this file. 
 
 
 

In advising Olga Dmitrievna to choose a simple pseudonym, Turgenev makes two 

suggestions: her own initials or Nestor. Nestor, a monk in a Kiev monastery who died ca. 
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1115, was known as a Russian chronicler. He had written biographies of two early Russian 

saints, Boris and Gleb, and his name may have become almost the symbol of a writer. One 

of Olga's suggestions for her pseudonym, "Oak," must have seemed fairly logical to her. She 

was to inherit, in the 1890's, the estate of Khoutor Duby (The Oak Farmhouse), a part of the 

large property at Mikhailovskoe. 

 
 

"Zukunftsmusik," a word still in use in German, means daydreams or pipe dreams. 

Turgenev's reference to Charles Nodier (1770-1844) ties in well with this word. Nodier 

was the first of the French Romantic writers. Although his books enjoyed great popularity 

in the nineteenth century, later generations of readers have found them too illusory or 

fantastic. Yet Nodier paved the way for such later Romantic authors as Victor Hugo (1801 - 

1885). 
 
 
 

Turgenev's mention of his writing a novel refers to Smoke, which he had started in 
 

November 1865 but worked on only sporadically. 
 
 
 

Even today, Turgenev's advice to Olga Dmitrievna on the essentials of good writing 

could almost be required reading for both students and experienced writers. To comment 

on this section of the letter would be to do it disservice. 

 
 

As for Olga Dmitrievna's "kind reproaches," one finds them mentioned in several of 

Turgenev's letters. She seems to have kept urging him to buckle down and write. Althou gh 

Turgenev was prone to severe depression, he never spells this out in his letters to Olga 

Dmitrievna. 
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13. Commentary on letter of November 22 (December 4), 1866 
 
 
 

Here, a rather frustrated Turgenev mentions at once the inadequacy of Olga 

Dmitrievna' s return address. Mikhailovskoe village was in the district of Novosil, in the 

providence of Tula. Olga Dmitrievna' s brother, Prince Grigorii Dmitrievich Khilkov, had 

served as arbitrator in the procedures involving the emancipation of the serfs at 

Novosil during the early 1860s. So it is tempting to assume that those in charge of the mail 
 

at Novosil must have known that the prince lived at Mikhailovskoe, and would have 

delivered a letter to his sister there. But Turgenev makes no such assumption, so the loc al 

postal system may have operated in ways we do not know. Turgenev's next letter to Olga 

(8/20 February 1867) expresses almost exactly the same complaint about her return 

address in Starnberg. Perhaps Turgenev's passion for accuracy in a mailing address 

reflected some unhappy experiences with lost letters. 

 
 

Turgenev's ability to understand and empathize with the feelings of a young woman 

twenty years younger than he becomes readily apparent in this letter. While never 

rejecting his native Russia, Turgenev always felt more at home in western Europe. When he 
 

visited his estate at Spasskoe, he was free to do as he wished, most likely to go hunting, his 

favorite sport. No family members required his care. Yet he could appreciate the situation 

of a twenty-eight-year-old mother of two small boys, obliged to give up her friends and the 

stimulating life of Munich for an isolated life in the country. 
 

 
 

Enough, already discussed in connection with Turgenev's letter of 27 December 
J 

1865, had not actually been mentioned by him in previous letters to Olga. The story's 
 

expression of complete and unremitting despair could hardly have cheered an already 

despondent Olga. Written at intervals between 1862 and 1864, Enough consists of fourteen 

paragraphs of remembrances of a deeply unhappy life.59 Its theme is the helplessness of 

human beings and all other living creatures in the face of Nature, which is both creative and 
 

 
 

59 Schapiro, p. 208. 
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destructive. Nature cannot be resisted and nothing will survive, so why continue to live? 

Best simply to say "Enough!" 

 
 

Turgenev easily recognizes Olga's "confusion" on reading this story and wants to 

reassure her that it does not represent his current state of mind. He admits that his own 

emotions were reflected too strongly when he wrote Enough. 

 
 

The important novel he is finishing is Smoke, which was to be published in the 
 

March 1867 issue of the Russian Herald. Turgenev had mentioned this in his letter of 7/19 
 

July 1866. In saying "Some will laugh at me. . . " he reveals that he has not forgotten the 

open hostility shown by many to both On the Eve and Fathers and Children. Turgenev, 

acknowledged even by his enemies to be the most gentle and generous of men, could never 

fully understand the viciousness of many of his critics. Here the main difficulty lay in his 

ability both to understand and to portray both sides of an issue. He never had a spiteful 

word for any of his critics, although he could be, and often was, deeply hurt. The French 

words "qui a bu, boira" translate as "he who has drunk will drink [again]." Perhaps he 

meant that those who had already read his novels would also read this new one. 

 
 

All along, Turgenev has been trying to help Olga Dmitrievna publish her novel. Now 

he has written to his friend Pavel Annenkov, and he expresses his own desire to see her 

work in print. Yet he is totally honest with Olga. Although the publication of her novel 

would provide her with helpful momentum to keep on writing, Turgenev admits he cannot 

be certain that she has the qualifications to become a first-rate writer. It remains to be seen 

if she has "the shaping element" (the translation of the German "das formende Elem ent"). 

 
 

Turgenev had already established a pattern of not revealing to Olga any of the truly 

distressing events in his own life. When he states that his house is ready but he will not 

move in until the spring, he gives no reason for this. Perhaps he would have felt humiliated 

if he had told her, but the truth was that he simply had no money with which to buy 

furnishings of any kind. His uncle was doing a terrible job of managing his estate at 

Spasskoye, so he could not order money from home. The cost of building his new villa was 
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vastly greater than he had expected and, to put it bluntly, he was broke. But he does not 

want to upset Olga by writing about his own personal difficulties. 

 
 

Again, Turgenev ends his letter on a warm and affectionate note. He hopes to see 

Olga before too long, he does not want her to worry, and he wants them to remain in touch. 

Most of all, he wants her to keep in mind that he is as fond of her as a member of her family 

could be. 
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14. Commentary on letter of February 8 (20),1867 
 
 
 

Just as Turgenev had previously told Olga Dmitrievna that his feelings toward her 

were those of a blood relative, so here he reinforces the point by addressing her as "my 

dear 'niece'." There is no reason to question the lengthy attack of gout that renders him 

helpless, but the reader should keep in mind that Turgenev had long had a reputation as a 

hypochondriac.60 Other than suffering from recurrent periods of gout, Turgenev incurred 

no major illnesses before his death in 1883 of cancer of the spinal cord. 

 
 

Turgenev's uncle Nikolai Nikolaevich, who had managed the estate at Spasskoye 

since the mid-1850s, was proving more and more incapable of handling administrative 

matters. Furthermore, he placed no faith in the emancipation of the serfs, and did all he 

could to stymie his nephew 's orders concerning the specific allocations of land to the 

former serfs. His mismanagement at Spasskoye had been the reason why, over the years, 

Turgenev had received so little income from his estate. Late in 1866, Turgenev decided to 

pension off his uncle and replace him with one N. A. Kishinsky, an estate manager 

recommended by his friend Annenkov. 

 
 

Unfortunately, Uncle Nikolai had come to think of himself as the owner of Spasskoye, 

and he believed that his nephew Ivan was mistreating him. Kishinsky arrived at Spasskoye 

in January 1867, but Nikolai Nikolaevich refused to leave. He had temper tantrums and fits 

of weeping, locked himself in his room, called Kishinsky a nihilist, accused Turgenev of 

ruining him, and paid no attention whatsoever to letters from his nephew. In March 1867, 

after a visit to Moscow, Turgenev set out for Spasskoye to settle things once and for all. En 

route, however, he had an attack of bronchitis that today would be called psychosomatic. 

But it caused him to return to Moscow for his recovery. Once recovered, he left for Baden-

Baden, and in May he asked his uncle, in very clear terms, to leave the 

premises. 
 

60 Yarmolinsky, pp. 137, 162. 



 

 82 

 
 

One could say that Nikolai Nikolaevich had the last word. In 1856, Turgenev had 

given his uncle two promissory notes for 10,500 rubles each, to be presented only after his 

own death. This agreement, however, had never been put in writing. When Nikolai 

Nikolaevich finally left Spasskoe, Turgenev discovered that he had already presented one of 

the promissory notes and also imposed a lien on the property. In addition, he was 

demanding 6,000 rubles, which, he claimed, represented his children's capital spent on the 

estate. In all, he was insisting on payment to him of 28,000 rubles. After lengthy 

negotiations in which Turgenev's friend Borisov helped him, Nikolai Nikolaevich agreed to 

accept 20,000 rubles as final payment. Turgenev was left deeply in debt. To make matters 

worse, Kishinsky had to inform him that the estate was in such a shambles that it could not 

generate income for quite some time.61 

 
 
Estate matters had not yet reached this unhappy conclusion when Turgenev wrote to Olga, 

but he does make it clear to her that he must be at Spasskoye just as soon as possible and 

the reason why. Yet he focuses on his wish to see her, even if only for a short time, to try to 

provide the friendly support she needs. We do not know if Olga herself had used the 

German expression "geht schlecht, sehr schlecht" in her letter to Turgenev, or if he chose it 

as his own understanding of her state of mind. The translation, that "things are going badly, 

very badly" sounds like an appeal for help. 

 
 

Although Turgenev wishes to do whatever he can to encourage Olga, his own self- 

doubt becomes apparent here for the first time. He fears that his writing will become so 

sharp and bitter that no one will choose to read his work. When he has alienated all his 

readers, he will then cease to write. He does not realize that his presentation, through his 

characters, of both or all sides of a conflict has angered many readers. His novels have no 

clearly good or clearly evil people, and he himself espouses no special political cause. There 

is no one either to hate or to cheer for. Perhaps that was why he was often accused of being 

a Westernizer, not a true Russian, an accusation that pained him deeply. 
 

 
 

61 Yarmolinsky p. 263. 
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This particular letter does not appear to have been written all at the same time. 

Shortly after Turgenev has expressed his hope to have a little talk with Olga Dmitrievna to 

learn why things are going badly for her, he states his pleasure in learning that she is 

healthy and cheerful. In addition, he again mentions his gout, but as if for the first time. Yet 

the letter itself contains no page breaks. Perhaps Turgenev was interrupted while writing 

and finished the letter in haste at a later time or date. 

 
 

Turgenev complains once more about the inadequacy of Olga 's return address, 

much as he did in his previous letter (22 Nov./4 Dec. 1866). Bu t his ignorance of even the 

existence of Starnberg should not be surprising. As he had informed Olga Dmitrievna in his 

letter of 5/17 March 1861, he had not visited Munich since his student days in 1838. 

Starnberg, only fifteen miles south of Munich, had not been on his itinerary. 

 
 

Yet Starnberg, located on the Starnberger See, Bavaria's second largest lake, was one 

of Europe's first resort towns. It became popular among the Bavarian nobility in the 

seventeenth century, when the Elector Ferdinand Maria and his wife gave lavish parties for 

hundreds of guests aboard their ship on the lake. Starnberg and its beautiful surroundings 

inspired members of the aristocracy to build elaborate summer homes there. Starnberg 

remains today an active and attractive tourist resort.62 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

62 Fodor's Germany 1993 (New York: Fodor's Travel Publications, Inc.), p. 118 
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15. Commentary on letter of December 2 1867 
 
 

Although the first page of this letter is missing, the letter itself contains enough 

information for accurate chronological placement in terms of this correspondence. 

Turgenev is writing from Baden-Baden, and his postscript indicates that he is living in 

his usual apartment, which has been renumbered. Smoke, published in March 1867 in 

the Russian Herald, has been in print long enough for reader reactions from many 

quarters. 

 
 

The first complete sentence in this letter refers to Turgenev’s attack of gout “last 

winter” and states that “this winter” he injured his knee badly while hunting. The next 

letter in this series is dated 5/17 December 1867, so “this winter” probably refers to a 

date in November [or early December] 1867. 

 
 

At the time, Olga Dmitrievna’s husband Aleksandr held a diplomatic post at the 

Russian legation in Munich, and she and her two sons were visiting Heidelberg that 

winter. The beauty of Heidelberg, a holy mountain site for the Celts in the pre-Christian 

era, had attracted for centuries artists in all fields. Boasting one of the oldest 

universities in Europe, Heidelberg continues to appeal to students and tourists. Since 

Heidelberg is located only about forty miles from Baden-Baden, Turgenev probably 

found the trip there easy, both in terms of time and of cost. 

 
 

Turgenev had encountered much resistance to Smoke from Mikhail Katkov, the 

editor of the Russian Herald. Although Smoke was set in Baden-Baden, all its characters 

were Russians. In addition, the novel was a roman à clef, with each portrayal depicting 

a real and fairly well-known person. The principal characters fell into two groups: 

stingy, reactionary, and self-absorbed members of the aristocracy, and young radicals 

who scorned European culture and practically worshipped Slavic mysticism as a cult. 

Turgenev believed that both groups were in the process of demolishing Russia. Smoke 

represented his best effort to urge that individual Russians drop their loyalties to 
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destructive ideals and, instead, work together to create civilization in Russia. Potugin, 

the protagonist in Smoke, plays only a small part in its love-triangle plot; rather, he acts 

as a stand-in for Turgenev’s personal views. 

 
 

Katkov, ever the reactionary, was appalled and angered by the way in which 

Turgenev’s representations of army generals and a woman of the nobility strayed so far 

from any customary ideal. He wanted drastic changes in the manuscript, but succeeded 

only in a few minor cases. As Turgenev points out here to Olga Dmitrievna, he restored 

from Katkov’s cuts the biographical sketch of General Ratmirov, a self-satisfied snob, 

based on a actual military officer. 

 
 

The title Smoke came from the unhappy ruminations of the hero, Litvinov, who 

has just learned that the married woman he loves and who had agreed to elope with 

him, had changed her mind. On the train from Baden-Baden to Russia, he observes 

smoke from the locomotive being blown and swirled around on the platform. “Smoke, 

smoke. . .” he tells himself. Everything in the world, including human life and activities, 

and especially everything Russian, somehow rushes around and yet never really 

changes. Nothing is ever truly accomplished. 

 
 

Smoke received immediate rejection from all sides. Conservatives resented 

Turgenev’s unflattering depiction of the nobility. Slavophiles accused him of attacking 

his own country, and radical students viewed him as a doddering, out-of-touch old 

man. (Turgenev had not yet reached the age of forty-nine.) 

 
 

We know from Turgenev’s letter to Katkov in this series that he had 

recommended the publication of Olga Dmitrievna’s novel in the Russian Herald. Katkov 

must have rejected her manuscript, because Turgenev’s letter of 7/19 July 1866 to Olga 

advised her that the editor of Notes of the Homeland might wish to publish her work. 

We do not know if she ever met Katkov. But she clearly knew that Turgenev’s beliefs 
 

and philosophy were opposed to those of Katkov, and she was also aware of the degree 

of hostility toward Turgenev that Smoke had generated. When he writes here “Let our 
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patriots be even more angry at me,” he hints at the deep hurt he is suffering from the 

accusations hurled at him. But he knows too that Olga understands and sympathizes 

with him. 

 
 

It is interesting that Olga has asked for copies of both Smoke and Enough. 

Turgenev’s letter of 22 Nov. (4 Dec.) 1966 had acknowledged that Enough had led her 

in vain into some confusion, and that he was suffering from depression when he wrote 

it. Yet she still wishes to have her own copy. 

 
 

Smoke did result in one satisfying event. In 1862, Turgenev had temporarily 

ended his friendship with Aleksandr Herzen, the Russian revolutionary living in exile, 

although he had never totally rejected him. In May 1867, he renewed contact with 

Herzen and sent him a copy of Smoke. Herzen’s reply to Turgenev was less than 

flattering—he found Potugin’s speeches boring—but the ice between the friends had 

been broken. Their correspondence resumed once more. 

 
 

Smoke also contributed to the fairly dramatic ending of another relationship, one 

that had never actually been close. Fyodor Dostoevsky had always envied Turgenev his 

charm and his social position, even though Dostoevsky’s literary journal Epoch had 

published Turgenev’s Phantoms. But at times Dostoevsky’s feelings toward Turgenev 

verged on paranoia, and he attacked Smoke in print with all the venom at his command. 

On July 10, 1867, however, Dostoevsky was visiting Baden-Baden, and he decided to 

call on Turgenev. Almost at once, Dostoevsky taunted Turgenev about the poor reviews 

of Smoke. Turgenev, who found Dostoevsky’s Slavophile attitude extremely annoying, 

told him that poor reviews did not bother him. The verbal fight that ensued marked the 

end of any kind of future relationship between the two authors. 
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16. Commentary on letter of December 17, 1867 
 
 
 

Thjs note confirms Turgenev’s plans for his visit to Heidelberg and expresses the 

pleasure he anticipates on seeing Olga Dmitrievna. We have no information about the 

illness that apparently is troubling her. Turgenev’s advice that Olga be more careful 

provides no clue, because if she had contracted a contagious disease such as influenza, 

it is difficult to see how being more careful could help her. The concept of allergies was 

not introduced into medicine until 1906, so being “careful” could not have meant 

avoiding certain foods, drugs, or pollens. Turgenev’s statement of hope that Olga’s 

illness will soon pass suggests that no chronic condition is involved. 
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17. Commentary on the letter of February 17, 1868 
 
 
 

In none of the letters in this series does Turgenev reveal, much less discuss, any of 

his own sorrows or anxieties. He has touched once on his need to make money, but 

almost as if in passing. Yet at the time of this letter he had been in such several financial 

straits that was obliged to sell his still unfinished villa in Baden-Baden to Louis Viardot, 

the husband of his beloved Pauline. He completed the sale on January 27, 1868, only 

three weeks before writing to Olga Dmitrievna, but he makes no mention to her of this 

important event in his life, the loss of his own home. On April 17, 1868, he moved as a 

rent-paying tenant into the villa he had been building so carefully. 

 
 

Although we have seen in several of Turgenev’s earlier letters to Olga Dmitrievna 

sarcastic comments about the French in general, by early 1868 Turgenev had made 

close friends with a number of French writers. Prominent among these was Gustave 

Flaubert, whom he had first met at a literary dinner in 1863. Turgenev’s work had 

always been admired in France, and the French were praising Smoke at a time when 

Russians of every political view were rejecting it. The reason for the particular trip to 

Paris that Turgenev mentions here, however, must have been strictly business. He was 

in no position to spend money for pleasure only. 

 
 

We know nothing about Olga Dmitrievna’s question concerning Prince Gorchakov. The 

Gorchakovs were an old family of the Russian nobility, and several family members had 

held prominent positions as statesmen and foreign envoys. Olga may have been 

referring to Prince Aleksandr Mikhailovich Gorchakov, born in 1798. Growing up in St. 

Petersburg in a cosmopolitan atmosphere, Gorchakov entered the diplomatic service in 

1817. He later served in several Russian embassies in western Europe and was 
 

appointed foreign minister in 1856. In 1866 Tsar Aleksandr II named him imperial 

chancellor. He retained both these positions until shortly before his death in 1883, in 

Baden-Baden. During the 1860s, he was active in conducting diplomacy with France 

and Prussia. Prince Aleksandr Gorchakov might well have been visiting Baden -Baden in 
 

1868, but so also might other princes of the Gorchakov family. 
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Despite Turgenev’s second reference to Olga Dmitrievna’s poor health (see his 

letter of 17 December 1867), we still know nothing about her illness. More important is 

the fact that she is writing once more. Although The Mermaid, the story she completed 

in 1866, found no publisher, it is clear that she has not abandoned her literary hopes. 

As in the past, Turgenev provides the writing advice Olga needs, in addition to his 
 

personal support. The German saying he quotes can be translated as “Every bird sings 
 

in its own time as its beak grows.” Perhaps a way of saying “Your time will come too.” 
 
 
 

That Turgenev had “basically no idea about when we fast” is not surprising. 

Although he refers here to Christian fasting during the forty days of Lent, he had little 

interest in the customs of the Church and did not pretend to be a regular church-goer. 

The unusually beautiful Russian Orthodox Easter service might well have appealed to 

Turgenev’s love of music and pageantry, but he did not find Easter itself particularly 

significant. 
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Jl:E06e3Hettrua.R: KHR)KHa, 

KaK R rrepe.ll BaMM BMHOBaT - 3TOrO, JIOJlararo, HM B CK.a3Ke 

CK.a3aTb, HM rrepoM OJIMCaTb HeB03MO)KH0. OcraeTC.R: MHe B03Jl0)K).{Tb 

yrroBaHwe Ha Barue BeJlMKO.llyruwe w rrorrpocwTb y Bac M3BMHeHMR . 

Moe MOJl'-!aHMe TeM 6oJtee HerrpOCTMTeJlbHO, '-!TO OHO He 

orrpaB.llbiBaeTC.R: HM CMJlbHO pa3BMTOtl ,lle.R:TeJlbHOCTblO, HM pacce.R:HHO 

rrpoBe,lleHHOtl )K).{3Hbl0 . 51 60Jlbllletl '-!aCTblO CM,lleJl .llOMa ).{ HM'-!ero He 

,lleJlaJl: ,lla)Ke HOBa.R: MO.R: JIOBeCTb O'-!eHb MaJlO JIO.llBMHyJlaCb.l 3TM 

rpw Mec.R:l...{a rrpolllJlM KaK .llbiM M3 rpy6bl : 6eryT, 6eryT KaKwe-ro 

cepble KJly6bl, BCe KaK 6y .llTO pa3JlM'-!Hble ).{ B TO )Ke BpeM.R: 

O.llH006pa3Hble . 3TaK.Me JIOJlOCbl y:>Ke rrpe:>K,lle HaXO.llMJl).{ Ha MeH.R:: 

'-!YBCTBYlO HaKOHel...{ JIOTpe6HOCTb BCTpRXHYTbC.R: M BbltlTM ).{3 3Toro 

JIOJlYCOHHOro, JleTaprM'-!eCKOrO COCTO.R:HMR. Bbl crrpeBe.llJlMBO 

yrrpeKHY JlM MeHR B Balli eM rrwcbMe B 6ecrroJle3HOtt Tpare BpeMeHK 

Hy - a Bbl - KaK rrpoBeJlM 3TO BpeM.R:? YrroTpe6MJlM JlM Bbl ero 

JIOJle3HbiM o6pa30M? (51 KpacHelO rrpM MbiCJlM, '-!TO R BaM He JIOMOr B 

3TOM CJly'-!ae, He Ha3BaJl BaM KHMrM, KOTopyro 6bl XOpOlllO 6biJ10 BaM 

rrepeBecrw. Terrepb y:>Ke JI03.llHO - w, Bepo.R:THO, Bbl y)Ke Bb16paJlM ce6e 

3aHRrwe ). KaK Bbl rrpoBeJlM rrepByro rroJlOBMHY 3MMbl B MroHxeHe? 51 

B 3TOM ropo.lle 6b1Jl ,llaBHO - TaK ,llaBHO, '-!TO CTpalllHO BbiMOJlBMTb - B 

1838-M roay:2 R 6b1Jl Toraa r 11yrr ao KpatlHocTw (3To R roBopro 
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O'ieHb cepbe3HO), ,lla eCJlM 6 y MeH.A: }I{ OCTaJlMCb TOr,lla ,lleJlbHble 

BTie'iaTJleHMR, OHM renepb y)Ke ,llaBHo ycneJlM 6bl M3r Jla.llMTbC.A:. C 

KeM Bbl TI03HaKOMMJlMCb - M, r JlaBHOe - KaKott timbre TIOJlY'iMJla 

Barna )KM3Hb? Xy .llO )KeCTBeHHbltt, MY3biKaJlbHbltl - MHTMMHbltt - MJlM 

npocro rypMCTCKMtt? MHe Bee 3TO xoreJlocb 6bl Y3HaTb. - '-Iro 

no,lleJlbiBaJla Barna MaryrnKa M cecrpa M KaKMe M3BecrMR npMXO.llMJlM 

OT 6paTbeB? 

.H 3,lleCb )KMBY ,llOMOM - OKpy)KeHHbltl )KeHCKMM 3JleMeHTOM;3 

BM)KYCb C HeMHOrMMM pycCKMMM,4 }1{3 KOTOpbiX CaMoe CMMTiaTM'iHOe 

cyiJ.J;ecrBo - Mapb.A: AJleKcaH.llpOBHa MapKOBM'i (M3BecrHa.A: no.ll 

MMeHeM MapKa BoB'iKa).S Ha'iMHa:EO 3HaKOMMTbC.A: c HOBbiMM 

~paH~y3aMM - HO MaJlO HaXO)KY B HMX BKyca - }I{ TOJlbKO .llyMa::EO 0 

B03BpaiJ.J;eHMM BeCHOtl B B03Jl:E06JleHHbltl M~eHCKMtl ye3,ll. TO-TO MHe 

6y ,lleT npM.A:THO YBM,lleTb CHOBa 3TY crapy:EO .llpe6e,lleHb, Jly'irne 

Koropott Bce-raKM Her HM'iero .llJl.A: Harnero 6para, crenH.A:Ka . 

EropbeB ,lleHb, COJlOBbM, 3aTiaX COJlOMbl }I{ 6epe30BbiX TIO'ieK, COJlH~e }I{ 

JlY)KM no .llOporaM -BOT 'iero )Ka)Kner MO.A: .llyrna! 

.H He MMe:EO HMKaKoro npaBa rpe6oBaTb HeMe,llJleHHoro orBera 

OT Bac - HO .A: 6b1Jl 6bl O'ieHb MM o6pa,llOBaH }I{ Mory nopy'iMTbC.A:, 'iTO B 

CBOHl O'iepe,llb OTBeTMJl 6bl TOT'iaC. 

KJlaH.A::EOCb BCeM BarnMM M KpenKo )KMY Barny PYKY. 

oJlaronapro Bac MHOro pa3 3a ~ororpa~M:EO . 

fl 0 CBM,llaHM.A:. 

ITpe.llaHHbltl BaM 

VlB. TypreHeB. 

Rue de Rivoli, 210. 
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# 3 

5 ( 17) Mapra 1&61r. ITap:VOK . 

ITap:VOK . 

5/17 ro Mapra 1 &6 1. 

Jlro6e3HettlllaR KHR)I(Ha, 

Cnellly OTBeU1:Tb Ha Ballle BTopoe n].{ebMO, a TO eoBeeTb MeHR 

eoBeeM 3aMy'\f].{T. fleJlO 06 3MaHI..{].{Jlal..{].{].{ pellleHO - ].{ Ka)l(eTeR, no 

Mepe B03MO )I(HOeT].{ 6Jlaropa3yMHO ].{ JlJ..1:6epaJlbHO: ITOJlO )l(eH].{R 

pe,aaKI..{].{OHHOtl: KOMM].{ee].{J..1: no'\fT].{ Bee npMHRTbl. - Ha,aeJl oeraeTeR 

nOJlHbltl: e npaBOM BbiKyrra J..1: o6e3ne'\feH].{eM rrpaBJ..1:TeJlbeTBa; 

rrepexo.aHoe BpeMR 6y.aer npo.llOJl)l(aTbeR Beero .,aBa ro.aa, rroeJle 

KOTOpbiX y)l(e 6apll.{].{Ha He ,aorryeKaeTeR; 06Jl].{ral..{].{J..1: Bbl,llaiOTeR 

TOJlbKO TeM, y KOTOpbiX ].{MeH].{e Ha 06 poKe . - 3 ,aeeb XO.llJ..1:T no pyKaM 

Hane'\faTaHHbltl: 3K3eMn11Rp 6y .ayll.{aro yKa3a - Ho ero H].{KaK nottMaTb 

HeJlb3R:l Bnpo'\feM, Bee '\fTO R BaM eett'\fae eKa3aJl - eoBepllleHHO 

BepHO. 06l>RBJleH].{e noeJle,ayeT '\fepe3 He,lleJlHI . flatt Eor 3.llOpOBbR 

U.apro, KOTOpbltl: BO BeeM 3TOM ,lleJle BeJl ee6R MaerepeKJ..1: ].{ .llOJl)l(eH 

6b1Jl 6oporbeR e rpoMa.llHbiM].{ 3arpy.aHeH].{RMK2- 5I 6bl Eor 3Haer '\fTO 

,llaJl, '\fT06bl I1p].{eyreTBOBaTb I1p].{ '\fTeH].{J..1: MaH].{~eeTa - He B 

I1erep6ypre ].{Jl].{ B MoeKBe, a r.ae-H].{6y.llb B eeJlbeKott l..{epKB].{, 

noeMOTpeTb Ha Jl].{l..{a MY)I(J..1:KOB, ITOeJlylllaTb ].{X TOJlK].{ .... 

ITpe.aJlo)l(eH].{e Ballle rroexaTb '\fepe3 MroHxeH MHe o'\feHb 

HpaB].{TeR; HO .llJlR 3Taro R XOTeJl 6bl 3HaTb, eKOJlbKO BpeMeH].{ Bbl ell.{e 

TaM oeTaHeTeeb. - ITepe,aatl:Te JlO)I(aJlyttera MOtl: noKJlOH rr . 

Eo,aeHlllTe.llTy3 ].{ 1etl:3e,4 ].{ eKa)I(J,{Te ].{M, '\fTO R HJ..1:KaK He 0)1(J..1:,llaJ1 
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raKaro JlJ.1:'iHaro OT3b1Ba J.1: reM 6oJiee MM o6paaoBaH. - He'iero J.1: 

roBOpJ.1:Tb 'iTO .fi ITO'ieJl 6bl 3a 'ieCTb 6b1Tb nepeBelleHHbiM TaKJ.1:M 

nJ.1:careJieM, KaKoB EoaeHlllTear .s - H o'ieHb aaBHo He 6b1Jl B 

M:EOHXeHe; ITOBepJ.1:Te, .fi B TO BpeM.H 6b1Jl O'ieHb r JIYIT J.1: HJ.1:'iero He 

CMbiCJlJ.1:Jl; Tenepb, rOBOp.HT, 'iTO, lle:tl:CTBMTeJlbHO, BO MHOrJ.1:X 

OTHOllleHJ.1:.HX, - cepa~e repMaHJ.1:J.1:.6 He 3a6yllbTe HaiTJ.1:CaTb MHe, 

CKOJlbKO BpeMeHM Bbl ew;e TeM OCTaHeTeCb . 

H 3lleCb )I(J.1:BY OllH006pa3HO - J.1: pa6oTaiO He CJlMlllKOM J.1: 

ycepaHo; Bnpo'ieM renepb He ao JlJ.1:Teparypb1. - CvtJlbHO Haae:EOcb 

yBJ.1:lleTb Bac 'iepe3 HeCKOJlbKo HeaeJib, a ao rex nop no3BOJlbTe 

no)l(aTb BaM pyKy J.1: nonpocJ.1:Tb Bac nepeaarb Balliett MarylllKe J.1: 

cecrpe yBepeHJ.1:e B MOe:tl: J.1:CKpeHHe:tl: 1.{ llpy)l(eCKO:tl: npeaaHHOCTK 

liiB . TypreHeB . 
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#4 

19 arrpeilR (1 MaR) 1361r. ITapvoK. 

ITapvOK. 

1 ro MaR 1361. 

Jl:E06e3He:fitruaR KHR )I(Ha, 

Bble3.ll Mo:fit orcroaa HeMHoro JaMelliKaJlcR - HO rerrepb crrelliy 

Bac yBe,llOM}I{Tb 'fTO, eCJl}l{ Eor aacT, R B ITRTH}I{Uy OTITpaBJlRlOCb B 

MlOHXeH, rae rrpo6yay He 6o11ee .llBYX .llHe:fit. - KcraT}I{, y MeHR ecTb 

ao Bac rrpocb6a: He MO)I(eTe Jl}l{ Bbl 'fepe3 EoaeHrure.ara }I{Jl}l{ Koro­

H}I{6y .llb apyraro CKa3aTb 'fTO R 6bl )l(eJlaJl O'feHb KYIT}I{Tb -­

rrpeBOCXOAHYlO JleraBylO co6aKy - }I{ 'fTO HeJlb3R Jl}l{ KO BpeMeH}I{ 

MOero rrpoe3.lla OCBe.llOM}I{TbCR 0 TaKOBO:fit?l 5I 6b1Jl 6bl Kpa:fit:He 

6JlaroaapeH }I{ BaM }I{ TOMy, KTO B 3TOM ITOXJlOITO'feT . 

.no CB}I{.llaH}I{R; )!{MY BaM pyKy M KJlaHR:EOCb Balli}I{M. 

!liB . TypreHeB. 
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2 3 arrpe!lR (5 MaR) 1 a61r. MIOHXeH.l 

Flein Furstin Olga Khilkoff. 

Hotel Marienbad . 

9 

.H B'Y:epa Be'Y:epoM CIOlla IIp]!{eXa!l, Jli06e3HaR KHR }KHa - ]!{ TaK 

KaK cerollHR CBeTJloe BocKpeceH]!{e -TO KOrlla K BaM MO}KHO? -He 

rroexaTb Jl]!{ ]!{ MHe C BaM]!{ B ~epKOBb? B KOTOpOM "Y:acy o6ellHR? 

.H ocTaHOB]!{JlCR B Goldene Hirsch. 

ITpellaHHbi:Iit BaM 

11B. TypreHeB . 

[3aTI]!{CKa HaTI]!{CaHa Ha 6yMare C T]!{CHeH]!{eM: 

Neues Hotel 

Havard 

Munch en] 
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#6 

2 7 arrpeJur (g MaR) 1 ~6 1r. EepillAH. 

EepillAH. 

9-ro MaR 1~61 . 

Jl:Eo6e3HettlllaR KHR)I(Ha, 

.H cero.o.HR rrpJAexail B EepillAH JA cero.o.HR )l(e orrrpaBJlRlOCb B 

POCCJA:EO. KJlaHRlOCb BceM, BCeMy BallleMy CeMetl:CTBY lA HOBblM 

MlOHXeHCKJAM rrplARTeJlRM . CKa)I(JATe Eo.o.eHlliTe.o.ry, "!T06bl oH He 

CJlJAlliKOM y.O.JABJlRJlCR, ecJlJA eMy rrplAlliJliOT JA3 IlapJA)I(a rrepeBo.o. 

MOJAX HeKOTOpblX Bel.l.{etl: (TaM Me)I(.D.y rrpo"!JAM «MyMy» lA 

«fiOCTORJlbltl: .llBOp») - 3TO R pacrropR.lllAJlCR l_ JIOKa R el.l.{e He BbiCJlaJl 

eMy opJArJAHaJl JA3 ITerep6ypra. 

Ey .llbTe 3.0.opoBbl JA BeceJlbl. 

)I(My BaM .o.py)l(eCKJA pyKy. 

ITpe.o.aHHbltl: BaM 

IIIB. TypreHeB. 
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6 ( 1 &) arrpeJHI 1 &64r. ITapJ.oi< .l 

ITapvoi<. 

rue de Rivoli, 2 10. 

Cepella, 6 ro Arrp. 1&64. 

Ballle rrucbMO, JU<>6e3Hetllliafl 0Jlbra .... rrpellCTaBbTe, 'iTO R K 

CTblllY MOeMy, 3a6b1Jl KaK Bac JIO 6aTIOlllKY1:, Y1: rrpUHY)!(lleH C 

cMyll(eHueM rrpocuTb y Bac Y1:3BY1:HeHUR. - Ballle rrucbMO He 3acTaJlo 

MeHR y)!(e B EalleHe Y1: 6b1Jl0 rrpUCJlaHO KO MHe B ITapY1:)!(, Kylla fl 

rrpuexaJl Ha MeCR~ - llJlfl CBY1:llaHY1:fl C llO'iepblO, KOTOpaR O'ieHb 

6JlarollapuT Bac 3a rraMRTb, u KOTopaR Bee ell.(e He BbllllJla 3aMy)!(, He 

CMOTpR Ha 06Y1:JlY1:e )!(eHMXOB. - BMllHO, HaCTOflll(Utl ell(e He fiBMJlCR. -

.H B03Bpall(aiOCb B EalleH B KOH~e 3Taro MeCR~a Y1: OCTaHyCb TaM Ha 

llOJlrO. LletlCTBUTeJlbHO Mbl TaK llpyr OT llpyra 6JlY1:3KO )!(Y1:BeM, 'iTO 

HallO 6bl CBUlleTbCR. .H 6bl O'ieHb 3Taro )!(eJlaJl. MeHR O'ieHb TpoHyJlo 

BCe 'iTO Bbl roBopUTe MHe B Balli eM JIY1:CbMe; BeJlUKOe C'iaCTbe -

3acJly)!(Y1:Tb Boo6ll(e BCRKYIO rrpY1:BR3aHHOCTb - (cJloBo : «3acJly )!(Y1:Tb» 

lla)!(e He coBceM TYT y MecTa) - a Bailly - u rrollaBHo. - IToBTopRIO: 3To 

MeHR O'ieHb !poraeT u pallyeT u Mory yBepuTb Bac 'iTO 3Ta 

rrpY1:Bfl3aHHOCTb - B3aY1:MHafl:. 

K KpatlHeMy MOeMy CO)!(aJleHUIO y MeHR HeT HY1: OllHaro 

3K3eMJIJlRpa MOY1:X «ITpY1:3paKOB» ;2 HO fl C HbiHelliHetl )!(e JIO'iTOtl 

rrullly B EalleH, 'iT06bl BaM OTTY lla BbiCJlaJlu.3 He llyMaiO, 'iT06bl 3Ta 

6e3lleJlKa BaM o'ieHb rroHpaBUJlaCb: 3To pRll orrucaHutt, CBR3aHHbiX Ha 

)!(Y1:BYIO HY1:TKY. - .H JIO'iTY1: JIOJlTopa rolla HU'iero He lleJlaJl - OXOTbl 
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KaK-TO He 6b1Jl0. Terrepb OHa, Ka)l(eTC.H, B03Bpa~aeTC.H M R, BepORTHO, 

HaiTMlliY KOe-'iTO. ITOCbiJlaiO TaK)I(e KapTO'iKY en profil, KOTopylO Bbl 

crrpalliMBaJlM. He 3Hal0, rroHpaBMTCR JlM oHa BaM, HO rro MOe My, R Ha 

He:tt rrpe.llCTaB[M]JlC.H KaKMM-TO BOMHCTBeHHbiM reHepaJlOM . 

MoM ITOCTYITKM B POCCMM BOBCe He 3aCJlY)I(MBalOT Toro 3ITMTeTa, 

KOTOpbl:tl Bbl MM rrpM,llaeTe: poJlb MO.H 6b1Jla O'ieHb JlerKa, ITOTOMY 'iTO 

M CKpbiBaTb TO 6b1Jl0 He'iero.4 - Ha BOrrpoc Balli - 0 TOM, 'iero XOT.HT M 

K 'ieMy CTpeM.HTC.H HalliM COOTe'ieCTBeHHMKM - OTBe'iaTb O'ieHb 

TPY.llHO. ITpe)l(ae Bcero OHM Bepo.HTHO xoT.HT aeHer, KOMX 

COBepllieHHO HeT B POCCMM - R BO BCe BpeM.H Moero rrpe6biBaHM.H TaM 

He BM,lleJl HM MMITepMaJla, HM cepe6p.HHaro py6Jl.H, a TaK KaK OHM 

CaMM XOpOllieHbKO He 3HalOT, K 'ieMy CTpeM.HTC.H - TO CO CTOpOHbl 

Y3HaTb 3To e~e TPY.llHee. -Co BCeM TeM o6~ee Brre'iaTJleHMe -He 

.llypHOe; MeH.H Me )l(.llY rrpO'iMM rropa3MJ1.M K paCHbi.H ~eKM M TOJl.CTble 

:>KMBOTbl M3BO~MKOB, MY:>KMKOB M aa:>Ke pa6oTHMKOB: a 3To 3HaK 

XOpOlliM:tl. - lleJlO .HBHO M,lleT K ycTaHOBJleHMlO MOHapXM'ieCKaro 

,lleMOKpaTM3Ma: Brrpo'ieM 3TMM BeTpOM ITOBCIO.llY BeeT. 

OrrpeaeJleHMe xapaKTepa T.5 3acTaBMJlO MeH.H cMe.HTbCR: ao 

TOro OHO BepHO. - .H He .llO:>KMJl .llO 46M JleT 'iT06bl TaK rpy6o 

OlllM6aTbC.H B Jl.IO.ll.HX -aT. BeCbMa JlerKO ITOH.HTb. Ho OH Jl.I06e3eH M 

ycJly)I(Jl.MB. -

"t!TO 6bl BaM C BalliMM My)l(eM XOTb Ha He,lleJlbKY rrp~eXaTb B 

EaaeH? - Bbl 6bl He pacKa.HJl.MCb, rrpaBo. 

llpy:>KeCKM :>KMY BaM pyKy M ocTa:EOcb HaBceraa 

rrpe aaHHbl:tt BaM 

11B. TypreHeB. 
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14 J,{I<lJl.R: 1864r. EatJ.eH -EalleH. 

Jlro6e3Hettrna.rt: 0Jlbra .llMJ,tTpJ,teBHa, 

EaneH-EaneH. 

Schillerstrasse, 277. 

'YeTBepr, 14 ro L11<1J1.R: 64. 

3aBTpa B 12 J,{JlJ,{ B 3 'iaCa .R: IIpJ,t6ylly B fetllleJlb6epr J,{ C 

BeJlJ,t'iatllJlJ,tM y llOBOJlbCTBJ,teM J,tCJIOJlHI<l Barny rrpocb6y ,1 KOTOpa.R: 

MeH.R: ropa3llO MeHbllie y tJ.J,tBJ,tJla 'ieM Bbr rroJlaraere - TaK KaK 

Ka X<lla.R: X<eHl.LI;J,tHa JlJ,t6o lleJlaer - J1J,t6o JIJ,tllieT cBott poMaH. Barn 

MeH.R: o'ieHb J,tHTepecyer - J,{ o6el.LI;aro BaM 6b1Tb rrpaBtJ.J,tBbiM llO 

KpatlHOCTK - IToKa - llPYX<eCKJ,{ X<MY BaM pyKy J,{ ocrarocb 

rrpetJ.aHHbrtl BaM 

L1B. TypreHeB. 
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# 9 

2 7 aeKa6prr (~ HHBaprr) 1 ~64-1 ~65rr . EaaeH-EaaeH . 

J1ro6e3Hettmarr 0Jlbra liMlUpMeBHa, 

EaaeH-EaaeH . 

Schillerstrasse 2 77. 

Cepeaa, 2 7 ro lleK. 1 ~65. 

V1 TaK Bbl OKOH'iMJlM CBOtt poMaH !1 Paayrocb M IT03tlpaBJlH:EO Bac 

M He Mory B TO )Ke BpeMH He 3aMeTMTb - 'iTO rrpM HbiHelliHMX 

o6CTOHTeJlbCTBax HY)KHO MHoro JlMTepaTypHott Bepbl M )KeHCKott 

pelliMMOCTM 'iT06bl rrpearrpMHHTb M OKOH'iMTb ITOtl06Hbltl ITOtlBMr . C 

BeJlJ..1:KJ..1:M yaoBOJlbCTBJ..1:eM rrpocJlylliaJl 6bl rr Bame rrpoJ..1:3BeaeHJ..1:e -

Ha'iaJlO, ITOMHMTCH, MeHH O'ieHb 3aJ..1:HTepecoBaJlo2 - HO BbleXaTb M3 

EaaeHa B M:EOHXeH paHbllie 6y ay~aro cpeBpaJlH li{Jlll{ MapTa 

pelliJ..1:TeJlbHO He B COCTOHHJ..1:J..1:. V1 JIOTOMY IIpJ..1:tleTCH JlM60 OTJlO)KJ..1:Tb 

3TO 'iTeHJ..1:e ao Tott 3ITOXJ..1: - JlM6o rrepecJlaTb MHe croaa Barny 

pyKorrMcb, KOTopyro rr rrpo'iTY BHMMaTeJlbHo J..1: oTOlliJlro aKKypaTHo -

rrpJ..1: 'ieM o6e~a:EOCb BaM BbiCKa3aTb CBOe MHeHJ..1:e BJIOJlHe 

Jl06pOCOBeCTHO. - Tio'iepK Balli O'ieHb 'ieTOK M HJ..1:KaKJ..1:X He 

rrpeacTaBJlHeT 3aTpyaHeHJ..1:tt. 

HJ..1:'iero HeT y tlJ..1:BJ..1:TeJlbHaro B TOM, 'iTO Bbl B 3TY MJ..1:HYTY He 

MO)KeTe J..1:MeTb HJ..1:KaKaro J..1:Haro cy)KJleHJ..1:H o BameM ~pyae: 3TO 

cJly'iaeTcrr c Ka)KJlbiM CO'iJ..1:HJ..1:TeJleM. 

0TBe'ialO B KOpOTKJ..1:X CJlOBaX Ha Ka)!(Jlbltl J..1:3 BalliMX .lll06e3HbiX 

BOITpOCOB: - H 3/lOpOB J..1: He ITJ..1:lliY HM'iero; Villa MOH 6y tleT rOTOBa 

JleTOM J..1: H B CeHTH6pe Tytla rrepe6Mpal0Cb;3 llO'ib MOH Terrepb 3tlOpOBa 
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-HOC Hetl: 6b1Jl0 MaJleHbKOe HeC"!aCTbe: OHa BbiKvtHyJla.4 - 0Ha O"!eHb 

C"!aCTJlvtBa C CBO:vtM My>KeM; OH rtpeKpaCHbltl: "!eJlOBeK.S - V!3BeCT:vt.R: 

:vt3 Pocc:vt:vt rr rro"!eprralO :vt3 >KypHa!lOB, Koropble BeporrrHo :vt BaM 

tlOCTYITHbl; a :vt3 aepeBHvt JIOCTORHHO Hecyrcrr BOJIJlvt - vtCKpeHHvte vtJlvt 

He:vtcKpeHHvte - pa3o6parb rpyaHo: llOJl>KHo 6b1Tb co BCR"ivtHKott. B 

EalleHe rr :vtCKJllO'ivtTeJlbHO 3aHRT oxorott :vt 'iTeHvteM : peKoMeHllYlO 

BaM Me>KtlY rrpo"!vtM La Revolution de E. Quinet: 3TO O'ieHb 60Jlblilarr 

Bei..U;b.6 

A 3a cvtM - ao CBvttlaHvtrr B Mapre - vt rrpvtcbl!lattre MHe Balli 

poMaH ec!lvt MO>Kere. - ITpolily Bac rrepeaarb Mott rroKJlOH BalileMy 

cyrrpyry, C KOTOpbiM R K CO>Ka!leH:vtlO MOeMy ell..{e He rt03HaKOMvtJlCR 

vt rtp:vtMvtTe yBepeHvte B :vtCKpeHHetl: MOetl: rtpvtB.R:3aHHOCTvt. 

V!B. TypreHeB. 

P. S. EoaeHlliTeary rroKJlOH:vtrecb or MeHrr. 
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# 10 

2& февраля 1&66г. Баден-Баден. 

Любезнейшая Ольга Дмитриевна, 

Баден-Баден. 

Schillerstrasse 2 77. 

2 & го Февр. 1 &66. 

Отвечаю на поставленные Вами вопросы: По моему 

добросовестному мнению, печатать Ваше произведение следует, 

потому что оно именно принадлежит к тому первому разряду, о 

котором Вы говорите в Вашем письме. - Теперь предстоит вопрос, 

где и как напечатать? (Кстати, говоря об издателях, я имел в 

мыслях издателей журналов.) - В Русском Вестнике было бы 

очень хорошо и прилично, но Катков капризен. Если Вы этаго 

желаете, я Вам пришлю что-то в роде рекомедательнаго письма к 

нему, которое Вы и отправите вместе с рукописью.� (Его зовут 

Михаилом Никифоровичем.) Цену Вы не назначайте, а 

предоставьте ему -: первыя произведения начинающих авторов 

обыкновенно печатаются даром. - Можно также попытаться 

поместить «Русалку» в «Отечественных Записках»; в таком 

случае я могу доставить Вашу рукопись приятелю моему П. В. 

Анненкову, который находится в постоянных связях с 

редакторами О. 3 .2 Переписывать Вашу рукопись, кажется, что 

нужно; советую выкинуть обе тирады о пожарах. Сцену купанья 

можно оставить - но я полагаю нужно устранить то место, где 

Ваш герой, как Орландо Фуриосо, начинает ломать деревья:3 оно 

может вызвать улыбку на уста читателя. 
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Вот, кажется, всё. - Буду ждать Вашего решенья. - Не знаю, 

соберусь ли я в Мюнхен нынешней весной;4 но если мне не 

удастся увидеть Вас перед Вашим большим путешествием 

прошу Вас быть уверенной, что не смотря на моё «равнодушие ко 

всему на свете» - я искренно привязан к тем «старинным 

друзьям», о которых Вы упоминаете и в числе которых Вы 

занимаете одно из первых мест. 

Душевно Вам преданный 

Ив. Тургенев. 
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# 11 

Февраль 18ббг. Баден-Баден. 

Пятница. 

В 7 вечера. 

Любезнейшая Ольга Дмитриевна - я никак не могу придти 

к Вам сегодня вечером, и потому лишон удовольствия выслушать 

конец Вашей повести.1 Но я на столько её знаю; что могу 

добросовестно рекомендовать её Каткову - я постараюсь доставить 

Вам лично моё письмо к нему завтра до Вашего отъезда в 1/2 1 О 

го.2 Во всяком случае жму Вам крепко руку и желаю всего 

хорошаго. 

Преданный Вам, 

Ив. Тургенев. 
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MapT-arrpenb 1 &66r .I 

1 9 

Ilo'iTeHHe:thuJAtt MJAxaJAJl HJAKM~opoBJA'i, rroBeCTb, KOTopyro Bbl 

JTOJlY'iJATe BMeCTe C 3T1AM JTJACbMOM, rrpJAHa,llJle)KJAT rrepy O.llHOtl 

MOJlO.llOtl ,llaMbl, MOetl XOpOllietl 3HaKOMOtl. - 3TO rrepBbltl e.R: OJlbiT - 1A 

Ha'iaTb cBoe JlJATepaTypHoe rrorrpM~e B yBa)KaeMoM BallieM )KypHaJle 

- 6b1Jl0 6bl .llJl.R: He.R: MCTJAHHbiM JTO'ieTOM . - He COMHeBaiOCb B TOM, 'iTO 

rrpo'iJATaB 3TY rroBeCTb, Bbl, p.R:.llOM c HeKoropbiMJA HeaocTaTKaMJA, 

CBOtlCTBeHHbiMJA HeOJTbiTHOCTJA, Hatl,lleTe B Hetl HeCOMHeHHble rrp1A3HaKM 

MCTMHHaro ,llapoBaHJA.R: 1-1: Ol...{eHMTe TeJTJlOTY 1-1: )KMBOCTb 'iYBCTBa, 

KOTOpbiM OHa rrpOHJAKHyTa a TaK)Ke 1-1: M3.R:~HYIO rrpOCTOTY 

M3JlO)KeHJA.R: . - IloMe~eHMeM 3Taro rrpOM3Be,lleHM.R: B «PycCKOM 

BeCTHUKe» Bbl 060.llpMTe Ha 'iMHaiOll.(Mtl TaJlaHT M, CMeiO .llyMa Tb, 

aocTaBMTe yaoBOJlbCTBMe BalliMM 'iMTaTeJl.R:M. - llM'iHO, .R: 6yay BaM 

MCKpeHHO 6naroaapeH. -

MHe ocTaeTc.R: rrpM6aBMTb 'iTO co'iMHMTeJlbHMI...{e ·6biJlO 6bl 

rrpM.R:THO XOT.R: He60JlblliOe B03Harpa)K,lleHMe, TaK KaK OHa .llO 

HeKoropott crerreHM Hy)KaaeTc.R: B aeHbrax . 

3Ha.R: BCIO Jli060Bb, KOTopylO Bbl JTJATaeTe K pO.llHOtl CJlOBeCHOCTM 

[ ... ]2 
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# 12 

7 ( 1 9) MIOJl.R: 1866r. EaaeH-EaaeH . 

EaneH-EaaeH . 

Schillerstrasse 2 77. 

7/19 ro !IIIOJl.A: 1866. 

Jlro6e3He:litllia.A: OJlbra BMMTpvteBHa, c HerroaaeJibHbiM 

y llOBOJlbCTBvteM yBMllaJl R Balli rro'iepK: Ballie rrpollOJl :>KM:TeJlbHOe 

MOJl'iaHM:e 3acraBJl.R:Jlo MeH.R: rrpelliTOJlaraTb, 'iTO Bbl aaBHo y:>Ke 

BOpOTM:JlM:Cb B PoCCM:IO. - .H: O'ieHb CO:>KaJleiO 0 IIpM:'iM:He 3aMellJ1M:Bllie:lit 

Balli OT"be3ll - HO rerrepb, KaK Bbl ITM:lliere, 3llOpoBbe Balliero MaJliOTKM 

JIY'illiel - M .R: MCKpeHHO BaM co'iyBcrByro. Haaerocb, 'iTo Bbl, He 

CMOTp.A: Ha HbiHelliHee BOeHHOe BpeM.A:,2 6JlarOITOJ1Y'iHO llOCTM:rHeTe 

pollHbiX rrpeaeJIOB - M rrpolliy Bac aaBaTb xorb M3peaKa o ce6e 

BeCTO'iKy. 

C BeJlM:'ia:litllie:lit roroBHOCTbiO aa11 6bl .R: BaM ITM:Cb·Mo K rrpM.A:TeJliO 

MOeMy IT. B. AHHeHKOBY - HO OH y:>Ke C Ma.A: MeC.R:l..{a OCTaBM:Jl 

ITerep6ypr - M ao oceHM rroceJIM:JlC.A: B KMeBe . - .H: reM 6oJiee 

co:>KaJlero o6 3TOM, 'iTO rrMcbMo Moe K c . c. BYllbllliKMHy, oaHoMy M3 

pellaKropoB Ore'iecrBeHHbiX 3arrM:coK, rroHeBoJle llOJl:>KHO HOCM:Tb 

HeKOTOpbl:lit O~M:l..{M:aJlbHbl:lit OTJie'iaTOK, TaK .R: He HaXO:>KYCb C HM:M B 

TaKM:X OTHOllieHM:.A:X, KaK C AHHeHKOBbiM. - Brrpo'ieM OH xopolliM::Iit M: 

ycJiy:>KJIM:Bbl:lit 'ieJloBeK. Aapec ero Bbl Y3Haere B peaaKL{MM 

«OTe'iecrBeHHbiX 3arrM:coK» - a pyKorrM:cb HerrpeMeHHo Haao oTllaTb 

rrepeiiM:CaTb, JIOTOMY 'iTO B TOM BM:lle, B KaKoM OHa 6b1Jla y MeH.R:, 

'iM:Ta Tb ee 3a rpy llHM:TeJlbHO . - IlM:CbMO K By llbllliKMHY .R: rrpM:JlaraiO _3 
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Ha C'ieT )Ke TICeB.llOHMMa - MHe Ka)KeTCR - 'iTO CJle.ayeT 'iTO­

HM6Y.llb o'ieHb npocToe M 6yKB nyraTbCR He'iero . - 0 . LI. H. MJlM, 

no)KaJlytt, HecTop - no MOeMy JlY'illle Lly6a MJlM J1bBa .4 

Coo6l.l.(aeMbiR BaMM ClO)KeTbl, CKOJlbKO MO)KHO CY.llMTb 0 HMX, He 

JlMllleHbl OpMrMHaJlbHOCTM: HO B JlMTepaTypHOM CTMJle - Bonpoc He 

CTOJlbKO B CaMOM 3a1it~e, CKOJlbKO B coyce . - B R3b1Ke BallieM 

.ae1itCTBMTeJlbHO .llOBOJlbHO 'iaCTO nona.aa:EOTCR raJlJlM~W3Mbl - MJlM 

o6opOTbl Hallle1it B006l.l.(e HenpaBMJlbH01it M He)KMB01it pa3rOBOpH01it 

pe'iK Ho TYT BaM rpaMMaTMKa He noMo)KeT : Ha.ao npMcJlylliMBaTbCR, 

3aMe'iaTb, a r JlaBHOe TIMCaTb, MHOrO TIMCaTb - TIOCTaBbTe ce6e 

HeM3MeHHbiM npaBMJlOM - KaK MO)KHO TO'iHee M npol.l.(e Bblpa)KaTb 

RCHO-C03HaHHY:EO MbiCJlb . EJlaro - OXOTa y Bac eCTb; a TaJlaHT, KOJlM 

OH eCTb B HaJlM'iHOCTM - B 'ieM - TIOKa - HeT npM'iMH COMHeBaTbCR - B 

CBOe BpeMR BbiCKa)KeTCR. IlpM3HaTbCR, R 60l0Cb HeMHOro Balliett 

«Zukunsstsmusik>>5 - TYT o'ieHb JlerKo M He3aMeTHO .llJlR caMaro 

ce6R MO)KHO BTiaCTb B HanpR)KeHHYlO $a.llblli - MJlM B 6e3yMHM'iaHbe a 

froid6 - 'ieMy MO)KeT CJlY)KMTb TipMMepoM O.llMH M3 BalliMX Jll06MMbiX 

TIMCaTeJle1it, r. ill. HO.llM3,7 TIMCaTeJlb B eyl.l.(HOeTM .llO Kpa:ttHoeTM 

(M3BMHMTe !) 6e3)KM3HeHHbl1it M npo3aM'ieCKM1it - KaK TIO'iTM Bee 

4>paH~Y3bl. Bo BeRKOM cJly'iae Zukunsstsmusik, npM 

Heonpe.aeJleHHOeTM eo.aep)KaHMR, Tpe6yeT COBepllieHeTBa ~OpMbl -

MaeTepcTBa - (eM. BarHepa .) 

Bee Ballle rrMCbMO MCTIOJlHeHHO TaKott xopolliett M TporaTeJlbHo1it 

OTKpOBeHHOeTM, 'iTO M R CTiellly OTBe'iaTb BaM TeM )Ke . - 5I MeHbllie 

npe)I(Hero 3aCJlY)KMBa:EO BalliM Jl:E06e3Hble ynpeKM - TaK KaK R - OTIRTb 

- XOTR el.l.(e .llOBOJlbHO BRJlO - npMHRJlCR 3a pa6oTy M TIMlliY poMaH.8 -

Ho JlMTepaTypHaR MOR .aeRTeJlbHOeTb HM'iero He MMeeT 06l.l.(aro CO 



22 

C'{aCTbeM, KOTOparo Bbl TaK llpy:>KeJU06HO MHe :>KeJlaeTe - M KOTOpbiM 

.A: lle:tlCTBMTeJlbHO llO HeKOTOpo:tt CTerreHM ITOJ1b3YI<lCb : .A: CMOTpro Ha 

raJiaHT KaK Ha ro11oc y rreBI...{a : :>KM3Hb He rrporrallaer BMecre c HMM. -

A rerrepb rro3BOJlbTe MHe KperrKo rro:>KaTb Barny pyKy M 

rro:>KeJlaTb BaM Bcero xopornaro Ha 3eMJ1e . .H O'{eHb 6biJ1 6bl pall, ecJlM 

6 HaBepHoe 3HaJl, '{TO Bbl HMKOr lla He ycyMHMTeCb B MOeM 

MCKpeHHeM yBa:>KeHMM M llpy:>K6e. Balli 11B. TypreHeB. 

P. S. Bbl Ha3Ha'{bTe .nyllbllliKMHy9- KaK M Kylla orBe'{aTb BaM -

ITOJl Balli .A:, KaK Bbl BMllMTe, He BblllaJl. - .neHer, .A: ITOJlaraiO, Ha 

rrepBbl:tt cJiy'{a:tt O:>KMllaTb rpyllHO. 
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# 13 

22 HOR6p.R (4 ,aeKa6pR) 1&66r. Ea.aeH-Ea.aeH. 

EaneH-EaneH . 

Schillerstrasse 2 77. 

4 LQ.lleKa6pR 1 &66. 

22 ro Hor~6pr~ 

MMJla.R 0Jlbra llMMTpMeBHa, OTBe'-!aHl HeMe,llJleHHO Ha Bailie 

JIMCbMO - M TOJlbKO CO:>KaJleHl 0 TOM '-!TO a.apec BaMM BbiCTaBJleH 

CJlMlllKOM HeJIOJlHbl:lit ( «CeJlO MMXa:litJlOBCKOe») 1 - M R rrpMHY :>K,lleH 

rrycKaTb MO:lit OTBeT Ha y,aa'-!y B HOBOCMJlb - 3TO MHe ITO TOMY 

OC06eHHO HerrpMRTHO, '-!TO Bbl JIO:>KaJly:lit He JIOJly'-iMTe 3TMX CTpOK M 

6y.aeTe yrrpeKaTb MeHR B 3a6biB'-!MBOCTM ... He'-!ero .aeJlaTb -

B03JlO:>KMM Ha,lle:>K,ay Ha aBOCb! 

lle:litcTBMTeJlbHO, KaK Bbl roaopMTe: )I(M3Hb Bell.(b rrpeTpy .aHaR, 

OC06eHHO B MOJlO.llbi.R ro,llbl - Kor .a a '-!YBCTByelllb J10Tpe6HOCTb - M 

.aa:>Ke o6.R3aHHOCTb .ae:litcTBoBaTb - a TYT rrpMXO.llMTCR pyKM 

CKJla,llbiBaTb J,{ Bbi:>KM.llaTb '-!TO-TO, '-!TO He OT HaC 3aBMCJAT -

MY'-!MTeJlbHoe rroJlo:>KeHMe! - HMr.ae OHO TaK '-!acTo He BCTpe'-!aeTCR 

KaK B POCCMM - M R :>KMBO rrpe.acTaBJlRHl ce6e, KaK BaM JIO.ll '-!aC 

.llOJl:>KHO 6b1Tb :>KYTKO! Bbl MHe He JIMllleTe .llOJlro JlJ,{ Bbl OCTaHeTeCb B 

.aepeBHe - Ho R rrpe.arroJlararo '-!To Bbl rrorraJlM TY .a a Ha .aoBOJlbHoe 

BpeMR. - 'YTo :>Ke cKa3aTb BaM B yTeureHMe? ITpMcoBeToBaTb 

TeprreHMe - yKa3a Tb Ha CeMe:litHbi.R, .llOMalllHMR 3aHRTMR J,{ pa.llOCTM -

BCe 3TO BaM CaMMM XOpOlllO M3BeCTHO; orpaHM'-!YCb TeM '-!TO KperrKO J,{ 

.apy:>KeCKM rro:>KMY BaM pyKy M yBepro Bac B MCKpeHHeM y'-!aCTMM -
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'ieJloBeK. 'iacro HM'iero 6oJlbllie He MO )KeT c.neJlaTb .llJl.H .npyraro 

'ieJloBeK.a . Mory el.l.(e rrpM6aBMTb, 'iTO «floBOJlbHO» HarrpacHo 

rrpMBeJlo Bac B HeK.oropoe cMyl.l.(eHM:e: oHo 6biJlO HarrM:caHo HecK.OJlbK.O 

JleT roMy Ha3a.n,2 rro.n BJlM.HHMeM MM3aHrporrM'iecK.aro HacrpoeHMR: 

6b1Tb MO)KeT, He CJle,llOBaJlO rre'iaTaTb TaK.yiO OTpbiBO'iHYIO Bel.l.(b, B 

K.oropott CJlMlliK.OM CMJlbHO orpa3M:Jlacb JlM'iHa.H yHbiJlOCTb; rrpM roM 

)Ke 3TO HacrpoeHM:e rrpolliJlO - M JIY'illiMM roMy .noK.a3areJlbCTBOM 

CJlY)KMT TOT ~aK.T, 'iTO R OK.aH'iM:BaiO .llOBOJlbHO Ba)I{Hbl:fit poMaH, M 'iTO 

3TOT poMaH Bepo.HTHO rro.HBMTC.H B MaproBcK.ott K.HM)KK.e PyccK.aro 

BeCTHM:K.a.3 - Ha.no MHO:fit ITOCMeiOTC.H, HO Bepro - HM:K.aK.M:X TBep.llbiX M 

HerrpeJio )I{HbiX o6el.l.(aHM:fit .naB a Tb HeJlb3.H - M - qui a bu - boira.4 

KcraTM:, R B'iepa )Ke HaiTM:CaJl AHHeHK.OBY 0 Balliett ITOBeCTM, M 

rrorrpocM:Jl ero ocBe.llOMMTbC.H o Hett - a raK. )Ke o3a6oTMTbC.H o 

ITO.HBJleHMM e..A: B 0Te'i . 3aJIM:CK.ax .5 - H 6bl )KeJlaJl, 'iT06bl ee 

Harre 'fa raJIM : 3TO 6bl pa3'b.HCHMJlO BaM caMMM, Mo )I{ ere JlM Bbl 

rrpO,llOJl)KaTb M.llTM ITO 3TO:fit .llOpore; MHe CaMOMY OHO He COBCeM .HCHO, 

XOT.H Bee Bepo.HTHOCTM ecrb. - Her coMHeHM.H 'iTO Bbl O'ieHb yMHbl M 

'iTO B BallieM yMe ecrb M rpal...(MR M cBoeo6pa3HOCTb : ocraerc.H 

y6e.llMTbC.H B rrpMcyrcTBMM roro 'iTO HeJlb3.H Ha3biBaTb : das formende 

Element.6 

H )KMBY CITOK.O:fitHO M TMXO B Ea.neHe - 'iaCTO XO)KY Ha oxory, 

pa6oraro, '!M:Taro . .H o6Jlro6M:Jl 3TO Mecre'iK.o - M Bepo.HrHo ryr M K.OCTM 

CJlO)KY. flOM MO:fit roTOB - HO rrepee.ny R TY ,lla He paHbllie BeCHbl.7 Ho 

rrpe)K.ne c'be3)KY B PoccM:ro . B K.OHl..{e .HHBap.H R 6y.ny B I1erep6ypre­

a B Mapre y ce6.H B .nepeBHe.s He yBM.llMMC.H JlM Mbl? EcJlM He 

CJlMlliK.OM 6y .ner 3arpy .llHMTeJlbHo, o6el.l.(aiOcb rrpMexa Tb K. BaM . A Bac 

rrpolliy ,llaTb MHe 3HaTb, .llOlliJlO JlM llO Bac 3TO ITM:CbMO. J1 
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K.oppeCJIOH.D.eHT aK.KypaTHbltl: - ),{ OTBe'-Iy BaM B CBOIO 0'-Iepe.D.b . 

ITpMTOM )Ke MOM '-IYBCTBa K BaM caMbi..R .a.py )KeJll:06Hbi..R, rro'-ITM 

po.D.CTBeHHbi..R: Bbl, K.a)KeTC..R, He COBCeM B 3TOM y6e)K.D.eHbl - HO 3TO 

HarrpaCHO. III TaK., .D.O CBM.D.aHM..R; 3TO CJlOBO JlY'-Illie '-£eM rrpoll.(atl:Te. -

He 6e3rroK.ottrecb M He BOJl.Hyttrecb - M .a.a oKpy)KMT Bac Bee xopoll!ee! 

- KpenK.o )!{MY Bailly pyKy M ocrarocb 

DyllieBHo BaM rrpe.a.aHHbltl: 

IIIB. TypreHeB. 
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# 14 

~ (20) ~eBpailR 1~67r. EaaeH-EaaeH . 

EaneH-EaneH . 

Schillerstrasse 2 7 7 . 

~/20 ro <PeBp . 1~67 . Cepeaa. 

0TBe'ia:EO HeMetlJleHHO Ha Balile ITJACbMO, JU06e3Hetl:lilaR 

«ITJleMRHHJAI...{a». - 0HO 3aCTaJlO MeHR el.L(e 3tleCb B CJletlCTJAe tlOBOJlbHO 

tlJlR MeHR HenplARTHaro 06CTORTeJlbCTBa: a JAMeHHO - CO MHOtl: 

CilY'iJAJlCR npJAnaaoK noaarpbl B HorJA - a a, noaarpbl, a a el.L(e KaKott:­

TO 3JlOKa'ieCTBeHHOtl:, XpOHJA'ieCKOtl: : BOT CKOpO ~ HetleJlb, KaK R He 

Mory XOtllATb tla)Ke C ITOMOI.L(b:EO ITaJlKJA lA CJA)KY HeiTOtlBJA)KHO Ha 

tllABaHe . .l A Me)Ktly reM HlAKOrtla, MO)KeT 6b1Tb, He npetlCTORJlO MHe 

raKotl: 6e30TJlarareJlbHott: Heo6XOtllAMOCTJA 6b1Tb B PoccJAJA. He roBop:EO 

y)Ke o roM, 'iTO 3Ta rJlynaR 6oJle3Hb orcpa'iJABaer noRBJleHJAe Moett: 

Bel.L(JA B PyccKOM BeCTHJAKe - XOTR C tleHe)KHOtl: TO'iKJA 3peHJAR lA 3TO 

tlJlR MeHR 'iYBCTBJATeJlbHO - HO MHe HY)KHO, HenpeMeHHo HY)KHO 

6b1Tb y ce6R B aepeBHe - rae rr 3aTeRJl nepeMeHy ynpaBJlR:EOI.L(ero .. 2 

llena rpe6y:EOT Moero or"be3tla - a noaarpa roBopJAT : «illaJlJAlilb, 

roJly6'iJAK!. CJAtllA CMlApHo !» - 11 R, ITO HeBOJle, CJA)KY CMlApHO - lA 

)KtlY y MopR norotlbl. - "4enoBeK noHeBoJle repnlAT, Koraa apyraro 

HJA'iero caenarb HeJlb3R. 

Ta )Ke caMaR 6oJle3Hb, Koropy:EO R aa)Ke 6paHJATb He cMe:EO -

('iero ao6paro! ycJlbllillAT - pa3ceptllATCR) - 6b1Tb MO)KeT, noMelilaer 

MHe ITOCeTJATb Bac, TaK KaK BpeMR npetlHa3Ha'ieHHOe MHO:EO Ha 

npe6biBaHJAe B aepeBHe - OKa)KeTCR CJllAlilKOM KOpOTKJAM . Bo BCRKOM 
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CJly'iae R, yBepR:EO Bac, BCeHerr. JIOCTapa:EOCb K BaM Cbe3.lll-1:Tb - XOTR 6bl 

.llHR Ha .llBa, 'iT06bl rro6ece.lloBaTb c BaM:l-1: o TOM, rro'ieMy BaM «geht 

Schlecht, sehr Schlecht.» 3 "YyBCTBa MO:l-1: K BaM CJll-1:lliKOM 

.llpy)I(eCTBeHHbl, - l-1:MeHHO po.llCTBeHHbl - 'iT06bl He rrpe.llJlO)I(l-1:Tb BaM 

BC:EO TY rroMol..l.{b, KaKyro MO)I(HO rro'ieprrHyTb 1-1:3 l-1:CKpeHHl-1:X 1-1: 

6JlaroHaMepeHHbiX COBeTOB. Ho R CTOJlb )I(e CJIOC06eH Ha :no, KaK 1-1: 

Ha TO, 'iT06bl JIOMOJlO.lleTb 2 0 1-1: ro,llaM:l-1:. 5I HarrpOTl-1:B, rrpe.ll'iYBCTBy:EO, 

'iTO JIJlO.llbl MOe:tt My3bl C Ka)I(,llbiM rO.llOM 6y .llYT CTaHOBl-1:TbCR 60Jlee 

ropbKl-1:Ml-1: 1-1: TepiiKl-1:Ml-1:, TaK 'iTO JIO.ll KOHe~ l-1:X CaM 'iOpT B poT He 

B03bMeT. - Jl:E06Be061-1:JlbHbiR .llYllll-1: MoryT y)I(e Terrepb rrpeKpaTl-1:Tb 

CBO}.{ 'il-1:TaTeJlbCKl-1:R CHOllleHl-1:R CO MHO:EO. - Y .llOBOJlbCTBl-1:R R l-1:M 

o6el..l.{a:EO MaJlo- .lla 1-1: ce6e TO)I(e;- Ho rr1-1:caTb 6y.lly, rroKa 6y.llyT 

JIJlaTl-1:Tb ,lleHbrl-1:. - A rrpeKpaTl-1:TCR crrpoc Ha TOBap - 1-1: MOe 

CO'i}.{Hl-1:TeJlbCTBO rrpeK pa Tl-1:TCR. 

MHe BeCbMa rrpl-1:RTHO CJlbllllaTb, 'iTO Bbl 3.ll0p0Bbl 1-1: BeCeJlbl; - He 

Mory CKa3aTb Toro )I(e o ce6e; R 1-1:3 Pocc:~-1:1-1: Bb1Be3 rro.llarpy, KOTopaR 

.llO C}.{X rrop MeHR MY'i}.{T }.{ He ,llaeT MHe OXOTl-1:TbCR. 

ITo3BOJlbTe rrorreHRTb BaM 3a O.llHY - Brrpo'ieM o6l..l.{)r:EO BceM 

Pocc}.{RHaM rrpl-1:Bbl'iKY - a l-1:MeHHO 3a Hey.lloBJleTBOpl-1:TeJlbHoe 

BbiCTaBJleH}.{e a,llpeca. - r ,lle 3TO - Starnberg?4 - IT:l-1:11IY Ha BCRK1-1::tl 

CJly'ia:tl: - 6Jl}.{3 M:EOHXeHa - a MO)I(eT 6b1Tb - OH B IToMepaH:l-1:1-1: - 1-1: R ITO 

HeBOJle rrorra.lly B Ballll-1:X r Jla3ax B Hel-1:crrpaBHble KoppecrrOH.lleHTbl. 

llpy)I(eCK:l-1: BaM KJlaHR:EOCb 1-1: )!(MY BaM pyKy. 

ITpe.llaHHbl:tt BaM 

VIB. TypreHeB. 
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# 15 

20 Horr6prr (2 .aeKa6prr) 1~67r. Ea.aeH-Ea.aeH .l 

[ ... ] 0 He~ .llyMaTb He.flb3rt. - TipOlllJlO~ 3}.{MO~ Ha MeHR HaJiaJla 

rro.aarpa; a HbiHelllHe~ JJ.{MO~ .apyrarr ra.aocTb rrp}.{KJl:EO'i:}.{.rtacb . A 

}.{MeHHO: Tp}.{ He.aeJl}.{ To My HaJa.a rr Ha ox ore ocryrr}.{JlCR }.{ c Ha '-!aJla 

H}.{'-!ero He 3aMeT}.{.fl; a ITOTOM KOJleHO y MeHR pacrryX.rtO }.{ CTaJlO 

HeB03MO)KHO XO,ll}.{Tb .. TaK '-!TOr\ C TeX rrop Jle)Ky C rrpoTRHYTO~ 

Horo:EO }.{ He .llB}.{rarocb . - Terrepb MHe rroJler'-!}.{JlO - Ho paHbllle rpex 

He,lle.flb }.{.fl}.{ MeCR~a MHe H}.{Ky.aa ,llB}.{HYTbCR HeJlb3R 6y.aeT . - Bbl MHe 

He JIJ.{llleTe, Ha CKOJlbKO BpeMeH}.{ Bbl rrepeceJl}.{Jl}.{Cb B re~.aeJlb6epr? 

Bo BCRKOM c.rty'-!ae r\ Ha,llelOCb '-!TO .llO Balllero 0Tbe3,lla OTTy,aa Mbl 

YB}.{,ll}.{MCR . 

Tiocbr.rtaro BaM rro BallleMy )KeJlaH}.{lO or.aeJlbHoe }.{3.llaH}.{e 

«.llb1Ma»4 - }.{ «.llOBO.flbHO» .s B «.llbrMe» rr rrp}.{6aB}.{Jl Koe -'-!To }.{ 

B03CTaHOB}.{Jl. BbiK}.{Hyroe KaTKOBCKo~ l...{eH3ypo~ - Me)l(,ay rrpo'i:}.{M 

6}.{orpa~}.{'i:eCK}.{~ o'-!epK reHepa.rta PaTM}.{poBa (Ha crp. 97~) .6 

TiycKa~ ell.{e 6o.rtbllle rrocep.arrrcrr Ha MeHrr Halll}.{ rraTp}.{OTbl. 

11! TaK, .fl:E06e3HaR 0 . .ll. - .llO CB}.{,llaH}.{r\ 6b1Tb MO)I(eT B 

['e~,ae.rtb6epre, 6b1Tb MO)I(eT, 3,lleCb. - Ey.llbTe 3.ll0p0Bbl; KpeiTKO )I(MY 

BaM pyKy. 

Tipe.aaHHbl~ BaM 

liiB TypreHeB . 

P. S. H )K}.{BY TaM )Ke r.ae )I(}.{Jl .ao C}.{X rrop; - Ho NyMep 

rrepeMeH}.{Jl.CR - }.{ - }.{3 2 77 I:Q rrorraJl B 7 &.7 
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5 ( 17) .aeKa6p.R: 1 ~67r. Ea.aeH-Ea.aeH.l 

Ea.aeH-Ea.aeH. 

Schillerstrasse, 7 . 

29 

BTopH}I{K, 17 ro .neK. 67. 

J1:E06e3Hettllla.R: 0Jlbra .nM}I{Tp}l{eBHa, B OTBeT Ha Bailie ll}I{CbMO 

Cllellly yBe,llOM}I{Tb Bac, 'iTO, ITO BCeM Bepo.RT}I{RM, R l10C!le3aBTpa 

oTrrpaBJlREOCb B rett.ae!1b6epr - }I{ 6y .ay }I{MeTb y .aoBo!lbCTB}I{e Bac 

B}l{,lleTb.2 BeCbMa CO)KaJleiO 0 ITOCT}I{rlllett Bac 6o!le3H}I{ }I{ COBeTyro 6b1Tb 

OCTOpO)KHett, XOTR }I{ Ha,lleiOCb, '-!TO BCe 3TO rrpott.aeT CKOpo . 

.npy)KeCK}I{ )KMY BaM pyKy }I{ .ao CB}I{.llaH}I{R. 

ITpe.aaHHbltt BaM 

:viB. TypreHeB. 



# 17 

5 ( 17) ~eBpallR 1868r. EaaeH-EaaeH .l 

EaaeH-EaaeH . 

Schillerstrasse, 7 . 

30 

IToHeaellbHMK, 17 ro <PeBp . 1868. 

Jl:Eo6e3He:fhllaR 0Jlbra llMMTpMeBHa, ITMebMO Bailie 3aeraJlO MeHR 

Jaeeb rrepea eaMbiM MOMM orbe3llOM B ITapM)K, rae MHe rrp:v1:aerer~ 

rrpo6b1Tb e HeaeJno .2 K eo)KaJleHMJO, R He Mory aarb BaM HMKaKaro 

OTBeTa Ha rrpellJlO)KeHHbltl BaMM Borrpoe 0 KHR3e fop"\.faKOBe) 

MeHll!MKOBbr4 HbiHelliHetl 3MMotl He )KMBYT B EaaeHe - a re 

HeMHOrO"\.fMeJleHHble PyceKMe, e KOTOpbiMM R 3Ha:EOeb, He MMe:EOT 

ITOHRTMR 0 KHR3e f .5 

MHe o"\.feHb )KaJlb "\.fTO Bbl HeJaopoBbl (Brrpo"\.feM Ballia 6oJle3Hb He 

raK peaKa, KaK Bbl rroJlaraere )6 - :v1: R o"\.feHb paa "\.fTO Bbr pa6oraere; 

aBOeb 3Ta pa6ora Bae BbiJle"\.fMT - BO BeRKOM eJly"\.fae OHa ITOeJly)KMT 

BaM pa3BJle"\.feHMeM - :v1: onpeaeJlMT HaKoHel...( Balliy llMreparypHyro 

6yaylJ..{HOeTb. Ha e"\.feT «ITOllp06Hoeretl», KOTOpbiX BaM 6bl XOTeJlOeb 

Y1:36eraTb, Mory BaM aaTb OllMH eoBeT: Bbl"\.fepKMBatlre Bee, "\.fTO B 

orrMeaHMRX BaM rroKa)KeTeR o"\.feHb KpaeMBbiM - a B rreMXOJlorM"\.feeKMX 

M3bleKaHMRX - o'!eHb TOHKMM. Koraa Bbr IIM:llieTe, BaM llOJl)KHO 

Ka3aTbCR, "\.fTO Bbl He 6e)KM:Te Kylla-TO B JIOITbiXaX - M: He TOJl"\.feTeeb Ha 

OllHOM MeCTe - a TaK - ry JlReTe. Brrpo"\.feM Bee 3TY1: eoBeTbl B 

eylJ..{HOeTM HM"\.fero He 3Ha"\.faT. - «Jeder Vogel zu seiner Prist singt wie 

ihm der Schnabel gewachsen ist» . 7 -
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MHe o'ieHb 6yaeT rrpJ.1:..A:THO YBJ.1:lleTb Bac 3lleCb. - TaK KaK .A: B 

cyl.l.{HOCTJ.1: He J.1:Me:EO ITOH..A:TJ.1:..A: 0 TOM, KOrlla y HaC 6biBaeT JIOCT, TO J.1: He 

Mory ce6e orrpeaeJlJ.1:Tb BpeM..A: Baruero rrpJ.1:e3lla; HOBO BC..A:KOM 

CJly'iae, 3a J.1:CKJllO'ieHJ.1:eM OT!lY'iKJ.1: B IlapJ.1:)1<, .A: llO Ma..A: OTClOlla H).-{ 

Horott . 

IlpJ.1:MJ.1:Te yBepeHJ.1:e B J.1:CKpeHHett Moett llpy)K6e J.1: 

IIpJ.1:B..A:3aHHOCTJ.1:, 

!liB. TypreHeB. 



32 

# 18 

27 ~eBpaJUl ( 11 MapTa) 1868r. EaaeH-EaaeH.l 

EaneH-EaneH . 

Schillerstrasse, 7. 

Cepeaa, 11 ro MapTa 1868. 

Jl:E06e3HettlllaR 0Jlbra LlMMTpMeBHa, B MCnOJlHeHMe Barnero 

)KeJlaHMR MMe:EO BaM C006ll..{MTb : 

1.) Ha ~eTBepTott (T:e: Ha 6yayll..{ett) HelleJle BeJlMKaro ITocTa 

cJly)K6a 6yaeT Ka)Kllbltt aeHb Ha~MHaR c CepeAbl. 

2.) Vl3 npMJlaraeMaro JlMCTKa Bbl yJHaeTe ~To Zahringerhof 

npocMT no 6 ~paHKOB B aeHb c nepcoHbl (MaJlott M 6oJlblliott) M no .3. c 

CJlyrK KBapTepa eCTb y HMX, TeiTJlaR )!{ cyxaR, C KOTOpott KOJlbKO ~TO 

C"beXaJlO AMepMKaHCKOe CeMettCTBO; npoCRT OHM AaTb MM 3HaTb 

HenpeMeHHO 3a ~ llHR. -

Haae:EOcb ~To 3TM M3BeCTMR noKa)KyTcR BaM 

y llOBJleTBOpMTeJlbHbiMM - M ~TO R 6y llY MMeTb y llOBOJlb"CTB_l.{e BMlleTb 

Bac B EaaeHe M nocJlylllaTb Barne HoBoe rrpoM3BeaeHMe .2 

Lipy)KeCKM )!(MY BaM PYKY. 

VlcKpeHHo BaM npeaaHHbltt 

VIB. TypreHeB. 



# 19 

4 ( 16) Mapra 1 &6&r. Ea.lleH-Ea.lleH.l 

EaneH-EaneH. 

Schillerstrasse, 7. 

33 

IIoHe.lleJlbHMK, 16 ro Map. 1 &6&. 

Jl:Eo6e3HaR Onbra llMMTpMeBHa, nopy'ieHMe Barne 6y .ller 

MCTIOJlHeHO, J..1: R TIOCTapaiOCb CaMOJlM'iHO BCTpeTMTb Bac B '-!eTBepr, Ha 

)Kene3Hott .llOpore. -

.llo npMRTHaro CBM.llaHMR. 

IIpe.llaHHbltt BaM, 

I1B. TypreHeB. 
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Notes: 

# 1 

1 Turgenev IS usmg the new calendar here. The letter was written 

on Thursday, the 28th of January according to the old calendar, smce 

he says that he had arrived to Moscow two weeks before. 

2 Turgenev is sending Nelidova his novel On the Eve, which came out 

at the beginning of February 1860 in the first issue of the journal 

The Russian Herald (Russkii vestnik). Most likely Turgenev is sending 

a hand-written copy or the proof sheets of the novel, since he was 

supposed to get them on Wednesday, January 20 (February 1; see 

the letter to P. V. Annenkov of January 16 [28], 1860). The off-

prints are mentioned for the first time on February 5 (17), 1860 (see 

the letter to E. Ia. Kolbasin of February 5 (17), 1860). 

3 Khilkova, Elizaveta Grigor'evna, nee Princess Volkonskaia, was 

traveling in Europe with her two daughters, Olga and Pelageia. 

4 Here Turgenev probably means Grigory ( 1836-1885), . who was a 

master of ceremonies at the court, and a major horse breeder. 

5 Turgenev lived in Dresden from September 16 (28) to October 14 

(26), 1840, while he was studying philosophy in Germany. He also 

made short visits to the city in 1842, 1847, and 1858. 

6 Reichel, Adolph (1817-1897), German musician and a friend of A. I. 

Hertsen. His wife, Maria Reichel (1822-1916), was a governness of 

Hertsen's children. The Reichels lived in Dresden. 
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7 Turgenev had remained at home since January 25 (February 6), for 

at least a week, until February 2 (14) (see the letter to N. V. Sushkov 

of January 31 (February 12), 1860). 

8 Turgenev stayed in Moscow from January 15 (27) to February 8 

(20), 1860. He lived at the house of his friend I. I. Maslov, at the 

Udelnaia Kontora (District office), Prechistinsky Boulevard (see his 

letter to P. V. Annenkov of January 16 (28), 1860). Maslov was the 

head of this government office. 

9 "On the Eve" (see Note 2). 

10 During his return to Petersburg on February 9 (21), Turgenev 

travelled in a mail car, because it was the warmest car in the train 

(see the letters to E. E. Lambert and A. N. Ostrov-sky of February 5 

(17), 1860). 

11 Turgenev never made it to the village: on April 24 (May 6), 1860 

he left for Europe where he stayed until April 30 (May 12), 1861. 

12 Dmitry A. Khilkov, the father of Olga, was a hero of the Napoleonic 

war of 1812. None of his memoirs are known to have ·been 

published. 

# 2 

1 The novel Fathers and Sons (Ottsy i deti). 

2 Turgenev visited Munich in the summer of 1838, when he was 

travelling around Europe prior to beginning his studies at Berlin 

University. 

3 Since the end of 1860, Turgenev lived with his daughter Pauline 

and her governess, Maria Innis. 
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4 Here Turgenev means, among others, V. P. Botkin, N. I. Trubetskoy, 

N. I. Turgenev, N. A. Kochubey and his wife, and M. A. Markovich. 

5 Marko Vovchok (Maria Aleksandrovna Markovich, 1834-1807) 

was a Ukranian and Russian writer. Turgenev and Vovchok were 

friends and corresponded between 1859 and 1862. 

# 3 

1 Turgenev received a copy of the document from P. V. Annenkov in 

Russia sometime between March 7 (19) and March 13 (25), 1861. 

2 In a previous letter to A. I. Hertsen (February 10-12 [22-24], 

1861) Turgenev mentions P. P. Gagarin, A. M. Kniazhevich, and A. M. 

Gorchakov as major opponents of the reforms. 

3 Bodenstedt, Friedrich (1819-1893), German poet, translator, and 

professor of Slavic and English literatures. From 1854 to 1866 he 

lived in Munich, where he was a professor in the Department of the 

History of Slavic literatures. 

4 Heyse, Paul (1830-1914), German writer, the head of the "Munich 

Writers' Circle." 

5 Between 1861 and 1865 Bodenstedt translated and published m 

German newspapers and magazines a number of stories by Turgenev. 

He also compiled a two-volume edition in 1864-1865: Erzahlungen 

von !wan Turgenjew. Besides Turgenev, Bodenstedt translated into 

German such Russian writers as Pushkin, Lermontov, Koltsov, 

Tiutchev, and Fet. For more about Bodenstedt, see: Rappich, Horst 

"Turgenev i Bodenshtedt," 333-354, in /z parizhskikh arkhivov I. S. 

Turgeneva, kniga 2, series: Literaturnoe nasledstvo, M., 1964. 
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6 Maximillian II (1811-1864), king of Bavaria, was a patron of the 

arts and literature. Maximillian II organized a circle of writers, and 

was himself one of its members. The circle was headed by the 

famous German writer Paul Heyse, who moved to Munich in 1854 on 

the invitation of the king. 

# 4 

1 It is unknown whether Turgenev bought a dog. In the past he had 

bought hunting dogs in Germany (e. g., Flambo in Darmstadt: see the 

letter to A. A. Fet of June 29, July 9 (July 11, 21), 1860). 

# 5 

1 Olga Khilkova married in 1862, at which time her surname became 

Nelidova. Since the correspondence between Turgeneva nd Nelidova 

started in 1860, the note must be written between 1860 and 1862. 

Turgenev visited Olga Khilkova in Munich in 1861, and the Orthodox 

Easter m 1861 falls on May 5 (17), which corresponds to Turgenev's 

visit. 

# 6 

1 Turgenev asked his daughter Paulina to send Bodenstedt Scenes de 

Ia vie russe (1858), a series of two consecutive volumes, to his 

address in Munich: 38, Karlstrasse (see the letter to her of April 22 

[May 4], 1861). He also mentions this in his letter to Nelidova (see 

the letter to her of April 27 [May 9], 1861) where he singles out two 

stories: "Mumu" from the first book and "Postoialyi dvor" ("An Inn") 

from the second. Bodenstedt received all the books soon after 

Turgenev's departure from Munich. He discusses the plans for 

translation and publication of Turgenev's stories in his first letter to 
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the writer of December 13 (25), 1861 ("Pis'ma Fridrikha 

Bodenshtedta" [pp. 303-332], in Iz parizhskikh arkhivov I. S. 

Turgeneva, kniga 2, series: Literaturnoe nasledstvo, M., 1964, pp. 

306-311). 

# 7 

1 This letter must have been written on the 6th of April old style: as 

of March 24 (April 5), as is clear from his letter to Annenkov, 

Turgenev did not know if the issue of the journal Epoch had come 

out; (it actually came out at the end of the month of March). On April 

8 (20) the journal was already out, but Turgenev did not have it in 

Paris, since in a letter to P. A. Pletnev he promises to obtain a copy 

for him from Baden-Baden (see the letter to him .of April 8 (20), 

1864). So the letter to Nelidova has to be dated April 6 (18) 1861. 

2 The story came out in the first issue of the journal Epoch, published 

by F. M. and M. M Dostoevsky at the beginning of 1864. 

3 The letter, presumably to Pauline Viardot, is not known. 

4 Here Turgenev means the favourable outcome of his interrogation 

by the Senate in connection with the "Case of the 32" on January 7 

(19) 1864 and January 13 (25) 1864. The "Case of the 32" was an 

investigation of an allegedly anti-government conspiratorial group of 

officials associated with the revolutionary society "Zemlia i volia" 

("Soil and Freedom") and Hertsen's journal "Kolokol" (The Bell). 

Turgenev was not part of this conspiracy, yet he knew several of the 

suspected participants: Hertsen, N. P. Ogarev, M. A. Bakunin, A. I. 

Nichiporenko, M. L. Nalbandov, N. A. Serno-Solovyovich, and the 

Marquis N. A. Traverse. For a while, due to the numerous 



postponements requested by Turgenev, it was rumored that he 

would never go to St. Petersburg to testify before the Senate 

Committee, and would remain in permanent emigration. 

5 The identity of T. is unknown. 

# 8 

39 

1 Most likely Nelidova asked Turgenev to advise her on the novel 

Mermaid (Rusalka), which she was writing at the time. It is 

unknown whether there was a reading of the excerpt or a discussion 

of the plot between the two. 

# 9 

1 Turgenev mentions Nelidova's novel for the first time m his 

previous letter, of July 14, 1864. 

2 Turgenev most likely read the beginning of the novel m 

Heidelberg, in July of 1864. 

3 Turgenev moved to his new house ("villa") only on April 5 (17) 

1868. 

4 Pauline Turgenev had her first miscarriage at the beginning of 

October of 1865. 

5 Gaston Bruere, the husband of Pauline Turgenev, was the manager 

of a glass factory in Rougemont belonging to S. de Nadaillac. 

6 E. Quinet's book La Revolution came out in 1865. It dealt with the 

situation in contemporary Europe, and the ruinous influence of 

catholicism on European revolutions. Turgenev sent a copy of the 

book to Annenkov, saying that it was "a big substantial work" (3TO 

60J1bllla.H, Kam.naJlbHa.H BEHJ..(b; see his letter of December 20 [January 
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1], 1866), and "a remarkable book" (3aMe'-£aTeJlbHa.H KHJ,tra; see his 

letter, again to Annenkov, of January 17 [29], 1866). 

# 10 

1 Most likely, Nelidova decided not to wait until March to see · 

Turgenev in Heidelberg, and went to Baden-Baden to read him her 

novel. 

2 Evidently Turgenev did not fulfil his promise: m the following 

letter, of February 28, 1866, he offers to send Nelidova a letter of 

recommendation to Katkov, the editor of The Russian Herald. It can 

be assumed that Nelidova gave Turgenev her novel before leaving 

Baden-Baden for closer examination. 

# 11 

1 See the following letter. 

2 The editors of the Notes of the Homeland were S. S. Dudyshkin and 

A. A. Kraevsky. 

3 Here Turgenev means the hero of Ludovico Ariosto's epic poem 

Orlando Furioso. The poem is an example of the spiritual and artistic 

tendencies of the Italian Renessaince. 

4 Turgenev did not visit Munich in the spnng of 1866. 

# 11a 

1 This letter of recommendation, not having a separate letterhead, is 

obviously an addendum to a letter to Nelidova. It could have been 

sent together with letter # 11, or with another unknown letter 

sometime between March and May of 1866. 

2 The last part of the letter of recommendation IS m1ssmg. 

# 12 
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1 Probably Nelidova's second son, Ivan (born in 1865). 

2 The letter was written during the Prussian-Austrian war (began 17 

[29] June 1866, ended with the Prague peace treaty on August 23, 

1866). Communications in Europe were not badly affected by the 

war: Turgenev writes to Baroness Rashett in June of 1866 that "the 

communications are absolutely free" (coo6ll(eHM:R coBepllieHHO 

CB060llHbl; see his letter to her of July 17 [29], 1866). 

3 The letter of recommendation to Dudyshkin is unknown. 

4 "Dub" could have come from the name of the family estate (Duby); 

"Nestor" -- the name of the monk-chronicler in Alexander Pushkin's 

Boris Godunov (a connection with the monk's apprentice Grigory 

Otrepev, the future tsar-imposto and an ancestor .of the Khilkovs, IS 

also possible). 

5 Germ. : building castles in the air. 

6 Fr.: cold, culculating, without real passion. 

7 Nodier, Charles (1780-1844), French writer important for his 

influence on the French Romantic movement, author of· a number of 

masterfully written fantastic short stories in the style of E. T. A. 

Hoffmann. 

8 Turgenev was writing the novel Smoke (.LibtM). 

9 Dudyshkin died unexpectedly on September 16 (28) 1866. It Is 

likely that he never read the novel. 

# 13 

1 Khilkova's village m the Novosil district, Orel provmce. 



42 

2 The first versiOn of the novella was finished in 1862. The final 

version came out in the collection of Turgenev's works published by 

the Brothers Salaev in Karlsrue in 1865, v. 5. 
' 

3 Turgenev probably is talking about the novel II Smoke. II 

4 Fr. : let what happens happen. 

5 This letter to Annenkov is not known. In April of 1867 Turgenev 

wrote to Botkin asking him to find out from Kraevsky if the novel 

had been rejected. Botkin writes (in the letter of April 23 (May 5), 

1867) that both Annenkov and he had inquired about the novel, and 

that it had been rejected. Nevertheless, Botkin did not retrieve the 

novel, since he had no instructions to do so. 

6 Germ.: the forming element. 

7 The house on Tirgartenstrasse 3 had some problems due to poor 

design and construction by architect Olive (see the letter to Pauline 

Bruere of April 17 (29), 1867). Turgenev moved into the house only 

in April of 1868. Due to a lawsuit brought by his uncle and the 

former manager of his estate, N. N. Turgenev, Turgenev was forced to 

sell his new house to the Viardots and then rent the place from them 

(see the letter to A. A. Fet of February 12 [24], April 12 [24], 1868). 

8 Due to illness Turgenev arrived in Petersburg only in March of that 

year. He never made it to his village. 

# 14 

1 Turgenev had an attack of gout while travelling to Strassburg in 

early January of 1867 which lasted until his departure from Russia 

in March (see the letters to A. M. Zhemchuzhnikov of January 4 [16], 

1867, and to Theodore Storm of January 8 [20], 1867). 
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2 At the end of 1866 Annenkov recommended to Turgenev N. A. 

Kashinsky, previously the manager of the Tver estates of General­

Adjunct P. N. Ignatev. Turgenev saw Kashinsky for the first time m 

Petersburg on February 27 (March 11) of 1867 and immediately 

appointed him manager of his estate instead of his elderly and 

inefficient uncle. Kishinsky was fired for theft in 1876. 

3 Germ.: goes badly, very badly. 

4 Turgenev was probably right: Nelidova most likely spent time at a 

resort in Starnberg near Munich. Other Starnbergs in Germany are of 

a lesser importance. 

# 15 

1 The date is based on the letter to Ludwig Pietsch of November 20 

(December 2 ), 1867, where Turgenev mentions exactly the same 

lapse of time (three weeks) as having passed since his unfortunate 

hunting incident. In the letter to I. P. Borisov of November 18 (30), 

1867 Turgenev gives the exact day of the incident - October 30 

(November 11 ), 1867. 

4 Smoke was published by the Brothers Salaev m Moscow m 1867 at 

the beginning of November (old style). 

5 "Dovol'no" (Enough") came out in volume five of Turgenev's 

collected works in the middle of 1865, but it is not known whether 

the writer sent Nelidova this volume or just an off-print of the story. 

6 Besides the biography of general Ratmirov, Katkov also removed 

from the novel all mention of the Tsar's connection with the heroine 

Irina, and a number of phrases that could be read as allusions to 

certain officials. 
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7 The change of numbers in Turgenev's address happened on May 9 

(21), 1867. 

# 16 

1 Tuesday corresponds to December 17 old style. 

2 It is not known whether Turgenev visited Nelidova m Heidelberg. 

# 17 

1 Monday corresponds to February 17 old style. 

2 Turgenev was in Paris between March 2 (24) and 17 (29), 1868. 

3 Turgenev is probably talking about Prince M. D. Gorchakov (1798-

1883 ), then Minister of Foreign Affairs of Russia and the direct 

superior of A. I. Nelidov. 

4 Probably V. A. Menshikov (Prince, died m 1893 ), and his wife, 

neighbours of Nelidova in Orel province. 

5 In his letter to P. V. Annenkov of June 16 (28), 1868, Turgenev 

mentions: V. P. Botkin, E. N. Feoktistov (wife), M. S. Korsakov 

(Governor-General of East Siberia), N. A. Miliutin, N. V. Khanykov. 

Other than Botkin, who is mentioned in Turgenev's letters of 

February, it is unknown which of these people were still in Baden­

Baden at the time, and which possible new arrivals the writer 

associated with. 

6 The nature of Nelidova's illness is unknown, 

7 Germ.: every bird in its season sings according to the length of its 

beak (everyone is doing things the best he/she can). 

# 18 

1 Wednesday corresponds to March 11 old style. 
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2 It is unknown what new work by Nelidova Turgenev mentions 

here. 

# 19 

1 Monday corresponds to March 16 old style. 
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